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ACS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
Acute Coronary Syndrome

A&E
AHSC

Accident and Emergency
Academic Health Sciences Centre

ALOS
BCIS

Average Length of Stay
British Cardiovascular Intervention Society

BME
CABG
CAG
CCAD

Black and Minority Ethnic
Coronary Artery Bypass Graft
Clinical and Academic Group
Central Cardiac Audit Database

C. diff
CMACE

Clostridium Difficile
Centre for Maternal and Child Enquiries

CMACH
CMPD

Confidential Enquiry into Maternal and Child Health
Case Mix Programme Database

COPD
CQC
CQUIN
DDA
DH
DNA
EBMT
ERP
EPR
FCE
GSTT
GUM
HASC
HES
HRWD
IHI

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
Care Quality Commission
Commission for Quality and Innovation
Disability Discrimination Act
Department of Health
Did Not Attend
European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation
Enhanced Recovery Programme
Electronic Patient Record
Finished Consultant Episode
Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust
Genito-urinary Medicine
Hyper-Acute Stroke Centre
Hospital Episode Statistics
KCH’s “How are we doing” inpatient survey
Institute for Healthcare Improvement

IOSH
ISCT

Institute of Occupational Safety and Health
International Society for Cellular Therapy

JACIE
JCC

Joint Accreditation Committee-ISCT & EBMT
Joint Consultative Committee

KCH
KCL
KHP
LINks
LOS
MAU

King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
King’s College London
King’s Health Partners
Local Involvement Networks
Length of Stay
Medical Assessment Unit
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MMC
MRSA
MTC

Mortality Monitoring Committee
Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus Aureus
Major Trauma Centre

NCEPOD
NDA

National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death
National Diabetes Audit

NHFD
NHS

National Hip Fracture Database
National Health Service

NIAP
NIHR

National Infarct Angioplasty Project
National Institute for Health Research

NJR
NPSA

National Joint Registry
National Patient Safety Agency

nSTEMI
OSC

non-ST Segment Myocardial Infarction
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

PALS
PbR
PCI
PCT
PEAT
PFI
PICA Net
PICU
PMETB
POTTS
PROMS
PSSQ
QA
RCP
R&D
SLaM

Patient Advice and Liaison Service
Payment by Results
Percutaneous coronary intervention
Primary Care Trust
Patient Environment Action Team
Private Finance Initiative
Paediatric Intensive Care Audit Network
Paediatric Intensive Care Unit
Postgraduate Medical Education Training Board
Physiological Observation Track and Trigger System
Patient Reported Outcomes
Patient Safety & Service Quality Research Centre
Quality Account
Royal College of Physicians
Research & Development
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust

SpR
STEMI

Specialist Registrar
ST Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction

SUIs
SUS

Serious Untoward Incidents
Secondary Users Service

TARN
UHL

Trauma and Audit Research Network
University Hospital Lewisham

VRE
VSSGBI
VTE
WHO

Vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus
Vascular Society of Great Britain and Ireland
Venous-thromboembolism
World Health Organisation
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WHO WE ARE
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is one of London’s largest
and busiest teaching hospitals. We have a reputation for providing
excellent local healthcare in the London Boroughs of Lambeth and
Southwark, and a range of specialist services for patients across South
East England and beyond.
King’s is recognised nationally and internationally for its work in liver
disease and transplantation, neurosciences, diabetes, cardiac services,
haemato-oncology, fetal medicine, major trauma and stroke, and plays a
key role in the training and education of medical, nursing and dental
students.
King’s is part of King's Health Partners (KHP) Academic Health Science
Centre (AHSC), a pioneering collaboration between King's College London,
King's College Hospital, and Guy's and St Thomas' and South London and
Maudsley NHS Foundation Trusts.
KHP is one of only five accredited AHSCs in the UK and brings together an
unrivalled range and depth of clinical and research expertise,
spanning both physical and mental health. Our combined strengths are
driving improvements in care for patients, allowing them to benefit from
breakthroughs in medical science and making sure they receive leading
edge treatment at the earliest possible opportunity.
King’s works closely with other healthcare organisations, such as local
Primary Care Trusts and neighbouring hospitals, in delivering strong
networks of healthcare locally.
For more information, visit www.kch.nhs.uk or
www.kingshealthpartners.org
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
This is my final Annual Report as Chair, having served since 2002, and I
can look back on the last nine years with great satisfaction. It has been a
very challenging time for us, but throughout the people of King’s have
shown the importance of shared values and loyalty to our organisation
and a willingness to innovate to manage issues and solve problems and all
for the benefit of patients.
A particular highlight for me would be gaining Foundation Trust status
after a successful programme to cut a significant underlying debt in order
to qualify. The work we have done with our FT Governors and Members
has also been very successful – the lobbying campaign to upgrade
Denmark Hill station, for example, has shown how local democracy can
work well. We have also seen many changes in the Hospital’s estate in
the last nine years, the real highlight being the opening of the Golden
Jubilee Wing. Overall, the improvement and modernisation works that
have been carried out to our mostly 100 year old hospital buildings have
resulted in a steady transformation that has been welcomed by patients
and staff alike.
I have seen many changes to the Board of Directors over the years, and I
would like to thank all of them for their own contribution to our progress
over the years. I would also like to take this opportunity to welcome two
new Non-Executive Directors, Marc Meryon who joined us in August and
Professor Sir George Alberti who joined us in October. Marc is a partner
in a leading London law firm and has advised a number of organisations
on employment and equalities law during his career. Professor Alberti is
internationally renowned for his work in diabetes and has been
instrumental in shaping national healthcare policy towards the
management of urgent care and major trauma. George has also now
been chosen as my successor as Chairman of King’s.
The last couple of years have been financially tough for King’s along with
the rest of the NHS, and we have had to set ourselves very challenging
efficiency and savings targets – our aim has been to save £50 million a
year from an already lean organisation, and that is exactly what we
achieved last year. The Executive team and all our staff are to be
commended on their hard work and dedication in these difficult times.
King’s continues to host many Government visits – we have welcomed
Secretary of State Andrew Lansley, and Health Ministers Ann Milton MP
and Simon Burns MP as well as Gregory Barker MP, Minister for Climate
Change who officially opened King’s very own Combined Heat and Power
plant, part of our plans to save energy and reduce carbon emissions.
This year has also seen further development in King’s Health Partners, the
Academic Health Sciences Centre of which we are a founding partner. Our
aim is to make the most of our combined strengths in clinical care and
academic research, and we are already looking to bring together clinical
services where we can identify the opportunity to improve quality. Our
developing joint site strategy will also give us the opportunity to take

9

better decisions on the future co-location of academic research and clinical
services.
King’s has a responsibility to influence the future of healthcare not just
within the walls of our own hospital but across a much wider geographic
area. We already head up local networks for stroke and trauma care, and
we will take our responsibilities seriously in helping develop other services
for the benefit of local communities.
I am leaving this organisation in good hands – with a proven track record
for efficiency and innovation, a clear vision for the future and a committed
and dedicated workforce and, as a local resident, I will still be able to call
King’s “my” Hospital. I look forward to seeing how it leads and develops
over the next 9 years.

Michael Parker
Chairman
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT
Welcome to King’s Annual Report. This year has been of one of great
significance not just for King’s but for the NHS as a whole, as a new
Government set out their plans for change. With the costs of drugs,
medical equipment and staffing increasing and our income from the tariff
reducing we knew we had to cut costs from the organisation and set
ourselves a challenging target of £50 million – almost 10 percent of
turnover - to break even at the end of the year. I am happy to report
that this target was achieved, and that we are reporting a small surplus at
year end. To achieve those challenging targets as well as deliver a sound
operational performance was an outstanding achievement. Everyone has
played their part
Cost Savings Challenge
Costs came out of many areas – a reduction in agency spend, the
introduction of more efficient working practices and vacancy control all
played their part. To meet our target we also had to look at reducing the
number of posts in the Trust. Whilst 55 posts have gone, the majority of
affected staff were able to be redeployed in other roles elsewhere in the
Trust. This is never an easy process, and I would like to thank staff for the
way they responded. In particular we must remember that even though
only a small number of people were made redundant, for each and every
one of them and their families, this has been particularly difficult.
We need to ensure that the cuts we are making across the Board are
sustainable in the longer term, and we have begun a wide-ranging
Transformation programme, focusing on improving patient experience,
efficiency and workforce transformation which has already begun to show
results. Our cost savings target for 2011/2012 is another £50 million and
our expectation is that more integrated working across King’s Health
Partners will help us with this.
High Performance
Of course, it is not enough to simply cut costs; we have to maintain our
focus on what is really important – delivering high quality care for all our
patients and an efficient workplace environment. I am pleased to report
an excellent operational performance for the past year, we met all our
operational targets with one notable exception, we failed to meet our
MRSA target of 9 cases in the year. Whilst we did reduce the number of
cases from last year, we exceeded the new target by seven. This is our
number one priority at the moment and we have taken measures to bring
the number of cases down by increasing staffing levels in infection control,
setting up new systems and processes for line management and
commencing a hearts and mind campaign for all staff to ensure everyone
is aware of their own responsibility in terms of preventing infection. I am
confident that these measures will result in a reduction of cases next year,
particularly because our performance since September has been much
better than in the preceding six months.
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I am pleased to report improvement in two key areas of patient
experience over the course of the year – our compliance with Single Sex
accommodation targets has been reflected in the feedback from patients
in our regular surveys, and help with feeding, another area for concern
last year, has also been rated higher by our patients.
This was the first full year for our new regional Trauma and Stroke
Centres and I can report success for both. Patient pathways have
improved, and outcomes are excellent. Particular thanks are due to the
King’s Charity for supporting the new CT scanner in the Trauma Centre
Another very significant development was our decision to join the GSTS
Pathology venture with GSTT and Serco. This company provides us with
pathology services, and as an associate of the company King’s will benefit
from its growth and success.
Recognising Excellence
Last year was not just about saving money or meeting targets, we were
on the receiving end of many awards and commendations which reflect
the excellence of our staff. Nominated for HSJ Acute organisation of the
Year, we were also awarded Centre of Excellence status for our work on
Leukaemia and Lymphoma. Our VTE service has been used as an
exemplar by the Department of Health for Trusts across the country, and
the processes we have devised are helping to reduce the high numbers of
patients who die unnecessarily from blood clots in hospital.
Our risk management processes were reviewed as part of an annual
assessment by the NHS Litigation Authority, and as a result of great
diligence by a huge number of staff, we were recognised as one of the
country’s top Trusts, and will receive the highest level of discount on our
premiums.
Partnership working
The best service providers in any sector are those that listen carefully to
their customers, and healthcare is no exception. We are working hard
with colleagues across SE London and with our King’s Health Partner
Colleagues to ensure we are listening to and working well with GP
Commissioning Groups.
We are also developing a more integrated way of working with our KHP
partner Guy’s and St Thomas’s FT. We are looking at the specialist
services we both offer and identifying how we can create a better service
for patients by integrating those services onto a single site and co-locating
with academic research. The two areas that are moving forward already
on this are Vascular – where the service will centralise on the St Thomas’s
site, and Bone Marrow Transplant, which will be located here at King’s.
And as part of KHP we are playing an important part in helping transform
healthcare in south London and beyond.
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Michael Parker
Finally, in his last year as Chair of King’s, I would like to take this
opportunity to recognise Michael Parker’s contribution to the success of
our organisation over the last nine years. Michael’s combination of good
sense and good humour has seen us through some challenging times. He
has challenged where he has needed to and supported the Executive team
in difficult times – achieving the right balance is not easy, and I know I
speak for the Boards of Directors and Governors and our staff when I say
“thank you” for all he has contributed. I also know that our local
population will miss him too, and we all wish him a very happy future.

Timothy Smart
Chief Executive
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Financial Review
2010/11 was the first year for many years where the Trust was unable to
solely rely on additional income to cover the costs of higher workload and
increases in the price of medical products and drugs. The Trust started the
year with a £50 million efficiency target, about 8% of turnover, which was
considerably higher than any previously achieved in a single year. Due to
dedicated effort across the organisation, this target was achieved and for
the year, the Trust made a surplus of £2.5m before exceptional items,
broadly in line with the Annual Plan. Impairments on completed capital
projects during the year generated exceptional items of £1.8m, leaving a
retained surplus of £0.7m
Full year (£’000)
Income:
Expenditure:
Operating surplus:
Net Financing costs:
Public dividends:
Share of loss of associate (GSTS Pathology LLP)
accounted for using the equity method:
Surplus:

£585,967
£567,195
£ 18,772
£ 9,682
£ 8,195
£
£

217
678

The overall liquidity position of the Trust was improved compared to the
plan value, due to agreeing year end positions with PCTs in advance in
exchange for prompt payment of outstanding amounts. There was also
some slippage in planned capital schemes due to the need to agree
developments with the Trust’s PFI Partner’s funders. These schemes will
progress in the new financial year. The Trust has been able to maintain a
position where there was only a minimal requirement to access its shortterm working capital facility. (The Trust has in place a £35m working
capital facility, to protect it from the effects of any short-term fluctuations
in cash flow). The combined effect of the surplus and liquidity has resulted
in the Trust achieving a year end financial risk rating of 3 using the
Monitor system –a medium level rating.
Value for money and improved efficiency
The challenge to reduce costs has heightened the focus on all areas of
efficiency improvement. Divisions and corporate departments delivered
90% of the planned efficiency schemes during 2010/11 and during the
latter half of the year work started on designing and consulting on further
plans to prepare for 2011/12. The Trust operates a Transformation
Programme targeted on specific projects, each overseen by an Executive
Director. Performance is peer reviewed as well as considered regularly by
the Executive and the Board Finance and Performance Committee.
Trading environment and financial risks
Despite commissioner attempts to manage demand and to redirect
patients to more community based healthcare provision, demand on the
Trust’s facilities increased again during the year. The incidence of both

14

prolonged cold weather before Christmas and the seasonal flu outbreak
significantly increased attendances through the Emergency Department.
Designation as both a major Trauma and Stroke Centre has also increased
the level of patients referred to the hospital. Unlike the previous year
where demand growth caused significant expenditure pressures, in-year
costs were controlled by restricting the use of out of hours facilities and
excessive use of agency staff.
The continued economic downturn means that there will pressure on NHS
income streams for the foreseeable future. It is also likely that central
funding streams will be squeezed, tariff increases will be zero and
commissioners will seek to reduce activity.
The combined effects of these restrictions and associated risks are dealt
with in the Trust’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, which is currently in
its third revision. It is intended to leverage the benefits of King’s Health
Partners by means of service and back office consolidation and to diversify
income by expanding commercial activities both in the UK and overseas.
It is anticipated, however, that efficiency gains at a similar level to those
achieved in 2010/11 will be required over the next three years in order to
maintain financial viability
Non-clinical activities
KCH Commercial Services Limited, the company established to oversee
our commercial operations has now been in operation for 4 years. During
that time, the first of the operating companies, Agnentis Limited, has
continued to grow. It has expanded its product range to include a range of
software solutions specially configured for use in the NHS. In October
2010, KCH Commercial Services Limited became partners in GSTS
Pathology LLC – a joint venture to provide pathology services operated by
Guys and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust, King’s and Serco plc. King’s
Management Limited was also established to pursue commercial
opportunities in overseas markets.
Changes to accounting policies
There were no significant changes to accounting policies during the year.
External audit services
At its meeting on 6 May 2008, the Board of Governors resolved to appoint
the Audit Commission as the Trust’s external auditors for a further period
of three years. The Trust incurred £103,000 in audit services fees in
relation to the statutory audit for the year to 31 March 2011.
Non-audit services were also incurred in supporting fraud awareness
costing £1,000. A tender exercise has recently been undertaken to
appoint the External Auditors for the next contract period and the
Governors will decide on the contract award at their meeting in May 2011.
So far as the Trust’s directors are aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the auditors are unaware. The Trust’s directors have
taken all of the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order
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to make themselves aware of any audit information and to establish that
the auditors are aware of that information.
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that
the NHS Foundation Trust has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.
Borrowing and capital plans
Monitor set a prudential borrowing limit for the Trust of £114.9m. Due to
the adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, the vast
majority of this limit is consumed by past expenditure on the PFI schemes
for the Golden Jubilee Wing and Ruskin Wing.
The Trust did not undertake any further borrowing in the year.
The Trust has a number of other developments planned over the next few
years, many funded by capital grants or charitable donations, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Improvements to the Emergency Department
Improve maternity facilities
Expanded critical care facilities
A clinical research facility
Improved Fetal Medicine facilities in conjunction with the Fetal
Medicine Foundation
An academic neurosciences centre.
Expanded private facilities and research for Regenerative Medicine

The aim of these schemes is to enhance the capacity of the Trust for
research and academic activities related to our tertiary specialities and,
also, complement the facilities available in our partner organisations in the
Academic Health Sciences Centre.
We will continue with our policy of maintaining our asset base by
committing capital expenditure on existing assets at a level broadly
consistent with their rate of depreciation.
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Operating and Performance Review
Key Performance Highlights in 2010 / 11
Despite a continued increase in GP referrals and referrals from other
hospitals throughout 2010/11, and a continued growth in emergency
attendance and admissions throughout the year we were still successful in
delivering against key national and local targets for Emergency
Department, 18 week referral to treatments, cancer waits, risk adjusted
mortality, C-Difficile and VTE assessment. In addition we reduced levels
of MRSA bacteraemia within the organisation but unfortunately not to the
level required nationally.
Emergency ‘4 Hour Wait’ Performance
Despite the continued, increasing demands on the Trust, type 1 A&E
services (Emergency Department) throughout 2010/11, the Trust
achieved a full year performance above the national 95% target. The
Trusts overall performance against the ‘4 hour wait’ target for all A&E type
services was 97.5%.
Access Targets
Kings delivered the Department of Health targets in respect of 18 weeks
referral to treatment with a consistent month on month achievement
above the target of 90% of admitted patients and above the target of
95% of non-admitted patients receiving treatment within this timescale
In addition to achieving these access targets Kings delivered the National
Cancer Waiting Time Targets, ensuring that we continued to treat
suspected Cancer and Cancer patients in a timely manner, obviously
benefiting this cohort of patients.
Kings achieved this target continuously throughout the year despite
additional emergency pressures through the winter months and managing
the seasonal flu outbreaks recognised nationally.
Contributing to this achievement was the Trust’s success in reducing
emergency length of stay, predominantly by improving patient pathway
management of emergency patients by introducing medical and surgical
assessment unit models.
Infection Control
In 2010/11 the Trust continued to reduce levels of C- Difficile cases.
Following an improvement of 32% in 2009/10, the Trust recorded an
improvement of 21% in 2010/11, reducing from 135 cases in 2009/10
down to 106 and well ahead of our expected limit in 2010/11 of 162. The
Trust recognises that it needs to continue to drive this number down
further, especially as the national expected limit for KCH has been set at
75 for 2011/12, requiring a further 29% improvement in year.
In 2010/11 the Trust reduced the level of post 48 hour MRSA
bacteraemias from 19 in 2009/10 to 16. This was not enough to achieve
the expected limit of 9 set nationally for 2010/11 and the Trust has
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developed a revised action plan and performance structure to reduce it
further in 2010/11.
Other
In 2010/11 the Trust recorded a Risk Adjusted Mortality rate of 61 against
an expected score of 100, which was a significant improvement on the 92
for 2009/10. The continued support and push from the Medical Director
to ensure that all mortalities are discussed and learned from has been a
key driver for delivering this.
Finally the Trust ensured that it delivered above the nationally set target
of 90% of patients being assessed for VTE and looks to further focus on
appropriate treatments for assessed patients in 2011/12.
Research and Development
King’s is a research active organisation, reflected in the number of
ongoing studies within the Trust, which currently stands at over 350
(made up of NIHR portfolio, own account, and student projects), and the
continued increase year on year in the number of patients recruited to
clinical studies. There are over 200 staff active in research projects within
the Trust, half of whom are medical consultants. Although the majority of
clinical research occurs in the specialist services, all clinical areas now
have some active studies, as well as a clinical lead identified who is
responsible for research and development.
Following the success of the 2009/10 Research Initiative grant awards,
the Trust Executive agreed to a second year’s investment (of £750,000) in
clinical research. The quality of the projects put forward was very high,
with the 10 successful awards being based on scientific merit. These
projects have performed well, with outputs so far including an NIHR
Fellowship award, 4 groups being awarded grants from external bodies
based on project data, 10 published manuscripts, over 15 abstracts and
presentations at conferences, and 2 young Investigator Awards.
The Trust also ran a New Researcher competition in order to encourage
junior clinical staff from all disciplines to take on small research projects,
by awarding consumables grants and travel bursaries to support
presentations at research meetings. Over 40 applications were received,
with 7 consumable grants and 5 travel bursaries being awarded for
innovative and novel projects.
We have picked a few examples of the research work being conducted
within some of the established research groups in the Trust, to give a
flavour of the breadth of areas of interest.
Neuroscience:
EUROPAR is a European research initiative into non-motor symptoms of
Parkinson's disease, which is led from King’s College Hospital by Professor
Ray Chaudhuri, and has attracted significant funding from charities and
industry.
Parkinson’s Disease is one of the commonest neurodegenerative
disorders, and is associated with a wide range of distressing non-motor
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symptoms, such as dribbling of saliva, sleep problems, depression and
sexual difficulties, which are often disregarded. The work has strong
patient involvement, and an Expert Patients Group has now been
established.
Diabetes:
Professor Stephanie Amiel is leading a large scale NIHR diabetes
programme aimed at improving control of type 2 diabetes, including
through psychological intervention. Type 2 diabetes affects a very large
number of people worldwide, and if poorly managed, it can lead to a range
of healthcare complications including blindness and amputation, coronary
complications, renal failure, and muscle wasting.
Liver:
Hepatitis C is an infectious disease which causes fibrosis and cirrhosis of
the liver, and may ultimately lead to the need for transplantation.
Worldwide around 170 million people are chronically infected by this virus,
which is very ‘unstable’ and therefore readily develops resistance. This
means that many of the existing drugs are only effective in a proportion of
those infected. Dr Kosh Agarwal of The Institute of Liver Studies is leading
a programme to investigate the use of new drugs which may be more
effective and, equally important, more easily tolerated by individuals
suffering from this condition.
Critical Care:
Dr Phil Hopkins is leading participation in an international trial into a new
treatment for traumatic brain injury. Many brain injuries are caused as a
result of pressure on the brain as it tries to swell within the limited
enclosure of the skull. The Eurotherm3235 Trial is investigating whether
this damage can be safely reduced by putting the brain into a temporary
state of hypothermia (which reduces the swelling) in participants who
might otherwise suffer severe brain damage or death.
Paediatric Liver:
The Paediatric Liver Transplant Centre at KCH is the largest in Europe, and
has an active research programme led by Professor Anil Dhawan. One of
the current trials is a dietary assessment of children with Non-Alcoholic
Fatty Liver Disease. This disease is reaching epidemic proportions
worldwide, affecting up to 10% of the paediatric population. This study
uses child-friendly technologies such as mobile phone “apps” and personal
interventions, such as portion control training and home visits, to study
whether increased awareness of nutrient intake and lifestyle changes can
lower the incidence of this condition.
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Future developments 2011-12
With major structural changes in the NHS, and significant pressure on
public finances, King’s needs a robust strategy to deliver high quality care
to its patients, now and in the future. We are focusing on three key
objectives:
1. Quality improvement – safe, kind and effective care
2. Financial sustainability and efficiency – a more efficient and
consistent hospital
3. Leading change across the system – working as King’s Health
Partners and with others to improve services for our local community
and beyond
Quality improvement
Our first priority is to improve patient care, ensuring that patients are safe
at all times. We are taking a zero tolerance approach to infection control
breaches, supporting front-line teams, but also holding them to account.
Medication safety will be enhanced by the roll-out of e-prescribing. We will
drive up clinical effectiveness in all services, focusing initially on Diabetes
and End of Life Care. Patient experience will be made more consistent,
through helping ward staff to listen and respond appropriately to patients’
needs and concerns. We will continue to drive improvements in cleanliness
and the quality of food.
As part of King’s Health Partners, we will ensure academic expertise
translates into better patient care. The opening of a Clinical Research
Facility at Denmark Hill will support clinical research, and as a teaching
hospital we continue to train clinical professionals for KHP and the wider
NHS.
Financial sustainability and efficiency
2011/12 will be even more challenging than 2010/11. We will maintain
existing cost controls (e.g. agency staffing), and continue to improve
productivity in specific areas, i.e. theatres and outpatients, supported by
better job planning and rota arrangements (e-rostering). Transformation
projects, such as the “safer, faster hospital”, will be focused on
productivity improvements, e.g. reducing average length of stay. To
underpin quality and efficiency, we are moving towards a paperless
hospital (e-prescribing, check-in kiosks in outpatients, emailing GPs, and
texting patients).
We will increase income generated from non-NHS sources, and make
savings by integrated working across King’s Health Partners. This will
enable investment in our capital priorities (Emergency Department,
Maternity & Critical Care).
Leading change across the system
Together with Guy’s and St. Thomas’, South London and Maudsley, and
King’s College London, we are increasingly taking a leadership role in the
wider health system. This means working better for the community, with
primary, community and social care. The Integrated Care Pilot will lead to
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more joined up services across Lambeth and Southwark, transforming
how we care for older people, and those with long term conditions.
Across KHP we are bringing together services and academic activities
where this raises quality, e.g. elective vascular surgery and bone marrow
transplant. We will better address patients’ mental and physical care
needs, e.g. piloting assessments for depression and anxiety in outpatient
clinics. We will play a strong leadership role in clinical networks,
developing the trauma and stroke networks, and shaping the new
integrated cancer systems and tertiary paediatric networks.
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Workforce
Staff Development
In 2010, King’s achieved the coveted Investors in People Gold Standard.
This award affirms our commitment to ensure that each and every
member of our staff is supported to realise their full potential at work. By
continually investing in training and development, by encouraging people
to innovate and by retaining a fresh approach to what we do, King’s staff
continue to deliver better care, year-on-year, to the communities we
serve.
New management development programmes launched
We encourage staff to take advantage of continued professional
development, qualifications and training in order to attain their best.
During the year we added new courses to our extensive catalogue of staff
and management development programmes. New training included:
•

•
•

•
•
•

•
•
•
•

Joint management qualification training with KHP partners at GSTT
and SLAM. Staff continued with a Masters of Business
Administration and a second cohort started the Diploma in
Management Studies courses at Westminster University
The completion of the first eight cohorts of a front line leadership
programme run in conjunction with GSTT. This programme includes
a work-based project with measurable outcomes
The fourth cohort of the Senior Management Development
Programme, which includes Clinical Directors and is run with the
King’s Fund, included a work-based project designed to encourage
good management practices that can improve patient outcomes and
experiences
We are in the fourth year of the Keele Clinical Leadership
Programme, developed in conjunction with Keele University to
enable clinical leads and directors to manage and embrace change.
In 2010 we ran our first multi-professional programme; the
evaluation was excellent and it will continue
The Keele SpR Management/ Leadership Programme has built on
the success of the Clinical Leadership Programme, with a two day
course for senior SpRs, developed in conjunction with Keele
University to introduce doctors to management/ leadership within
the NHS
The Specialty Lead Registrar development programme completed
its first cohort in March 2011; the 6 month programme is designed
to develop leadership skills for specialty nominated leads
Coaching for managers is run by SLAM Partners and is aimed at
providing the necessary skills to coach their own staff to achieve
better performance
BME staff completed the Management Development Programme.
An ILM Award programme has been added for BME staff

Vocational training provision has continued over the year for unqualified
staff (Note: NVQs have been replaced by QCF). Fifty four new
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apprenticeships have also been provided and we continue to encourage
their progression on our established careers escalators.
Medical staff development
During 2010 the focus has been on faculty development and the
accreditation of Educational Supervisors in line with the CRMC Continued
Standards for Trainers. A rolling programme of courses has been run inhouse and, where possible, courses have been taken to divisional
meetings to provide flexible access to the training. A trainer’s forum is
run quarterly to update faculty. ‘Training Tomorrow’s Trainers’ has been
introduced for senior SpRs to prepare them for their consultant roles and
ensure good practice as there is clinical supervision.
The New Consultant Programme continues to be well evaluated, with the
three modules running on an annual basis.
Foundation Training Programme Awards
The second annual Foundation Training Programme Awards ceremony for
the FY1 and FY2 trainees took place July 2010. We were proud to have
amongst us distinguished guests who gave inspirational talks to the
Foundation trainees. These included the Chief Executive, Executive
Medical Director and Director of the South Thames Foundation School
(STFS) and the Director of Post Graduate Medical and Dental Education
(PGMDE).
Certificates of merit were awarded from King’s STFS for contribution and
progress. There were 3 awards for the Learning Portfolio, 5 awards for
Audit, 6 awards for Teaching and 3 awards for outstanding trainees. A
King’s Award was also made to a trainee who demonstrated true
leadership skills.
Alongside these merits the trainees acknowledged the hard work of the
Trainers; awards were also presented to six trainers who have provided
teaching and support to the foundation trainees throughout the year.
There was an impressive display of posters from the Emergency Medicine
Foundation trainees which will be judged and trainees will be awarded
certificates. The Foundation Training Faculty work hard to ensure that
trainees progress and are given the right support; these merits/ awards
are agreed by them to acknowledge outstanding trainees.
Commendation Awards
During 2010 we presented commendations to 19 individuals and 8 teams,
in recognition of their outstanding contribution to the hospital and our
patients. Awardees included:
•

Multi-disciplinary Diabetic Foot Clinic team and, separately, the
Deputy Podiatry Manager within the clinic; the former for the
superb care that it provides to patients over extended periods of
time and the high quality advice that it gives which patients tell us
goes above and beyond anything that they have experienced
elsewhere. The latter was for his ingenuity in developing a bi-valve
leg cast for use in the treatment of conditions associated with
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diabetes; the adapted cast allows patients to rehabilitate more
successfully from cast to footwear over a longer timescale with
fewer complications
•

Clinical Perfusionist for single-handedly and uncomplainingly
keeping the Cardiac Perfusion Department afloat whilst two senior
colleagues were unavoidably absent for a month. His actions
ensured the safety of patients and the continuation of cardiac
surgery; he rose to the challenge and demonstrated exceptional
commitment to patients, team members and divisional
management colleagues

•

Midwife in the Nightingale Birth Centre for the exemplary care that
she administered during premature labour at 20 weeks. The
expectant mother was terrified, but the midwife guided her through
an awful ordeal with warmth and empathy and made her feel
secure and safe when she was at her lowest ebb

Long Service Awards
In June 2010, the Trust held its bi-annual Long Service Awards Ceremony
to celebrate the contribution to King’s of 42 members of staff who had
completed between 25 and 40 years’ continuous service, which when
combined totalled 1,100 years. The hospital established these awards in
1996 to ensure that it adequately recognised the dedication and loyalty of
long-serving staff.
Positive about disabled people
The Trust’s Recruitment Policy, Training Policy and Equal Opportunities
Policy are designed to support those who declare a disability. Our policies
apply from pre-employment stage, when applying for vacancies, right
through to enabling those who become disabled during the course of their
employment. Equality Impact Assessments are conducted against both
these policies and we are assessed by JobCentrePlus under the ‘Two-Ticks’
scheme.
•

In 2010 JobCentrePlus conducted a formal assessment of the Trust
and we were re-accredited as a nationally recognised ‘Two-Ticks’
employer

The Trust has a Disability Charter, which sets out our ethos and firm
commitment to disability equality, and a Disability and Deaf Guide which
outlines the responsibilities and behaviours expected of staff and
managers. Both documents were developed in partnership with the Staff
Disability Interest Group.
All recruiting managers must attend a formal Trust recruitment and
selection training course to understand the significance of the Disability
Discrimination Act (DDA) and how it works in practice. Recruiting
managers must select for interview or assessment, all candidates who
meet the essential requirements for the role and have indicated they have
a disability, as defined in the DDA. At the interview, discussions can also
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take place on reasonable adjustments that may be necessary for a
candidate to perform effectively in their new role.
Occupational health and safety
During 2010 the service was reviewed and restructured placing renewed
emphasis on workplace health and wellbeing in line with the work of Dame
Carol Black and Dr Steve Boorman. Essential activity to keep staff and
patients protected included the following:
•

•

•
•

2010/11 seasonal staff ‘flu vaccinations ran from October 2010 to
March 2011. Slow initial uptake improved with local and national
campaigns; by season close 1,735 King’s staff had been vaccinated
almost matching the unusually high levels of 1,927 in 2009/10
prompted by swine ‘flu awareness
During 2010/11, tuberculosis (TB) immunisation clinics were run for
staff with unknown TB immunity status; clinics now run weekly;
managers are notified of staff who remain at risk; TB Training is
complete for all Occupational Health practice nurses
Following a measles outbreak, immunisation status checks were
completed for all staff in high risk ward areas, the emergency
department and intensive care
The Trust annual sickness rate for 20010/11 was 3.2% (2009/10
3.4%). This benchmarks well in comparison to public and private
sectors organisations and falls within the top performance quartile
for NHS organisations in London

Health and Safety
Health and safety is overseen by the Trust’s Health and Safety
Committee.
Key performance in 2010/11 included the following:
•
•
•

•

•

Health and safety training was made the subject of challenging
targets; current figures stand at 46% (target 70%) for Clinical staff
and 46% (target 80%) for Non-Clinical staff
Reducing levels of blood borne virus exposure remains a priority;
total incidents are down 12% to 218 and confirmed exposures to
blood borne viruses are down from 37 in 2007/8, to 19 in 2010/11.
Health and safety checklists prompt a wide range of safety controls
and are monitored by the Patient Safety and Service Quality
Committee; 90% of departments participated and a quality
verification system was established
In February 2011 an internal audit of occupational health and safety
reported that there is: “a robust and efficient system for monitoring
and reporting on H&S. There is an overarching H&S Policy and a
dedicated H&S Adviser, driving forward the H&S agenda. Proactive
and reactive monitoring procedures help to ensure that risks are
managed before incidents occur and that, when incidents do occur,
they are reported”
A review of health and safety policies (e.g. alcohol & drugs, falls,
moving & handling, violence & aggression, blood borne viruses,
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•

•

•

•

•

clinical sharps, lone workers) contributed to our success in passing
an external NPSA inspection for risk policy implementation
33 notifiable incidents were reported under the ‘Reporting of
Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 1995’,
down 13 on 2008/9; annual numbers fluctuate but a lower rate has
been sustained for 3 years
The combined measure “all health and safety reported incidents” at
1453 was down 5% on 2009/10, a level comparable with 2006/7;
the level of reported incidents has been contained over 5 years
despite an increasing workforce and rising patient treatment
numbers
A total of 149 physical assaults were recorded by security (mostly
minor scratches, pushes, etc.) - up 13 on 2009/10 and attributed to
a continued drive to encourage incident reporting. Other security
incidents (including threatening behaviour, arguments, verbal
abuse, suspicious behaviour, theft) were up 34 to 1451; in the year
196 departments completed security assessments and work
continues on addressing areas of concern identified from these
assessments
In 2010/11 following a review of Fire Risk Assessments, a 5 year
plan will progress all major outstanding issues; 100% of 179 fire
compartment evacuation plans have been received from across the
Trust; 120 alarm activations compares with a previous 3 yearly
average of 137. 3,408 staff have attended statutory fire training
representing 48%, up 14% on the previous 3 yearly average;
London Fire Brigade inspectors have undertaken 5 familiarisation
inspections and 2 audits leading to informal advice
This year’s audit of moving and handling equipment demonstrated
improvement in provision with the purchase of new hoists, etc; the
advisory service received fewer reports on unavailable equipment
and/ or requests for items; a programme for hoist replacement is
planned for Summer 2011; more moving and handling training is
being provided, including an expansion of dedicated training;
requests for specific risk assessments increased including those
following injury and return to work

Environment Agency data is collected monthly on radioactive substances
purchased by the Trust and subsequently disposed; stock and disposal
levels are well within permitted amounts; 2183 personnel dosimetry
badges were issued; regulation compliance audits were undertaken for
lasers and ionising radiation.
Actions taken in the financial year to provide employees
systematically with information on matters of concern to them as
employees
• Corporate and local induction training is mandatory and is given to all
new members of staff
• The monthly Chief Executive’s Brief communicates key messages to
staff
• Clear management/ committee structures ensure that key issues
are cascaded throughout the organisation
• King’s has a strong culture of regular team meetings
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Monthly Joint Consultation Committee (JCC) meetings regularly
update staff representatives on Trust plans, the development of
King’s Health Partners and the financial position
A nominated JCC representative has a seat as a Stakeholder
Governor on the Board of Governors
Representatives of the Trust’s three staff led diversity groups sit on
the Equality and Diversity Committee of the Board of Directors
Regular briefings from executive directors
All new members of staff receive a King’s email account at the time
of induction
There is a staff magazine – King’s News, which is published
throughout the year
An e-magazine is available to all KHP partner organisations to keep
staff updated on AHSC matters

Actions taken in the financial year to encourage the involvement
of employees in the NHS foundation Trust’s performance
• 85.5% of staff with 12 months service on 31 March 2011 had
received a performance appraisal
• In 2010 King’s was in the top 20% of Trusts in the NHS Staff
Survey whose staff had well structured appraisals
• King’s was also in the top 20% for the number of staff who reported
good communication between staff and senior managers
• Also in the Staff Survey, staff reported an above average score for
their ability to contribute towards improvements at work
• Financial challenges faced by the Trust were regularly
communicated through the Chief Executive Brief, Team Briefings
and Open Staff Briefings held with members of the executive
• All staff were provided with the opportunity to contribute ideas for
cost saving efficiencies either for their own departments or for the
Trust as a whole. These suggestions were shared with all staff on
the Trust’s intranet site. More than 90 individual suggestions for
cost savings have been made to date
Actions taken in the financial year to achieve a common
awareness on the part of all employees of the financial and
economic factors affecting the performance of the NHS foundation
Trust.
• Regular presentations on the Trust’s financial position at the JCC
and in Trust publications, including intranet briefings
• Cost improvement requirements are discussed with staff via team
meetings and communicated via consultation documents; several
Chief Executive Briefs focused on the Trust’s financial position and
the importance of achieving significant cost reductions
Actions taken in the financial year to consult employees or their
representatives on a regular basis so that the views of employees
can be taken into account in making decisions which are likely to
affect their interests.
• Management representatives and representatives from recognised
trade unions meet formally every two months at the JCC
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•
•
•
•
•

The JCC alternates with the bi-monthly JCC sub group which
focuses primarily on policy review and development
Well attended JCC meetings took place throughout 2010/11
In 2010/11 the JCC continued its rolling review of workforce policies
Development of King’s Health Partners is a standing item on the
JCC agenda
In addition the Trust’s self organised equality groups: Cultural
Diversity; Staff Disability; Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender;
met on a regular basis and invited senior members of staff to
discuss issues of interest to the groups
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Information Governance
The Information Governance Steering Group is responsible for reviewing
the effectiveness of our information governance systems and processes.
The Trust’s Senior Information Risk Owner, Caldicott Guardian and
Information Security Manager together with other colleagues play a key
role in ensuring the highest practical standards and systems for the
confidential handling of patient information and personal data within the
Trust. During the year two serious incidents occurred. Both incidents
were investigated. The second incident was reported to the Information
Commissioner and to our commissioning Primary Care Trust.
Date of
incident

Nature of
Incident

Nature of data
involved

October
2010

Ward
handover
sheet left on
train

Name
Hospital No.
DoB
Ward
Admission details
Current & previous
medical history
Treatment plan

March
2011

A hardback
folder of
paediatric
dental
patients’
details found
at a train
station

Further
action on
information risk

Number of
people
potentially
affected
17

Notification
steps

All affected
individuals
were
contacted
about the
incident.

Name
197
DOB
A full
Address
investigation
Telephone No.
is being
Hospital No.
carried out.
Sex
NHS No.
A decision
GP
has been
Religion
made to
Ethnic group
notify the
Next of kin’s
individuals
contact details
concerned.
An associated
dental X-ray
attached to their
details.
The Trust will continue to monitor and assess its information
risks, in light of the events noted above in order to identify and
address any weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement
of its systems. During the year the Trust has:
•

Completed the migration to the Secure Email platform
NHSmail. This solution supports encrypted transport of
data and Secure sharing across NHS and the
Government GSI networks
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•
•
•

Memory stick Management is now fully in place with
increased visibility of the estate
Automated Systems Change control system is now in
place
Disaster recovery and Disk to Disk Backup solution has
been implemented

Planned steps for the coming year include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Appointee employed with a remit to improve delivery of
Mandatory IG training
Anti-virus/Malware upgrade to deliver better protection
and control of hospital data
Implementation of de-identification of data for secondary
use
IG Toolkit 9 work programme to be undertaken
Information handling awareness programme and incident
reporting for staff to be launched
IS027005 asset identification to be commenced

There were no other serious incidents relating to information governance
in 2010/11.
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Presented as part of the “Annual Report and Accounts 2010-2011” to
Parliament pursuant to the Health Act 2009 and supporting regulations,
e.g. the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 and
Amendments Regulations 2011.
This report has also been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s Annual
Report guidance: NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 201011.
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Part 1. Statement on Quality from the Chief Executive
In writing this Quality Account for 2010/11, staff working in many areas of the Trust
have been able to look at and think about progress we have made to improve care
for patients. The development of the Quality Account has also provided us with a
chance to decide on, and commit to, further improvements for patients that we will
make this year.
I am very pleased that our Governors and other key stakeholders from our local
community have provided their ideas and comments. This additional perspective
gives me assurance that we are concentrating on the things that really matter.
I am proud that our King’s “Quality Philosophy” is simple and uncompromising:
• The safety of our patients is always our number one priority. The old adage:
“do no harm” holds true and we have a zero tolerance of anything that puts
our patients in harm’s way.
• Effective clinical outcomes are our prime reason to be here: we want to see
that our patients become better, and stay well.
• A good and consistent experience of King’s services and care is fundamental;
always, every time. Looking after our patients’ needs, and doing it with
respect for individual dignity, is central to everything we do.
Progress and areas for improvement
We have made our care safer by reducing rates of MRSA bacteraemia infection by
15% last year. However, we still recorded 16 cases. This is unacceptable to my team
at King’s. We are committed to providing world class patient care, and we will act
further to reduce MRSA rates this year. Our externally set target is five cases, which
is extremely challenging, but we have an ambition to record zero avoidable
healthcare acquired infections. We will not be tolerant of any behaviour which
leads to avoidable infections.
We are making progress on clinical effectiveness too, with improved standardised
mortality rates that are ahead of many similar hospitals. This year, we are going to
deliver even better diabetes and end of life care to our patients. We will develop a
way of measuring clinical effectiveness which is meaningful to patients – focussing
on conditions that are most difficult to manage and live with.
Our patients tell us that their experience of King’s care is generally good. They have
also let us know that there are some areas in which we should do better. We will
focus on improving the things that matter most to our patients: being treated with
dignity and respect, being involved in decisions, and the cleanliness of the hospital
room or ward.
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The future
The future will be challenging.
King’s success is the result of a joint effort involving staff, patients and stakeholders,
all offering their views and ideas to shape our services. We also depend on the
support of commissioners and other healthcare partners – including other members
of King’s Health Partners Academic Health Science Centre (AHSC).
Delivering ever better quality requires strong and determined leadership. I am
delighted to welcome Professor Sir George Alberti as the new Chair Designate of
King’s. His experience, clinical leadership and commitment to quality will build on the
work led in the last nine years by Michael Parker. All of us at King's thank Michael for
his consistent advocacy of quality, and the work he has done to make it the heart of
how we try to do things.
Our Medical Director, Mr Michael Marrinan, has also strengthened his team. Three
new Assistant Medical Directors will lead key areas of quality improvement. They
are:
• Mr Tunji Lasoye - doctor training, appraisal and revalidation;
• Dr Polly Edmonds - cancer services and clinical outcomes;
• Dr Paul Donohoe - improving medical productivity and liaison with the
Infection Prevention and Control Team.
Finally, real quality is grounded in the core belief and commitment of everyone to
the idea of Team King’s. The values we developed last year as an organisation ‘King’s Values’ - are central to what we do. They are:
• Understanding you
• Inspiring confidence in our care
• Working together
• Always aiming higher
• Making a difference in our community
It is because our team at King’s believes in and tries to live these values that I have
confidence we will do the things we have said we will do, and deliver care of
increasing quality. To reflect this, the King’s logo now embraces ‘V’ for the Values
that run throughout the organisation.
To the best of my knowledge, the information contained in the following Quality
Account is accurate.

Timothy Smart
Chief Executive
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A guide to the structure of this report
The following report summarises our performance and improvements against the
quality priorities and objectives we set ourselves for 2010-2011. It also outlines
those we have agreed for the coming year1 (2011-2012).
First, we have detailed how we performed in 2010-2011 against the priorities and
objectives we set ourselves under the following categories: patient safety, patient
experience and clinical effectiveness. Where we haven’t met the priorities and
objectives we set ourselves, we have explained why, and outlined the plans we have
put in place to ensure improvements are made in the future.
Second, we have outlined our quality priorities and objectives for 2011-2012 under
the same categories: patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience. We
have detailed how we decided upon the priorities and objectives we have set
ourselves, and how we will achieve and measure our performance against these. The
regulated Statements of Assurance are also included in this part of the report.
Finally, we provide other information to review our overall quality performance
against key national priorities and national key standards. We have published the
Statements from Commissioning Primary Care Trusts, Overview and Scrutiny
Committees, and Local Involvement Networks that outline their response to this
Quality Account.

1

This structure adheres to guidance for Quality Accounts within the NHS Foundation Trust Annual
Reporting Manual published by Monitor on 31 March 2011. We acknowledge that this differs to that
outlined in the Department of Health’s Quality Accounts 2010/11 Toolkit.

37

Part 2 Priorities for Improvement and Statements of Assurance
Our Quality Priorities and Objectives for 2010/11
Summary
The table below summaries the specific priorities and objectives we set ourselves for Safety, Patient
Experience and Clinical Effectiveness in 2010/2011.

Patient Safety
Priorities and Objectives

Patient Experience
Priorities and Objectives

Clinical Effectiveness
Priorities and Objectives

1. Reduce hospital acquired
infection

3. Improve patient experience

5. Demonstrate best 20%
mortality performance
amongst peers

To meet/exceed target reductions
set by national bodies:
• MRSA target – 9
• C. Diff target - 162 (national)
• C. Diff target - 88 (locally agreed)

2. Reduce serious incidents

To reduce the number of incidents
with a high degree of harm

• Transformation programme to
improve patient experience
• Achieve target satisfaction scores
for CQUIN patient experience
metrics
• To achieve How Are We Doing
(HRWD) inpatient benchmark
• Implement outpatient survey in
main outpatient Suites and the
Emergency Department

4. Eliminate mixed sex
accommodation
To virtually eliminate mixed sex
accommodation
by April 2011.
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To achieve top 20% benchmark
performance in all specialties
compared to our peers in South
East London on the risk-adjusted
mortality rate.

6. Ensure at least 90% of all
inpatients are risk assessed for
venous thrombo-embolism
To ensure at least 90% of all adult
inpatients are VTE risk assessed
before discharge.

2010/11 Performance on our Safety Priorities

Priority 1. Reduce hospital acquired infections
Summary

Safety

The table below summarises the targets we set ourselves for reducing hospital acquired infections at
King’s in 2010/11, and how we performed against them. There follows a summary of our performance
in 2010/11 and the challenges we faced, as well as the improvements we plan to make in 2011/12.

Priority and Objectives

How did we do?

1. Reduce hospital acquired infection

Overall, we reduced incidents of MRSA bloodstream
infections by 16% (19 to 16), however, we have not
met the National target (9).

To meet/exceed target reductions set by
national bodies:
MRSA target – 9
C. Diff target - 162 (national)
C. Diff target - 88 (locally agreed)

Reduced C. Diff infections by 22% (135 to 106) and
achieved the national target, however, we did not
achieve the locally agreed target.

Achieved





KEY:  Achieved  Not on track to be fully achieved in 2010/11

Improving infection control at King’s:
“We know there are still opportunities to make effective
infection prevention more consistent across the hospital – and
we have built a vibrant team of link practitioners who will
champion improvement initiatives. For example, we are engaging
staff in new ways and listening to the ideas of staff on the
frontline about what will enable us to better prevent and control
infections.”
Rachel Ben Salem, Senior Infection Control Nurse

“I found the care to be excellent and it was very clean on the
wards and all the nurses wore separate gloves and aprons for
each patient and washed their hands as well.”
Patient feedback, How Are We Doing survey response, April 2010
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Priority 1. Reduce hospital acquired infections
Headline performance
A fully active infection prevention and control programme can prevent many hospital
acquired infections. We recognise this and, over the past year, have worked hard to
prevent and reduce the number of hospital acquired infections at King’s.
In 2010/11, we achieved a 16% reduction in rates of Methicillin-Resistant
Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA) bloodstream infections compared to the previous
year. We also secured a 21% reduction in rates of Clostridium Difficile (C. Diff)
infection at the Trust compared to 2009/10.
The table below provides a breakdown of the number of cases of MRSA and C.Diff at
King’s during 2009/10 and 2010/2011:
2009/10

2010/11

32 (all cases)

9

16 (post-48-h)
162

16%

106

21%

MRSA
bloodstream
infections

Department of
Health (DH) target
King’s performance

C. Diff infections

DH target

26 (all cases)
19 (post-48-h)
202

King’s performance

135

Improvement

Table: MRSA bloodstream and C. Difficile infections at King’s in 2009/10 and 2010/11

MRSA bloodstream infections
We achieved the target set by the Department of Health in 2009/10 with 19 cases of
MRSA infections identified post-48-hours of admission2. We failed to meet the target
in 2010/11 of 9 cases of MRSA bloodstream infections, recording a total of 16.
The graph below shows when cases of MRSA were recorded at the Trust during the
years 2009/10 and 2010/11.

2

The Department of Health (DH) set a MRSA objective for 2010/11 based on recommendations of the National Quality Board.
The objective is based around the national median of performance for acute Trusts and PCT organisations and is recalculated
annually. It is important to note that the definitions for reporting of cases has changed between 2009/10, where all cases were
reported nationally, and 2010/11, where only cases identified more than 48 hours after the date of admission are reported. The
target was then set based on national median rate, calculated as 2.87 per 100,000 bed days.
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Clostridium Difficile associated infections
In 2010/11, King’s successfully reduced rates of C. Diff infections. The challenge in
2011/12 will be to accelerate this reduction even further. The calculation for setting
the target for 2011/12 will be a similar methodology to that used for the MRSA
Objective. It will also be based on a national median rate.
The graph below shows when cases of Clostridium difficile were recorded at the
Trust during the years 2009/10 and 2010/11.

Improvement initiatives in 2010/11
Key initiatives to achieve this reduction in hospital-acquired infections included:
• Adopting best practice within the sector, and learning from the
recommendations of external reviews. In July 2010, we invited key infection
prevention and control leads from Guy’s and St. Thomas’ NHS Foundation
Trust, South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, and Lewisham
Hospital NHS Trust to conduct an onsite audit on our behalf in line with the
standards set by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). In September 2010, we
asked the Department of Health to visit as part of our bid to improve
infection prevention and control practices at the Trust. The Department of
Health’s recommendations confirmed our improvement plans, but also
prompted further refinement of ideas.
• A greater focus on the importance of infection prevention and control
practices to promote patient safety. The new appointments of three Assistant
Medical Directors also provide a greater network of clinical leadership to
deliver this.
• Strengthened ownership and accountability through:
o increasing the intravenous line (IV) team by a further three nurse
practitioners, who are focused on improving line care and
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•

•

management across the organisation. IV lines are a major source of
hospital acquired infections.
o mobilising an active infection control link practitioner programme,
with greater training and support for the team; and
o expanding the group of medical consultant “champions” and
providing them all with clear responsibilities for enhancing infection
prevention and control practice within their teams.
Development of key metrics to more tightly monitor and manage infection
prevention and control performance –a combination of leading indicators
and outcome measures.
Design of framework (e.g. scorecard and appropriate performance review
forums) to monitor the continuous improvement effort in infection
prevention and control.

Plans for 2011/12
Reducing hospital acquired infection will remain a key quality priority at King’s in
2011/12.
We are committed to ensuring the organisation remains focussed on reducing
hospital acquired infections further, and sustaining implementation of the
improvement initiatives we have put in place. We understand that only a
systemic behavioural and cultural change will bring about the improvements in
infection prevention and control that we want to secure.
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2010/11 Performance on our Safety Priorities

Priority 2. Reduce the number of incidents with a high degree of harm
Summary

Safety

The table below summarises the targets we set ourselves for reducing the number of serious incidents
at King’s in 2010/11, and how we performed against them. There follows a summary of our
performance in 2010/11 and the challenges we faced, as well as the improvements we plan to make
in 2011/12.

Priority and Objectives

How did we do?

2. Reduce serious incidents

We reduced the number of incidents with a high
degree of harm by 16% (14).

To reduce the number of incidents with a
high degree of harm

Achieved



Our performance is in line with peer Trusts
benchmark (NPSA, March 2011).

KEY:  Achieved  Not on track to be fully achieved in 2010/11

Improving the safety culture at King’s:
“Over the past year, we have worked to promote a stronger
safety culture at King’s, and to enhance the reporting of incidents
so that we can be sure of the underlying root causes that we
need to address. We are now a leading Trust on reporting risks
and incidents, and our focus is to continue our organisational
learning from these so that we can proactively prevent harm to
our patients.”
Richard Hinckley, Head of Risk
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Priority 2. Reduce the number of incidents with a high degree of harm
Headline performance
•

In 2010/11, the Trust reduced the number of incidents with a high degree of
harm by 16%, to 71 compared to 85 in the previous year (Source: Returns to
the National Patient Safety Agency). Benchmark data demonstrates our
performance is in line with eight other large acute teaching hospitals in
London of a similar size. Organisations recording a similar number of
incidents include Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust, and St
George’s Healthcare Trust (Source: National Patient Safety Agency analysis,
March 2011)3.

•

An increased proportion of incidents at King’s recorded in 2010/11 involved
no harm to patients (up from 77.4% in 2009/10 to 80.4% in 2010/11).

•

Incidents involving moderate harm to patients remain well below those
recorded by other Trusts of a similar size.

•

We believe in promoting a safety culture where staff have a constant and
active awareness of the potential for things to go wrong. By actively
encouraging reporting of all incidents as soon as they occur, we are able to
acknowledge mistakes, learn from them, and take action to put things right.
As a result, we have a high reporting rate when compared with other
hospitals of a similar size.

Improvement initiatives in 2010/11
All serious incidents were investigated and actions implemented to prevent
recurrence. Of these, a number related to the identification and escalation of
deteriorating patients. King’s implemented a range of actions during the year to
address this, including:
•
•
•

Development and roll-out of a standardised training programme for
medical/nursing staff to ensure recognition and treatment of deteriorating
patients.
Development and testing of an in-house electronic early warning score
system which has been successfully piloted. This will continue to be rolled out
across the Trust in 2011/12.
The Trust’s Hospital at Night project has reviewed staff skills and availability
of personnel out-of-hours to assist in prompt escalation when a patient starts
to deteriorate.

Regrettably, there were two Never Events which occurred in August 2010, in which
swabs were retained after procedures in the day surgery unit (DSU). We learnt from
3

NPSA analysis, published March 2011, reviewed incidents over April 2010 – September 2010.
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our thorough investigations into these cases that, whilst there was high compliance
with the use of the surgical safety checklist (SSC) in Main Theatres, this was less
consistent in DSU. As well as updating the type of swab we use in the unit, and the
Surgical Count Policy, we have also since reinforced use of the Surgical Safety
Checklist with:
•
•
•

Strengthened clinical leadership to ensure the tool is used in theatres;
Clarification for staff about the exact processes involved;
Engagement of frontline teams about the importance of patient safety in the
operating theatre.

Other key improvements in safety implemented in 2010/11 in response to serious
incidents included:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Purchase of neonatal brain cooling equipment to provide more rapid
treatment for babies with encephelopathic injuries;
Development of a pathway for the management of unexpected admissions to
paediatric intensive care;
Process agreed for the immediate transfer of critical neurosurgical patients
from district hospitals to King’s so as to reduce delays for patients in need of
urgent surgery;
Procurement of a trolley in the paediatric intensive care unit containing
specialist equipment for managing difficult airways;
Procurement of a new bedside blood units scanning system to reduce the risk
that the wrong blood is given to the wrong patient;
Procurement of a central monitoring console to allow better monitoring of
the fetal heart rate in women during delivery.

Plans for 2011/12
•
•
•
•

We will continue to learn from incidents in 2011/12.
We will continue to encourage a high reporting culture. We believe that a
high reporting rate, combined with a low incidence of harm, are important
marks of excellent safety and quality.
The Trust will further strengthen its focus on risk management and quality by
implementing a centralised risk management function across the
organisation.
The new Board committee framework provides greater focus on patient and
organisational safety. The Serious Incident Committee, chaired by the
Medical Director, will scrutinise all events and initiate prompt action where
necessary.
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2010/11 Performance on our Patient Experience Priorities

Priority 3. Improve patient experience by using our How Are We Doing
results
Summary

Patient Experience

The table below summarises the targets we set ourselves for improving patient experience by using
4
our How Are We Doing (HRWD) survey results in 2010/11, and how we performed against them.
There follows a summary of our performance in 2010/11 and the challenges we faced, as well as the
improvements we plan to make in 2011/12.

Priority and Objectives

How did we do?

3. Improve patient experience

Developed within our transformation programme a
Patient Experience project with four workstreams:
• Embedding King’s Values to build on our culture
of care,
• Expanding our volunteer programme
• Improving patient food services
• Focused ward-based transformation.

• Transformation programme to improve
patient experience
• Achieve target satisfaction scores for
CQUIN patient experience metrics
• To achieve How Are We Doing (HRWD)
inpatient benchmark
• Implement outpatient survey in main
outpatient Suites and the Emergency
Department

Achieved the CQUIN target in 3 wards on 5 key
aspects:
• Appropriate involvement in care
• Staff available to discuss patient’s worries/ fears
• Sufficient privacy in treatment discussions
• Sufficent education on medication safety
• Named contact for follow up queries after
discharge
Our benchmark score for the HRWD inpatient survey
of 85 was met for one month, and performance
remained similar to last year overall.
Outpatient survey live in 3 of 6 divisions.

Achieved








KEY:  Achieved  Not on track to be fully achieved in 2010/11

Improving patient experience at King’s:
“Everything here is so … pro-patient! Patients here are often not well and sometimes in
dire situations, they don’t want to be here and staff understand that … I didn’t know
King’s before as a hospital, but I am really impressed with this ethos!”
Sharon, Patient from Friends Stroke Unit

“In a busy teaching hospital, there may be many factors that may make the patient feel
like they are possibly not receiving the best quality of care, and that’s not a fact of
anyone’s ill will, but could be a fact of all the different pressures and system factors.
It’s doubly worthwhile, therefore, for me as a doctor, to ensure that I put my patient’s
needs first.”
Dr Nicholas Parry, Consultant Anaesthetist

4

The HRWD survey is a tool we have developed ourselves to better understand our patients’
experiences of the care we provide. The survey asks patients about their option of the care they
received before they leave hospital.
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Priority 3. Improve patient experience by using our HRWD results
Headline performance
Transformation programme to improve patient experience
In July 2010, as part of our new First Choice transformation programme, a project to
improve patient experience at King’s was established. The programme reflected
what patients told us about the service that they receive, and focussed on four key
areas:
• Creating a culture of care;
• Expanding the King’s volunteers programme;
• Improving patient food service and nutrition;
• Improving patient experience of discharge.
Creating a culture of care
“King’s has an extraordinarily good-willed workforce with a true and
heartfelt desire to make things better. They have hope and resilience,
and it’s focused on patients” Dr Gary Ruiz, Consultant Respiratory
Paediatric

‘King’s Values’ were first launched in November 2009, and we continue to promote
these within the organisation to drive further improvement work. The King’s Values
– developed through consultation with patients, carers and staff – reflect why we
value King’s as a place to work. The Values are: Understanding You; Inspiring
confidence in our care; Working together; Always Aiming Higher; and Making a
difference in our community.
We acknowledge that, given the current financial climate and the challenges
associated with it, it is more important than ever to ensure that quality remains at
the forefront of service delivery. We believe that we can best achieve this when we
have a strong values-driven culture that engages staff.
For example, discussions about “living King’s Values” have inspired improvements to
our human resource management processes, including:
o Improved recruitment and on-Boarding/welcome materials for new staff;
o Launched a new staff induction programme in May 2010, with a strong
emphasis on the King’s Values.
Following successful events in 2009/10, we will again be holding more ‘ In Your
Shoes’ listening events , where staff listen to individual patient stories and reflect on
their own caring practice. These events are a powerful way for staff to really
understand the patient’s experience of their care, and to drive forward
improvements as a result.
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Improving King’s Patient Food Service
Delivering nourishment and an enjoyable experience of food is a vital part of patient
care in hospital. We are working hard to improve our patient food service, and to
ensure that we provide our patients with enjoyable and nutritious food.
We developed the “Patient Food Service Quality Rounds” to assess the patient food
service. Each day a team of staff and lay people make unannounced lunch time visits
to hospital wards. The results are fed back to ward staff after the visit, and each
month we celebrate the ward teams that have performed the best, or overseen the
greatest improvement.
An exciting part of this work is the involvement of some of our Foundation Trust
Governors and Members. They have become part of the team carrying out the
rounds, and also help conduct the interviews with patients that form part of them.
Having an independent person who is not a member of King’s staff encourages our
patients to give us honest feedback.

Examples of patient feedback gathered in Patient Food Service Quality
Round (January 2011):
“Being on chemotherapy, my immunity is very low. Therefore there are
some foods that I would rather not eat, like fish and meat, just in case it is
not cooked properly … When my appetite came back I wanted a jacket
potato, but it took 2 hours to be served.” (Patient, Derek Mitchell Unit)
“I have noticed a real improvement to the food quality … Well done to the
catering department! The new menu provides a good variety of very nice
food – it has culturally appropriate meals like the West Indian options. It’s
good to know that this is revised according to feedback!” (Patient, Oliver
Ward)

Achieve target satisfaction scores for Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
(CQUIN) patient experience metrics
We have made progress on achieving the national CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality
and Innovation) in the following key areas of patient experience:
o Were you involved as much as you wanted to be in decisions about your
care and treatment?
o Did you find someone on the hospital staff to talk to about your worries
and fears?
o Were you given enough privacy when discussing your condition or
treatment?
o Did a member of staff tell you about medication side effects to watch for
when you went home?
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o Did hospital staff tell you who to contact if you were worried about your
condition or treatment after you left hospital?
We asked three of our less well performing wards to put initiatives in place to
improve their scores for the questions above. Improvement was monitored
monthly in the How Are We Doing (HRWD) inpatient survey. Our wards made an
improvement of 5% during the year. They did this by introducing a range of new
processes, including:
o A new information leaflet given to patients before they go home, which
includes the phone numbers of the ward, their GP, the district nurse,
Medihome and social services;
o Discharge checklists which include information on who to contact if a
patient is worried, and information about any medication which the
patient will take at home.
With focused effort, we have achieved our CQUIN targets for improving patient
experience. These are detailed in the table below:
Period

Target

Rating

Quarter 1

Include the specific National Inpatient Survey questions into the
King’s HRWD survey and monitor monthly results
Identify 3 worst performing wards and develop actions plans
Achieve 5% improvement for the 3 wards
National Inpatient Survey scores
• Maintain 2009 composite score
• Reach London average score of 67.1
• Reach average score for all acute teaching hospitals of 67.4

GREEN

Quarter 2
Quarter 3
Quarter 4

GREEN
GREEN
GREEN

Achieve How Are We Doing inpatient survey benchmark
Each year, we set ourselves challenging targets for improving the experience of
inpatients at King’s. The benchmarks we use for our How Are We Doing survey are
based on national patient survey questions set at the level of the highest performing
Trusts in London, and are reviewed annually.
The new Trust benchmark score of 86 from August 2010 has proved harder to
achieve with our overall score remaining on 84, the same as in the previous year.
Within the overall scores, there are areas of improved performance including:
o Care and treatment of our patients, including ensuring that patients have
enough privacy;
o The courtesy of our staff;
o The length of time staff take to answer the patient’s bedside call button;
o Patient food satisfaction.
In 2010, our results for the National Inpatient Survey carried out by the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) also showed marked improvements in certain areas compared
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with 2009, particularly in relation to the care and treatment patients receive, as well
as the way in which we manage their discharge from hospital.

Implement How Are We Doing outpatient survey in main outpatient suites and in
the Emergency Department
The How Are We Doing outpatient survey is now live in outpatient clinics for Trauma,
Emergency and Acute Medicine, Neuroscience and Cardiac services. Results are
gathered via a variety of different methods, including touch screen kiosks, hand held
devices, our website and email. Results are fed back to the clinics and clinical areas
and used to identify areas for improvement. We are developing child friendly
versions of the survey for our children’s outpatient areas. The survey is providing us
with valuable real-time feedback from outpatients to enable us to improve our
service, and is being rolled out to all other outpatient suites during 2011.
How Are We Doing in the Dental Institute and Day Surgery
Patient satisfaction with outpatient services in the Dental Institute has risen steadily
during 2010/11. Our Day Surgery Unit is also performing well, with overall
satisfaction scores reaching or exceeding the benchmark in seven out of the last 12
months, and remaining within one or two points of the benchmark for four months.
Other key initiatives and developments to support improvement in the patient
experience
Better, quicker resolution to patient concerns:
In 2009/10, we introduced a new system for triaging patient concerns within our
Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS). This has proved effective in resolving
concerns promptly as they arise.
In 2009/10, this resulted in an overall reduction of 24% in formal patient complaints,
and in 2010/11, there has been a further 23% reduction. We also have an internal
target, which is to respond to at least 80% of patient complaints within 25 days, and
in 2010/11, we achieved a result of 62%. In 2011/12, we aim to improve our timely
response to complaints.
The Trust regularly captures, monitors and acts on all feedback from patients, both
positive and negative, and produces a monthly ‘patient experience report’ including
information on complaints, PALS , patient surveys and patient comments. This
information is regularly reported to the Board.
Governor involvement:
King’s Governors continue to represent the interests of our Foundation Trust
members and partner organisations, and have added valuable input to a range of
initiatives to improve patient experience during 2010/11. These include:
o ‘Quality Ward Rounds’;
o Interviewing patients about the food service;
o Gathering patient stories;
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o Taking part in Dignity Visits.
These innovations have highlighted issues such as:
o Noise at night;
o The need for better information for patients;
o Problems with the food service;
o The need for additional support for patients whose relatives do not live close
by.
Feedback from these visits has enabled staff to make prompt and effective changes.
For example, silent closing bins have been introduced in wards to address the issue
of noise at night; special ‘dishes of the week’ have been piloted in one ward to
improve patient food; health care assistants have been deployed in certain areas to
accompany patients for investigations (e.g. x-rays, blood tests etc).
In 2011, we will be broadening the opportunities for our Governors to become
involved in quality initiatives, including taking part in our safety express campaign
which assesses pressure ulcers, falls, catheter care and venous thromboembolism
(VTE) assessments. Governor input into these initiatives has provided them an
opportunity to see quality improvement first hand, and to play a valuable role in the
overall improvement process.
Plans for 2011/12
Quality – which encompasses safety, outcomes and patient experience - are the
three top strategic areas of action in our Annual Plan for 2011/12.
We are firmly committed to continue a wide-range of activities to make
improvements throughout King’s, which like many hospitals is a large and complex
organisation.
Within our transformation programme, we will continue to use the King’s Values to
build a culture of care at King’s where patients’ needs and wishes are always front of
mind for staff. We believe that this drive to create a strong, values-based culture of
care will greatly influence our delivery of quality initiatives across the organisation.
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2010/11 Performance on our Patient Experience Priorities

Priority 4. To virtually eliminate mixed sex accommodation by April
2011
Summary

Patient Experience

The table below summarises the targets we set ourselves for virtually eliminating mixed sex
accommodation by April 2011 in 2010/11, and how we performed against them. There follows a
summary of our performance in 2010/11 and the challenges we faced, as well as the improvements
we plan to make in 2011/12.

Priority and Objectives

How did we do?

4. Eliminate mixed sex
accommodation

Achieved, compliance declared August 2010

Achieved



To virtually eliminate mixed sex
accommodation
by April 2011.
KEY:  Achieved  Not on track to be fully achieved in 2010/11

Improving privacy and dignity at King’s:
“'Because I have been in this hospital for over seven weeks I was
put into a side room with shower and toilet. I really appreciated
this privacy”
Patient feedback, How Are We Doing survey results, July 2010.
“As an old outpatient I found facilities and treatment much
improved since 2008 … I am not in favour of mixed sex wards but
realise it is necessary in A&E, intensive care.”
Patient feedback, How Are We Doing survey results, 2010
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Priority 4. To virtually eliminate mixed sex accommodation by April
2011
Headline performance
In March 2010, the Trust declared non-compliance in delivering same sex
accommodation (SSA). Although the majority of our wards had same sex sleeping
areas, we did not have the necessary assurance that toilet and bathroom facilities
and access to those facilities were compliant. Additionally, endoscopy and day
surgery were areas that were non compliant.
An action plan was developed and presented to the Board of Directors in April 2010.
A steering group, chaired by Director of Nursing & Midwifery, Dr Geraldine Walters,
oversaw the implementation of the plan. Changes made during the Spring of 2010
are summarised below:







Wards – all wards with open bays have had sliding doors installed at the end of
the bay and, where required, additional bathroom facilities have been added.
Endoscopy – the recovery area has been relocated to another ward to provide
separate male and female beds with en-suite toilet and shower facilities. This is a
short term option prior to the development of a new endoscopy unit in 2011/12.
Day surgery – additional trolley spaces have been created. This gives the Day
Surgery Unit (DSU) three areas suitable for patients having procedures. Changes
to the DSU timetable have also been made to manage the in-flow of male and
female patients and to stagger arrival times. As with endoscopy, the changes are
short-term whilst options for the longer term redevelopment of DSU are
identified.
Emergency Department - The volume of work through the Emergency
Department now exceeds the capacity of the resuscitation area. An acute
assessment unit has been developed in one of the medical assessment units
offering a male and a female bay. This allows patients to move from the
Emergency Department sooner, and creates same sex facilities for patients.

King’s was visited by the Chief Nursing Officer (CNO), Christine Beasley, in August
2010 to review our progress. The CNO acknowledged that significant progress had
been made in implementing the action plan, and the Trust declared compliance with
same sex accommodation on 13 August 2010.
Representatives of Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham (LSL) Alliance, Lambeth and
Southwark Primary Care Trusts, NHS London and a Southwark Local Involvement
Network (LINk) patient representative visited us in mid-October 2010. The Trust
received very positive feedback on its level of compliance, and our commitment as
an organisation to the delivery of same sex accommodation.
Compliance Monitoring
Compliance with same sex facilities is monitored in two ways. A ‘breach’ occurs if, at
any time, a patient shares a clinical area with a member of the opposite sex. Clinical
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areas report any breaches daily (which includes all patients affected by the breach)
and undertake a root cause analysis on any reported non-clinically justified breach.
The database is scrutinised daily and action taken if breaches are occurring. This
includes visits to the wards with advice about the placement of patients. This
database is also used to produce a monthly report for commissioners, and progress
is reviewed at the bi-monthly quality meeting between the Trust and the LSL
Alliance.
We incorporated the monitoring of these breaches as part of the Trust’s
Performance Scorecard from May 2010, and noted results that ranged from 106 to
298 breaches each month prior to becoming compliant with the Department of
Health guidelines. Subsequent to the effective implementation of the action plan
and declaring compliance, we have seen a significant reduction of breaches (ranging
from 5 to 32 each month), and have now eliminated any breach in the first three
months of 20115.
We also ask all patients whether they shared sleeping areas or toilet and bathroom
facilities in the How Are We Doing survey, which is given to all inpatients on
discharge. Three key questions were introduced to the survey related to same sex
accommodation, and these have been monitored since April 2010. They are:
• Q1 - Did you share a sleeping area with patients of the opposite sex when you
were first admitted to a bed on a ward?
• Q2 - Did you share a sleeping area with patients of the opposite sex if you were
moved to another ward (or wards)?
• Q3 - While staying in hospital, did you ever use the same bathroom or shower as
patients of the opposite sex?
The graph below shows patients’ response to these three questions. By monitoring
this alongside compliance, we are better able to understand patients’ expectations
and perceptions.

5

Trust Performance Scorecards, May 2010 to March 2011
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Results for the DSSA Questions in the How Are We Doing Survey
April 2010 – Feb 2011, whole Trust
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The results show that, since June 2010, there has been an improvement up to and
including September 2010 where questions have scored consistently better than the
benchmark. The drop in performance since September is cause for concern as the
daily breach report does not show deterioration in performance, but there is clearly
a deterioration in the patient’s perception. Actions to address this include Heads of
Nursing undertaking ward observations, and patient interviews on the wards to
understand why the HRWD results don’t reflect our compliance.
We also reviewed the National Inpatient Survey Results. In 2010, we scored within
the intermediate 60% of Trusts for the two questions where patients were asked if
they were sharing a sleeping area with patients of the opposite sex (score: 88) and if
they used a bathroom or shower area as patients of the opposite sex (score: 77).
Whilst this was sampled in July 2010 before we had declared compliance and reflects
room for further improvement, this does demonstrate the progress from the 2009
results, when we scored 85 and 76 respectively.

Plans for 2011/12
Peaks in demand, and competing priorities (notably infection prevention and
control), will potentially affect our ability to completely eliminate breaches. Although
we are confident that we are compliant with the Department of Health guidance,
some patients still perceive that they are being cared for on a “mixed sex ward”,
even though they are not sharing a sleeping area or toilet facilities with members of
the opposite sex.
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We will therefore continue to monitor our patients’ views and any breach reporting,
and taken action as appropriate. In future building developments, establishing same
sex facilities will be a care design requirement.
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2010/11 Performance on our Clinical Effectiveness Priorities

Priority 5. Achieve top 20% benchmark performance in all specialties
compared to our peers in South-East London on the risk-adjusted
mortality rate.
Summary

Clinical Effectiveness

The table below summarises the targets we set ourselves for achieving the top 20% benchmark
performance in all specialties compared to our peers in South-East London on the risk-adjusted
mortality rate in 2010/11 and the challenges we faced, as well as the improvements we plan to make
in 2011/12.

Priority and Objectives

How did we do?

5. Demonstrate top 20% mortality
performance against peers

We widened the comparison to review our mortality
performance against peer trusts, not just in South
East London. We also adjusted the objective: “to
achieve 30% better than expected” mortality rate.

To achieve top 20% benchmark
performance in all specialties compared
to our peers in South East London on the
risk-adjusted mortality rate.

Achieved



We are ranked fifth in the peer group, KCH RAMI=61,
peer average=75 (YTD March 2011). I.e. RAMI=61;
39% better than expected.
KEY:  Achieved  Not on track to be fully achieved in 2010/11

*Our objective originally related to similar sized (‘peer’) Trusts in South East London. However, as
there is only one peer organisation in South East London, we have used the CHKS anonymised peer
group of 14 Trusts for comparison instead. Our view was that the essence of this priority for quality
improvement in 2010/11 was to drive further reduction in our mortality rate, and demonstrate
therefore, continued improvements in clinical effectiveness for our patients. This has been achieved,
and further details are provided in the subsequent pages.

What does improving mortality rates mean?
As we improve the effectiveness of the treatment we provide for patients,
we will achieve better outcomes for them – and that includes improving the
number of patients who survive life-threatening illnesses or injuries.
For example:
• 30 days after experiencing a stroke, nationally, an average of 83% of
patients survive. At King’s, this is currently 95% (National Sentinel Audit
of Stroke, 2010)
• For every 1000 injured patients coming to King’s Emergency
Department, (for the past 3 years to 31 December 2010), an extra 21
more patients survived when, according to national definitions, they
would not have expected to survive given the severity of their injuries.
(Trauma Audit Research Network data to December 2010).
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Priority 5. Achieve top 20% benchmark performance in all specialties
compared to our peers in South-East London on the risk-adjusted
mortality rate.
Headline performance
Since 2009, King’s has striven to improve our governance and reduce our overall
mortality rate. King’s uses a mortality measure known as the ‘risk adjusted mortality
index (RAMI)’ and a score of 100 means the number of actual deaths equals the
number of expected deaths, allowing for variations in cases treated (casemix).
A score of below 100 indicates that mortality is better than expected. We work with
a healthcare intelligence company called CHKS, which provides analysis of our RAMI
score, and enables benchmarking with a National peer group6 of 14 NHS Trusts with
a similar patient casemix to our own. Individual scores for other Trusts are
anonymised, and therefore we are unable to monitor our ranking against the one
other South-East London Trust.
Overall, the King’s Risk Adjusted Mortality Index (RAMI) for the 12 months to March
2011 was 61 compared to 75 for our peer average, indicating that outcomes are 39%
better than expected. Within the peer group, we have the fifth lowest RAMI for
2010-11. This puts us in the top 35% benchmark performance against this wider
national group.
In Children’s Services, Haematology and Neurosciences, the specialty-specific RAMI
scores remain above 100. RAMI measures are less effective in areas of very low
death rates, but nevertheless, the clinical teams in each of these areas review all
deaths monthly. They have provided assurance to the KCH Mortality Monitoring
Committee that there are no care issues that contributed to mortality.

6

National Peer Group of Acute Trusts for RAMI comparison:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Barts and the London NHS Trust
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Guy's & St. Thomas' Foundation Trust
Imperial College Hospitals NHS Trust
Leeds Teaching Hospital NHS Trust
Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust
Oxford Radcliffe Hospitals NHS Trust
Royal Free Hampstead NHS Trust
Royal Liverpool & Broad Green University Hospitals NHS Trust
St. George's Healthcare NHS Trust
United Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
University Hospital Birmingham NHS Trust
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This graph illustrates Risk Adjusted Mortality Index (RAMI) actual score between
April 2009 and March 2011 against the rate we would expect.
CHKS Risk-Adjusted Mortality Index (RAMI) YTD
April 2009 - March 2011
120
110
100
90
80
70
60
50

RAMI 2010-11

Expected

This second chart demonstrates our Risk Adjusted Mortality Index (RAMI) score in
comparison with our National Peer Group.

King’s College Hospital
Peers
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Improvement initiatives in 2010/11
Routine mortality monitoring is now embedded throughout the organisation, as
follows:
• Monthly review of mortality rate, by Trust and by specialty grouping, in
comparison to the national peer group;
• Improvements in identification and care of patients requiring end of life care;
• Trust-wide implementation of the Physiological Observation Track and Trigger
System (POTTS). Implementation of the system included a trial using this system
via electronic hand-held devices to ensure rapid and appropriate escalation of
patients whose condition is deteriorating;
• Establishment of a work group to assess the feasibility and effectiveness of the
development of a sustainable critical care outreach team to ensure early
recognition, assessment and treatment of patients at risk of becoming severely
unwell;
• More advanced training for nursing and medical staff on advanced life support
skills;
• A robust approach to investigating Mortality Outlier Alerts generated by the Dr
Foster Unit at Imperial College;
• Participation in the National Cardiac Arrest Audit.
Plans for 2011/12
The improvement initiatives are now effectively embedded within the core
performance frameworks, and we have demonstrated solid improvement in
mortality performance over the past two years. We will continue to monitor and
continuously improve our mortality rates within established governance structures.
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2010/11 Performance on our Clinical Effectiveness Priorities

Priority 6. Ensure at least 90% of all adult inpatients are venous
thromboembolism (VTE) risk assessed before discharge
Summary
The table below summarises the targets we set ourselves for ensuring at least 90% of all adult
inpatients are venous thromboembolism (VTE) risk assessed before discharge in 2010/11 and the
challenges we faced, as well as the improvements we plan to make in 2011/12.

Clinical Effectiveness

Priority and Objectives

How did we do?

6. Ensure at least 90% of all inpatients We have achieved this, compliance is currently
are risk assessed for venous thrombo- 93.5% (March 2011)
embolism (blood clots)

Achieved



To ensure at least 90% of all adult
inpatients are VTE risk assessed before
discharge.
KEY:  Achieved  Not on track to be fully achieved in 2010/11

Preventing blood-clots for patients at King’s:
“When I went in for my pre-op assessment with the nurse, we
went through some things I was totally unaware of, for example,
the risk of blood clots was not something I’d even considered …
surely that happens only to people who spend a lot of time on
aeroplanes?!
“I was talked through a booklet which I was also given to take
home, and told of the precautions that would be taken during
my stay, as well as what I should do after my discharge to
minimise any risk. It helped me focus on my full recovery from
surgery, knowing that my risk of blood clot complications was at
its minimum possible.”
Glyn, Surgical Patient
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Priority 6. Ensure at least 90% of all adult inpatients are venous
thromboembolism (VTE) risk assessed before discharge
Headline performance
Venous thromboembolism (VTE) or blood clots is a serious patient safety issue
leading to many thousands of potentially preventable deaths in the UK. Identifying
which patients are at risk through effective VTE risk assessment enables the early
implementation of preventative methods which can significantly help to reduce VTE
and subsequent patient harm. We have been successful in exceeding our objective,
and currently assess 93.5% of our adult inpatients for VTE risk (March 2011). We will
continue our efforts to bring this closer to 100%.
The graph below shows the number of inpatients at King’s who were VTE risk
assessed between June 2010 and March 2011.

% VTE Assessed
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100.0%
80.0%
60.0%
40.0%
20.0%
0.0%
Jun-10 Jul-10 Aug-10 Sep-10 Oct-10 Nov-10 Dec-10 Jan-11 Feb-11 Mar-11
Risk assessment compliance rate

Target

King’s is proud to be the first NHS hospital named as an Exemplar Centre for VTE
prevention, and we play a key role in influencing the National VTE Prevention
Programme in England. The National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) VTE
Quality Standards were released in 2010, and we were proactive in forming an audit
team locally to focus on these.
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The VTE clinical audit team at King’s

Secretary of State for Health Andrew Lansley visited King’s
to see our VTE programme

Improvement initiatives in 2010/11
The significant uptake of VTE risk assessments across the organisation has been
facilitated by a wide suite of improvement work.
King’s has been a national leader in establishing one of the first Consultant Nurse
posts in VTE prevention, along with a network of midwives and nurses throughout
the hospital with specialist VTE knowledge who aim to ensure that best practice is
implemented in their area. We also devised a VTE e-learning module, and training is
now mandatory for our clinical staff. Increasing awareness and the education of
clinical staff is a vital part of our efforts to prevent VTE.
Electronic Patient Status Boards (ePSB) were introduced across all inpatient wards
for enhanced visual management of key patient care information. These are now
actively used to provide a prominent visual display of any patients who have not yet
had their VTE risk assessments, and we can monitor compliance and hotspot areas
for improvement through this tool.
Apart from timely and accurate risk assessments, we have made preventative
equipment (such as intermittent pneumatic compression devices) more widely
available in the Trust. In addition, every case of hospital-associated thrombosis is
subject to detailed root cause analysis.
We recognise that patients can really help us in our efforts, and King’s actively
encourages all patients to take an active role and to ask our staff: ‘What has been
done to reduce my risk of VTE?’
Plans for 2011/12
Emphasis on this important patient safety issue will be maintained with increased
focus on giving patients VTE information on admission and discharge, as well as
administering the appropriate preventative methods (thromboprophylaxis) for
patients at risk.
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As an exemplary centre for VTE prevention and management, we will continue to
ensure that compliance with timely and accurate risk assessments is solidly
embedded within everyday practice across the hospital.
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Our Quality Priorities and Objectives for 2011/12
This section of the Quality Report summarises our safety, clinical effectiveness and
patient experience objectives for 2011/12, how these were developed, and how
these will be achieved and measured.

Summary
Our safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience objectives and priorities are
summarised below:
Patient Safety
Priorities and Objectives

Clinical Effectiveness
Priorities and Objectives

Patient Experience
Priorities and Objectives

1. Reduce hospital-acquired
infections

4. Improve end of life care

6. Improve the consistency of
inpatient experience

• To further reduce MRSA bacteraemia
and Clostridium Difficile infection
rates

• To improve the co-ordination of care
we give to patients as they approach
end of life and achieve the locally
agreed CQUIN target

• To achieve the CQUIN target
improvement for the “responsiveness
to personal needs” composite
indicator, for the six lowest scoring
wards

2. Reduce avoidable death,
disability and chronic ill
health from venous
thrombo-embolism (VTE)

5. Improve diabetes care

7. Achieve a clean hospital
environment

•

• To improve the patient experience of
cleanliness as measured by HRWD

• To ensure that 90% of all adult
inpatients have a VTE risk
assessment
• To achieve the CQUIN target for
providing appropriate prophylaxis to
patients identified at risk by the VTE
assessment.

•

To improve insulin safety – by
reducing the incidence of
prescription and insulin management
error for patients currently on insulin
therapy
To develop the key frameworks for
KCH to meet the NICE Quality
Standard for Diabetes (standards 11
– 13)

3. Improve medication safety
• To implement the Electronic
Prescribing and Medicines
Administration (EPMA) system in
target wards and eliminate paper
prescriptions - to reduce further
avoidable medication prescribing
errors
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• To improve the standard of
cleanliness as measured in the
cleaning contract monitoring

Developing our forward looking quality priorities 2011/12
In a busy acute hospital like King’s, there are always many quality improvements
going on at any given time. They are central to what we are trying to achieve as an
organisation. Here, we identify what will be the focus of our efforts throughout
2011/12; they are not just something we look at twice a year for reporting purposes.
The wider range of improvements to patient care happening across the Trust will not
stop or slow down, but we have honed a clear set of priority objectives. These act
like a set of promises that everyone at King’s commits to meet or exceed this year.
From our various consultations, we know they are clear and meaningful to you as
our key stakeholders. We would like you to support our agenda for continuously
improving our high quality patient care, and to hold us to account.
Learning from the past
In 2010, we reflected on the recent history of our quality priorities and objectives,
noting key lessons and assessing how effective they were in driving real quality
change for our patients.
The diagram below summarises our quality objectives and priorities over the last
three years:

Patient Experience

Clinical Effectiveness

Safety

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

(NB. Quality Highlights
were reported in this first
Quality Report, not
priorities):

Reduce infections

Reduce hospital
acquired infection

Theatre staff commit to
safer surgery

Achieve zero Never
Events

Reduce number of
incidents with high
degree of harm

Enhance mortality
performance

Demonstrate best 20%
mortality rate
compared with peers

Saving more lives in the
emergency department
Providing excellent
stroke care

Ensure at least 90% of
all inpatients are VTE
risk assessed before
discharge

Leading edge cardiac
services

Improve patient
experience

Providing better access
and more choice in
maternity services

Improve patient
experience by using
inpatient feedback
results

Eliminate mixed sex
accommodation
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We also analysed the experience of all Trusts – reflected in the Department of
Health’s Quality Account Toolkit 2010/11 and the King’s Fund evaluation: “How do
quality accounts measure up?”. There were two important lessons reflected in our
refreshed approach:
• Keep the set of quality priorities to a manageable number to ensure focus
and clarity;
• Engage and involve key stakeholders in the development and prioritisation of
the quality priorities. Effective engagement ensures our quality objectives
and priorities reflect those areas which the community we serve says are
important to them. It also builds a platform for ongoing discussion and public
accountability.
How did we develop these priorities for quality improvement?
The graphic below outlines the process by which our quality objectives and priorities
for 2011/12 were developed and finalised:
Key milestones and timetable outlined
Timetable and proposed leads agreed

Executives and key leads

Review of 2009/10 report and DH Toolkit, and early draft developed
Patient Experience and Safety Committee (01/02)
Board of Governors (10/02)

Core messages shared: performance 2010/11 and potential
priorities for 2011/12

Development of first draft on 2010/11 Performance
Performance on 2010/11 priorities,
Other statutory reporting requirements
Editing on content and format

Contributing leads meeting (10/03)
King’s Executive review (14/03)

Wider stakeholder engagement to shape Priorities for 2011/12
Lambeth and Southwark PCTs, LINks. OSCs (25/03)
Governors (08/04)

Seeking external stakeholder and governors input for setting
quality priorities 2011/12

Dissemination of first draft
Dissemination to PCTS, LINks, OSCs for comments (04/04)
Quality and Governance Committee (04/04)
King’s Executive (11/04)

First draft for dissemination with incomplete data and longlist of priorities – to obtain comments and feedback to refine

Iterative engagement, refinement and sign-off
Board of Directors early review(19/04)
Patient Experience and Safety Committee (28/04)
Board of Governors (10/05)
Board of Directors and Audit Committee approval (02/06)

Dissemination of full draft with complete data and set of
priorities

Submission and Publication
Monitor (08/06); NHS Choices (08/06), Disseminate on
intranet and circulate (TBC).

Submission and publication online
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We started by mapping out the various quality priorities in our Annual Plan, CQUIN
agreements and existing organisational commitments. In early 2011, these were
evaluated and prioritised by key staff working in the following areas:
•
•
•
•

Clinical risk and governance committees and departments;
Safety and clinical effectiveness roles;
Patient, public involvement;
Patient support services.

We used a set of criteria to shortlist 12 potential priorities from all the various ideas
and suggestions and ensure that each selected priority area was:
•
•
•
•

An area where the Trust has real desire/need to drive improvement;
Important to patients and public scrutinisers;
Achievable – for example, there are known strategies to make improvements;
Measurable – measures in place (or in development) for monitoring and
comparison.
(As adapted from the DH Quality Account Toolkit, 2010/11)
We collated an outline of each of the short-listed quality priority areas – including
the rationale, current performance, initiatives planned and ideas for measures and
targets for improvement. These were then shared with our key external
stakeholders for their feedback on which priorities they thought were the most
important. This helped us refine the order of importance for final agreement of the
seven priorities for 2011/12.
Throughout this process, we did not disclose which core set of priorities were
selected by the staff leads and executive sponsors, as we intended to compare what
we thought would be important for our patients, and what our patients themselves
would identify as most important for them.
The table below illustrates the outcomes for each prioritisation review. 12 key
quality priorities were reviewed by internal and external stakeholders, and their
views incorporated to arrive at the final seven (each marked with a tick).
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KCH Leads

Patient Safety

Priority
Reduce hospital-acquired infections

1

Reduce avoidable death, disability and chronic ill
health from venous thromboembolism (VTE)

2

PCT, LINks, OSCs
1

Governors
1

OVERALL




Improve medication safety

2

2



Patient Experience

Clinical Effectiveness

Reduce harm from falls and pressure damage
Improve end of life care

1

1

1



Improve diabetes care

2

2

2



Improve the consistency of positive inpatient
experience

1

2

1



Improve cleanliness of hospital environment

2

2



Improve risk-adjusted mortality rate
Improve dementia care

Improve patient’s nutritional care and food service

1

Focused programme of ward-based
transformation

KEY: Green, 1=Number 1 priority identified as a group from the
consultations
Yellow, 2= Second priority in each domain from the
consultation discussions

Overall, everyone agreed to the top priorities in each domain. There were some
points where our stakeholders had different views. We listened and thought
carefully, and adjusted our plans accordingly.
Here are two examples:
In patient experience: our stakeholders had selected “improvement of nutritional
care and food service” (where improvement work has been carried out in 2010/11
and is ongoing), whilst senior leaders within the Trust chose cleanliness as their key
priority. Our approach has been to include cleanliness as a quality priority that is
more organisationally “stretching”, whilst we have invited external stakeholders with
an interest to become involved in the current “Food @King’s” workstream (see page
53 for more information).
In patient safety, there was a similar dilemma between selecting VTE prevention or
medication safety. The Trust is strongly committed to building on the last year’s
success in rolling out VTE risk assessment, by focusing on improving appropriate
prevention of VTE once risk is identified. As a top clinical priority, this issue impacts a
large cross-section of patients. However, hearing the comments from the
stakeholders on medication safety, it was decided that we would include both, as a
challenge to do all we can to prevent avoidable harm to patients.
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By engaging with stakeholders, we were able to jointly identify other key areas of
interest and create a foundation for an ongoing dialogue about the wider spectrum
of quality issues across the Trust. As a result, we have established a series of
meetings through the year to share:
• Our progress on the quality priorities;
• Best practice in improvement initiatives;
• Open up further opportunities to listen and respond to our stakeholders’
queries about key quality issues.
Our seven priorities and 10 objectives for quality improvement in 2011-12
The table below shows our seven priorities for quality improvements in 2011/12, and
the 10 related objectives. The objectives balance two things; how we are going to
measure progress against the objectives we have set ourselves, and how we are
going to ensure the outcomes we have set ourselves are being achieved.

Patient
Experience

Clinical
Effectiveness

Patient Safety

Priority

Objective

Process/
Outcome

Reduce hospitalacquired infections

• To further reduce MRSA bacteraemia and Clostridium difficile infection rates

O

Reduce avoidable
death, disability and
chronic ill health from
venous thromboembolism (VTE)

• To maintain the standard that 90% of all adult inpatients have a VTE risk assessment on
admission to hospital

P

Improve medication
safety

• To implement the Electronic Prescribing and Medicines Administration (EPMA) system in
target wards and eliminate paper prescriptions - to reduce further avoidable medication
prescribing errors

P

Improve end of life care

• To improve the co-ordination of care we give to patients as they approach end of life and
achieve the locally agreed target

P

Improve diabetes care

•

Improve insulin safety by reducing the incidence of prescription and insulin management
error for patients currently on insulin therapy

O

•

Develop the key frameworks for KCH to meet the NICE Quality Standard for Diabetes
(standards 11 – 13)

• To achieve the locally agreed CQUIN target for the provision of appropriate prophylaxis to
patients identified at risk by the VTE assessment

O

P

Improve the consistency
of inpatient experience

• To achieve the locally agreed target improvement* for the “responsiveness to personal
needs” composite indicator, for the lowest scoring wards

O

Achieve a clean hospital
environment

• To improve the patient experience of cleanliness as measured by the HRWD survey

O

• To improve the standard of cleanliness as measured in the cleaning contract monitoring

P
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Improve Patient Safety:

1. Reduce hospital acquired infections
Objective:
• To further reduce Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA)
bacteraemia and Clostridium Difficile (C. Diff) infection rates.
Why is this one of our quality improvement priorities?
In 2010/11, one of our objectives was to reduce hospital acquired infections and
meet the national targets for MRSA and C. Diff bloodstream infections. Both MRSA
and C.diff rates are often used as indicative measures for monitoring the
effectiveness of preventing hospital acquired infections as a whole.
In 2011, we successfully reduced MRSA and C. Diff infection rates, but we failed to
make the reduction in MRSA rates required to meet the national target.
In 2011/12, these targets have become even more challenging. King’s is committed
to the fundamental principle that our patients should not experience preventable
harm as a result of their stay with us. This includes hospital acquired infections. This
requires still greater organisational effort to improve, and we see further scope to
strengthen the overall infection prevention and control programme at King’s. Our
goal is to significantly reduce MRSA and C. Diff infection rates from current King’s
performance towards target reductions set for 2011/12.
How are we performing now?
The table below provides a breakdown of the number of cases of MRSA and C.Diff at
King’s during 2009/10 and 2010/2011, and the target set for 2011/12:
MRSA
bloodstream
infections
C. Diff infections

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

DH Target

32 (all cases)

9

5

King’s Performance
DH Target

26 (all cases)
19 (post-48-h)
202

16 (post-48-h)
162
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King’s Performance

135

106

-

7

What are our improvement initiatives planned?
We are determined to make King’s even safer for patients, and to reduce the risk of
infection for all of our patients. We have already put in place the following
improvement plans:

7

Whilst the Department of Health’s target is calculated as 5 for King’s, we are measured for MRSA
bacteraemia bloodstream infections by Monitor, with the de minimis of 6 as our expected limit.

71

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Engage, energise and strengthen ownership and accountability through:
o an expanded intravenous (IV) team and infection control link
practitioner programme;
o medical consultant “champions” and an audit programme led by
junior doctors;
o bespoke awareness raising and training interventions (e.g. short video
for induction to highlight highest impact precautions).
Measure, monitor and manage the key infection prevention and control
practices:
o Prompt and consistent screening to identify elective and emergency
patients who are MRSA colonised;
o Timely and appropriate prescription and implementation of
treatment;
o Prompt and evidence-based isolation and other precautions to reduce
the risk to other patients.
Improve the performance management framework to drive improvements in
practice:
o Key indicators (including some new measures) are consolidated in a
new Infection Prevention and Control Scorecard tested in March
2011;
o Used to provide an integrated evidence-base for continuous
discussion and action planning.
Reduce the risk of colonisation transferring to a bloodstream infection by
ensuring that patients with intravenous lines receive exemplary care through:
o Expansion of the intravenous line practitioner team,
o Training of clinical staff;
o Use of the latest technology to reduce the risk to patients e.g. roll-out
of “biopatch” (antimicrobial dressing) for IV line insertion.
Raise the standard of cleaning of the environment by:
o Engaging frontline staff to stress the importance of basic cleanliness
for patient safety and infection prevention and control;
o More active and effective contract monitoring arrangements.
Respond to staff feedback to enable more consistent infection prevention
practice:
o Embed reviews into clinical monitoring by linking existing paper
documentation to electronic patient records (EPR).
Further improve antibiotic stewardship in multi-disciplinary teams through
ongoing training and monitoring of:
o Appropriate and timely prescription and cessation of antibiotic
treatment;
o Timely change from intravenous to oral administration.
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How will we measure the performance and where do we report it?
•

•

•

•

Introduce a new Infection Prevention and Control Scorecard for use in
performance monitoring and management discussions in wards, divisions and
across the Trust.
We will focus on MRSA bloodstream infections and C. Diff infection rates to
evaluate how effective our improvement programme have been, and to align
our improvement objectives to national targets.
Any occurrence of MRSA bacteraemia or C. Diff infection will be subject to
root-cause investigation, and reported promptly to the Health Protection
Agency and the Department of Health.
Bi-monthly quality meetings are scheduled throughout the year with our
commissioners (LSL Alliance, NHS Lambeth and NHS Southwark) where we
report on performance in key metrics, as well as our progress against the
quality priorities we have set ourselves.
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Improve Patient Safety:

2. Reduce avoidable death, disability and chronic ill health from
venous thromboembolism (VTE)
Objectives:
• To ensure 90% of all adult inpatients have had a VTE risk assessment on
admission to hospital;
• To achieve the CQUIN target for providing appropriate prophylaxis to patients
identified at risk by the VTE assessment.
Why is this one of our quality improvement priorities?
The NHS Medical Director has identified VTE prevention as a top clinical priority.
King’s is a VTE exemplar site, and wishes to build on that excellence by providing a
consistently high level of VTE risk assessment and preventative treatment.
In 2010/2011, we started to risk assess all adult patients for VTE on admission to
hospital. The outcome of the assessment is used to tailor preventative treatments or
‘appropriate thromboprophylaxis’ to individual patient risks. For example,
implementing anticoagulant medications, using pressure stockings, employing
intermittent pneumatic compression devices; or a combination of these.
We want to build on our strong compliance with risk assessment and timely and
effective prevention strategies, so that we minimise all VTE risk for our patients.
Ensuring consistency and comprehensiveness of assessment across King’s is the
focus of our objective in 2011/12.
How are we performing now?
•

Compliance for VTE risk assessment of adult inpatients is displayed in the
graph below:

% VTE Assessed
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Risk assessment compliance rate
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Target

•
•

Since October 2010, when we began including the measure in the Trust
performance scorecard, we have increased VTE risk assessment for all adult
inpatients to 93.5% - exceeding the national target of 90%.
Currently, we do not have a Trust-wide measure of the rate of appropriate
preventative treatment

What are our improvement initiatives planned?
•
•

•
•

We will continue to be an exemplar in sustaining proactive VTE risk
assessment for adult inpatients, and aim to exceed the 90% target.
We will establish a regular audit system in selected areas to collect baseline
data about the current rate of ‘appropriate thromboprophylaxis’. This will
enable improvement targets to be set and agreed with our commissioners as
part of the 2011/12 CQUIN framework.
We will develop an electronic method to record audit data on ‘appropriate
thromboprophylaxis’ rates and use this timely analysis to share key lessons
across the Trust.
We will improve the quality of the data collected through the use of the VTE
link practitioner network. Leads will receive training and support from the
King’s Thrombosis Team to ensure there is robust clinical knowledge of
appropriate preventative VTE strategies, and then facilitate the sharing of key
lessons and best practice across the Trust.

How will we measure the performance and where do we report it?
•
•
•
•

The percentage of patients who are VTE risk-assessed is monitored through
our Trust performance scorecard and the monthly performance review
framework.
Appropriate thromboprophylaxis rates will be established as the key quality
indicator, monitored alongside the VTE risk assessment rate and reported to
the Department of Health via the UNIFY2 monthly returns system.
We aim to achieve the targets we agree in our local CQUIN contract for
‘appropriate thromboprophylaxis’ - details that will be published on our
website during the year.
Bi-monthly quality meetings are scheduled throughout the year with our
commissioners (LSL Alliance, NHS Lambeth and NHS Southwark) where we
report on performance in key metrics, as well as our progress against the
quality priorities we have set ourselves.

75

Improve Patient Safety:

3. Improve medication safety
Objective:
• Implement the Electronic Prescribing and Medicines Administration (EPMA)
system in target wards and eliminate paper prescriptions in order to reduce
further avoidable medication prescribing errors.
Why is this one of our quality improvement priorities?
King’s has committed to full implementation of this project in its Annual Plan
priorities.
Nationally, there is a drive to minimise medication errors– these are mistakes which
occur when medicines are incorrectly prescribed, dispensed or used. A key
recommendation of “Building a safer NHS for patients “Improving medication safety
(2004)” was the introduction of electronic prescribing systems linked to electronic
care records. It said that all health professionals involved in prescribing, dispensing,
and administering medicines for patients would be able to access essential clinical
information, and have robust checks embedded in the system to significantly reduce
the risk of human error in drug administration processes.
The expanded framework of “Never Events” from the Department of Health comes
into effect on 1 April 2011. Our goal is to ensure there continues to be no incidence
of “Never Events” relating to avoidable medication prescribing errors.

“Getting medication right has a significant impact on patient recovery – it’s
important to minimise unwanted side effects and can enable shorter stays
in hospital.
Medication safety is also a key aspect of the health of a patient at
discharge, and when this is safely prescribed, safely explained and
administered for patients, readmissions can be prevented.”
Lambeth LINk. Comment at the Quality Account review, March 2011

How are we performing now?
•
•
•

No “Never Events” relating to avoidable medication prescribing errors in
2010/11.
EPMA functionality has been used to promote safe medicines use e.g.
mandatory recording of allergy status. It is also used to generate reports to
highlight medication safety issues.
In August 2010, an audit of 804 prescriptions showed that prescribing
standards were met in 89% of electronic prescriptions (EPMA) - a 45%
improvement on the result for handwritten paper prescriptions.
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•

EPMA is currently used in 28 of 44 selected areas within current project
scope (64% roll-out progress), with total of 58 clinical areas in conjunction
with the Electronic Patient Record (EPR).
• We have a strong reporting culture (King’s currently holds the second highest
medication error reporting rate compared to the London peer group).
What are our improvement initiatives planned?
•

•

Complete the Trust-wide implementation of EPMA, ensuring that key staff
are engaged and use it effectively. This will be rolled out to all wards/
departments with the exception (at this stage) of critical care, paediatrics and
maternity services.
There are a range of other complementary medication safety initiatives in
place, including:
o Development of an e-learning programme for drug dose calculation
and increased use of dose calculation checking charts e.g. Phenytoin
loading doses in the Emergency Department.
o Standardisation of injectable medicines, particularly in critical care, to
reduce risks with ward based dose preparation.
o A multidisciplinary subcommittee to focus on:
 Organisational learning and improvement in medication
safety;
 Proactive risk management;
 Improved engagement of frontline teams to take ownership of
medication safety across the organisation and beyond the
Pharmacy Department;
 A revised medication safety scorecard to help drive focused
improvement effort.
o Closer working with King’s Health Partners (KHP) on medication safety
initiatives, including:
 A newsletter to share best practice and disseminate important
information;
 Improving opioid prescribing project.

How will we measure the performance and where do we report it?
•

•
•

EPMA implementation progress will be measured and monitored monthly at
the EPMA Project Board; this reports to the Medical Safety Subcommittee,
overseen in turn by the Quality and Governance Committee of the Trust, and
the Patient Safety Committee.
Medication error reporting rates and incident investigations (including
“Never Events”) are monitored by the Medication Safety Subcommittee,
which leads audits of compliance with guidelines.
Bi-monthly quality meetings are scheduled throughout the year with our
commissioners (LSL Alliance, NHS Lambeth and NHS Southwark) where we
report on performance in key metrics, as well as our progress against the
quality priorities we have set ourselves.
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Improve Clinical Effectiveness:

4. Improve end of life care
Objective:
• Improve the coordination of care we give to patients as they approach end of
life, and achieve the locally agreed CQUIN targets.
We want to improve the care we give to patients who are approaching the end of
their lives. This includes patients, for example, with terminal diseases such as cancer.
The quality of the end of life care we provide is not limited solely to the patients
under our care. It also applies to their friends and relatives, who require advice, as
well as emotional and psychological support, during this difficult and challenging
period of their lives.
The end of life care we provide must be clinically effective and, crucially, be
responsive to the individual’s needs and wishes. This is one of our key objectives,
and is central to achieving the CQUIN targets for this aspect of patient care.
Why is this one of our quality improvement priorities?
End of life care encompasses holistic support for people who are approaching death
and their family or carers - helping patients to live as well as possible until they die
and to die with dignity.
Although the national focus is on supporting patients to die in the place of their
choice – and for many this will be outside hospital – in practice the majority of
people still die in hospital and there is a need to improve the care these patients and
their families receive.
At King’s we are committed to making improvements to the experience of patients –
as well as their friends and family – as they reach the end of their lives.
How are we performing now?
Whilst we are confident that the importance of end of life care is already valued by
clinical staff working throughout the Trust, we know further improvements can – and
will – be made as we look to the future. We need to get this right now, as the
number of people living into old age – many of whom will require end of life care in
hospital - is likely to increase.
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What are our improvement initiatives planned?
The table below details the improvement initiatives we have planned for 2011/12 to
ensure real and lasting improvements in the end of life care we provide, and how
these will be measured within the CQUIN framework.
Goal
Improved identification of
patients towards the end of
their lives: leading to more
proactive care planning,
identification of
preferences, improved
coordination of care and
better communication.
This will be facilitated
through implementation of
the AMBER care bundle* in
specified clinical areas.

How we will measure success
1. Set up an advisory group to oversee AMBER project
2. Engage key ward staff and develop education and training plan
to support project
3. Pilot the AMBER care bundle initially on three wards at King’s
4. Review results of pilot and develop an action plan for
introducing the AMBER care bundle across further wards at
King’s, alongside an evaluation of the impact
5. Implement the action plan
6. Use quality sampling to review AMBER use and feedback to
clinical areas
7. Develop and use AMBER tracking tool in order to track patient
outcomes

1. Review current local and national audits of the LCP at King’s
Improve the care of those 2. Develop action plans based on the results of the local and
patients that are expected
national audits to support more sustained use in clinical areas
to die and who die in
3. Review current processes for capturing data on patient deaths
hospital through better use
on the Liverpool Care Pathway (LCP)
of the Liverpool Care
4. Develop an education and training plan to support improved
Pathway (LCP)**.
use of the Liverpool Care Pathway
5. Develop a system for quality sampling for data completeness
(as a proxy for quality of care) to review use of the LCP and
feedback to clinical areas
6. Increase use of the LCP across the Trust in line with national
averages

Improve staff knowledge,
skills and confidence in
caring for patients near or
at the end of their lives

1. Identify appropriate e-learning packages from the national elearning for health end of life care package for use as part of
mandatory training for ward staff
2. Implement e-learning for end of life care as part of staff
induction and mandatory training
3. Develop training plan for SAGE & THYME*** communication
skills training
4. Ensure that King’s has enough SAGE & THYME trainers to
sustain staff training
5. Implement training plan for Sage and Thyme, with initial focus
on preceptorship programme and ward staff alongside
implementation of AMBER care bundle
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Goal
Improved identification of
patients towards the end of
their lives: leading to more
proactive care planning,
identification of
preferences, improved
coordination of care and
better communication.
This will be facilitated
through implementation of
the AMBER care bundle* in
specified clinical areas.

How we will measure success
1. Set up an advisory group to oversee AMBER project
2. Engage key ward staff and develop education and training plan
to support project
3. Pilot the AMBER care bundle initially on three wards at KCH
4. Review results of pilot and develop an action plan for
introducing the AMBER care bundle across further wards at
KCH, alongside an evaluation of the impact
5. Implement the action plan
6. Use quality sampling to review AMBER use and feedback to
clinical areas
7. Develop and use AMBER tracking tool in order to track patient
outcomes

* AMBER care bundle
AMBER care bundle* is a care bundle that has been developed for patients with an
uncertain prognosis to provide standardised high quality anticipatory care,
integrated with the patient’s treatment. It includes:
Assessment
Management
Best practice
Engagement
for Recovery uncertain patients
The role for AMBER within a patient’s care pathway is demonstrated in the table
below:

Amber Care Bundle
Critical care, full
medical intervention,
responding to
treatment expected
recovery

Well

Recognition of
uncertain recovery

Recognition of the dying
phase.

Full intervention with
added symptom
control

Amber Bundle

LCP

** The Liverpool Care Pathway
The Liverpool Care Pathway** aims to help doctors and nurses provide end of life
care by refocusing goals of care and outlining best practice for a patient in the final
days and hours of their lives. The Liverpool Care Pathway becomes a structured
record of the issues, actions and outcomes during that patient’s care prior to death.
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*** SAGE & THYME
SAGE & THYME is a model to enable health and social care professionals to listen to
concerned or distressed people, and to respond in a way that empowers the distressed
person. The model is taught in a 3 hour level 1 course. In its most basic form, it is
described as follows:

Setting – if you notice concern – create some privacy – sit down
Ask – “Can I ask what you are concerned about?”
Gather - gather all of the concerns – not just the first few
Empathy – respond sensitively – “You have a lot on your mind”
-and
Talk – “Who do you have to talk to or to help you?”
Help – “Have they been helpful?”
You – “What do YOU think would help?”
Me – “Is there anything you would like ME to do?”
End – summarise and close – “Can we leave it there?”
How will we measure the performance and where do we report it?
It is vital that we effectively measure how we are performing against the objectives
we have set ourselves. This will enable us to ensure we are making the
improvements in end of life care we would like to make for patients, their friends
and family.
We will measure performance in the following ways:
• Collect and analyse current baseline performance (i.e. how we are currently
performing);
• Design and implement an auditing tool and set of key measures, and
incorporate into a Trust end of life performance scorecard;
• Report through the Trust’s End of Life Care Strategy Group and Patient
Outcomes Committee to the Board Quality and Governance Committee;
• Bi-monthly quality meetings are scheduled throughout the year with our
commissioners (LSL Alliance, NHS Lambeth and NHS Southwark) where we
report on performance in key metrics, as well as our progress against the
quality priorities we have set ourselves.
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Improve Clinical Effectiveness:

5. Improve diabetes care
Objectives:
• Improve insulin safety – by reducing the incidence* of insulin prescription
and management error for those currently on insulin therapy.
• Develop the key frameworks to enable King’s to meet the relevant NICE
Quality Standard for Diabetes (standards 11 – 13), and thereby deliver better
outcomes for our patients.
(*As the baseline performance was only published on 1 April 2011, precise
improvement targets have not yet been established.)
Why is this one of our quality improvement priorities?
Approximately one in five King’s adult inpatients are diabetic, and the majority are
admitted to King’s for reasons other than their diabetes. Some may be discharged
from hospital without being referred for appropriate specialist input from the
diabetes team. If diabetes is identified early and treated effectively, clinical
outcomes for patients improve and we can reduce length of stay in hospital by an
average of three days.
King’s participated in the 2010 National Diabetes Inpatient Audit and results
published on 1 April 2011 have provided an overview of our baseline performance.
The new Quality Standard for Diabetes published by NICE in March 2011 will be used
by King’s as a benchmark for delivering excellent care for diabetic patients.
The quality statements relating to inpatient care include:
• (11) Inpatient: People with diabetes admitted to hospital are cared for by
appropriately trained staff, provided with access to a specialist diabetes
team, and given the choice of self-monitoring and managing their own
insulin.
• (12) Diabetic Ketoacidosis: People admitted to hospital with diabetic
ketoacidosis receive educational and psychological support prior to discharge
and are followed up by a specialist diabetes team.
• (13) Hypoglycaemia: People with diabetes who have experienced
hypoglycaemia requiring medical attention are referred to a specialist
diabetes team.
How are we performing now?
•

The 2010 National Diabetes Inpatient Audit shows that King’s performs well
in providing diabetes care compared to the national average. However, there
are still areas in which we and our peers can improve the care we provide.
For example, in regards to insulin safety:, the National Diabetes Inpatient
Audit 2010 found that, of the patients on insulin, 53.5% experienced at least
one insulin prescription or management error. King’s had fewer inpatients
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with a prescription error - 22% compared to 26% for all other Trusts. King’s
had more patients who experienced management error - 25.9% compared to
20% across all units.
What are our improvement initiatives planned?
•
•
•
•
•

•

•

•
•

Review the results of the National Diabetes Inpatient Audit and identify
specific improvement opportunities and develop the appropriate best
practice models to achieve these.
Establish a network of Diabetes Link Practitioners, learning from the
successful development of the Infection Control Link Practitioners
programme at King’s, to meet and exceed the quality standards.
Pilot and implement new educational models across King’s to ensure
consistent best practice in the care of people with diabetes.
Create a new electronic flagging system to proactively identify those patients
who have the highest need for specialist diabetes care, so that we can ensure
they are seen by specialist staff.
Recruit for and pilot the role of a specialist Diabetes Liaison Nurse to work
across a number of clinical areas to identify high-risk patients earlier, and
ensure the effective care and treatment of patients with diabetes. We will
evaluate the effectiveness of this role in improving patient outcomes in 12
months.
Develop a new ‘diabetes care’ screen as part of the EPMA roll-out. This will
enable improvements to the prescription and management of insulin, and for
frontline staff to more readily access information to monitor the patient’s
glucose levels, insulin type and dosage. It will include programming to embed
decision-support to improve the management of hyperglycaemia for all
patients with diabetes.
Establish an Insulin Safety Group to ensure that patients with diabetes have
their medication managed according to the highest safely standards, and
ensure that we comply with National Patient Safety Authority
recommendations regarding insulin management.
Initiate a programme of research on improving patient safety in relation to
diabetes with our academic partners and the Patient Safety & Service Quality
(PSSQ) Centre.
Implement routine testing of blood glucose levels and standardising the way
in which insulin therapy is given and monitored.

How will we measure the performance and where do we report it?
•
•
•

We will use the key measures identified from the national clinical audits to
measure the effectiveness of our diabetic care.
We will participate in the next National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NaDIA) to
obtain comparative data to assess the improvements made over the year.
We will routinely monitor patient readmissions due to primary diabetes.
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•

Bi-monthly quality meetings are scheduled throughout the year with our
commissioners (LSL Alliance, NHS Lambeth and NHS Southwark) where we
report on performance in key metrics, as well as our progress against the
quality priorities we have set ourselves.

Improve Patient Experience:

6. Improve the consistency of inpatient experience at King’s
Objective:
• To achieve the agreed CQUIN target improvement* for the “responsiveness
to personal needs” composite indicator, for the three lowest scoring wards
identified twice during the year8.
(*This is yet to be confirmed with our commissioners, currently proposed to be
a 5% improvement target.)
Why is this one of our quality improvement priorities?
A key lesson from reflecting on patient feedback on their experience at King’s,
through our annual National Inpatient Survey results and in-house “How Are We
Doing” survey, is that whilst some of our patients have a very positive experience
and report high levels of satisfaction, this is not always consistent across all areas.
How are we performing now?
• In 2010/11, our efforts to improve levels of patient satisfaction in the three
lowest scoring inpatient wards, demonstrated significant and rapid
improvement could be made and sustained. We achieved our CQUIN targets
for three specific wards in 2010/11.
•

The five areas monitored relate to our responsiveness to personal needs of
patients. They are used as a composite CQUIN measure to reflect the most
important drivers of patient satisfaction, which are:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Appropriately involved in decisions about treatment/care;
There are hospital staff available to talk to about worries/concerns;
Given privacy when discussing condition/treatment;
Informed about medication side effects;
Informed who to contact if worried about condition after leaving hospital.

What are our improvement initiatives planned?
Learning from our experience in 2010 /11, we are committed to rolling-out our
improvement approach to six more of our inpatient wards in 2011 /12 to ensure
consistent care excellence and patient experience across the Trust. This involves:

8

Scope of this work could therefore range between three to six wards.
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•

•

Facilitated and focused ward-based team action planning in response to
patient feedback on the five patient experience aspects summarised above.
In 2010/11, we have set up mechanisms to capture patient feedback on these
five aspects and facilitate team improvements, and achieved the 5%
improvement on this composite measure in all three wards. Over the first
half of 2011/12, we will work with the three currently lowest-scoring wards
to bring about a 5% improvement again, and then in the second half of the
year, the next three lowest-scoring wards.
We will continue to evaluate the effectiveness of this type of focused wardbased improvement, and refine the methodology and tools used as
appropriate.

In addition, over the past year, we have designed a Patient Experience project within
the Transformation Programme. We expect that, with the implementation of the
deliverables we have put in place, many of the benefits from the project will be
realised over 2011/12.
The project includes the following key elements that are expected to improve
patient experience across King’s:
Building on our culture of care
We have planned a range of initiatives to deepen the engagement of all staff with
King’s core organisational values, and put patients at the centre of everything we do:
These include:
•
•
•

Stories in internal publications of real examples of how “living” King’s Values
have made a real difference for patients;
“In your shoes” events to allow staff to listen to what’s most important for
patients and prompt empathetic reflection and inspire personal commitment
to continuous improvement;
A set of drama-based training events on customer care principles to mobilise
staff commitment to a consistently positive experience for patients and their
families.

Energising and Expanding Volunteering at King’s
We are further developing our volunteer programme at King’s in recognition of the
unique and powerful contribution they make to improving patient experience at
King’s. The Trust currently has around 130 active volunteers who contribute 15,500
hours of voluntary service each year (Analysis, November 2010).
Our aims are to:
• Develop clear and interesting roles for our volunteers and have them
integrated as part of ‘Team King’s’.
• Recruit, train and place a flexible volunteer team who have a strong helpful
presence across the hospital – across most inpatient wards, outpatient
clinics, in the Emergency Department and at all main entrances to offer help
to our patients and their visitors.
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•

Develop a vibrant and attractive package for potential volunteers, including
development opportunities, support and recognition schemes to retain their
active commitment so as to provide the best experience for our patients and
their families.

We have been granted funding from the King’s College Hospital Charity to set up this
expanded programme. We are aiming to launch the new training programme in May
2011, and will grow the volunteer body over the next 12 months.
Improving Patient Discharge
Many of our patients have told us that their experience of discharge (when they
leave hospital) could be improved. The ‘Discharge Planning and Enablers’
workstream has been established recently to review the current best practice, and
areas for development for both complex and simple discharges.
There are two areas of focus; medical leadership at ward level, and standards along
the patient pathway. They are derived from the Department of Health Principles of
Discharge Planning. The scope of this work is illustrated in the diagram below:

10 Principles of Discharge Planning (DoH)
1

Start planning for discharge or transfer before or on
admission.

2

Identify, with the patient and carer if they have simple
or complex discharge planning needs.

3

Develop a clinical discharge management plan f or
every patient within 24 hours of admission.

4

Effective leadership and handover of responsibilities at
ward level.

5

Set an expected date of discharge or transfer within 12
hours of admission

• Elective Patients Assigned an Expected Length
of Stay Prior to Admission

6

Review the clinical discharge management plan with
the patient each day.

• Complex Discharges Identified at Initial Patient
Clerking

7

Involve patients and carers so that they can make
informed decisions and choices

• All patients assigned an expected date of
discharge within 12hrs of admission

8

Plan discharges and transf ers to take place over seven
days

9

Use a discharge checklist 48 hours prior to transfer.

10

Make decisions to discharge and transfer patients each
day.

•
•

Medical Leadership at Ward Level:
Proposal: Daily consultant led reviews of each patient
on the ward.

The Enabling Standards Along the Pathway:

• Trust discharge checklist consistently used for
all patients at least 24hrs prior to discharge
(including prompts for patient transport and referral to
rehabilitation/ step down care)
• All patients discharged or transferred to the
discharge lounge before 11am
• Diagnostics and Pharmacy

In March 2011 senior leaders from all divisions identified three top actions to
enable daily consultant-led reviews of each patient.
Further work is planned to ensure we deliver the enabling standards across
all wards e.g. consistent use of a discharge checklist 24 hours before a patient
is due to leave hospital.
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How will we measure and report performance?
• We will continue to monitor the experiences of patients on the five aspects in
the composite “How Are We Doing” survey indicator, which is included in the
monthly Trust Patient Experience Report.
• All divisional teams will be prompted to review their performance against
these measures with their ward teams, and to identify local improvement
opportunities.
• The lessons learnt by ward teams will be shared at the Trust’s Patient
Experience Committee in order to extend best-practice.
• Bi-monthly quality meetings are scheduled throughout the year with our
commissioners (LSL Alliance, NHS Lambeth and NHS Southwark) where we
report on performance in key metrics, as well as our progress against the
quality priorities we have set ourselves.
Improve Patient Experience:

7. Achieve a clean hospital environment
Objectives:
• To improve the patient experience of cleanliness as measured by the HRWD
survey
• To improve the standard of cleanliness as measured in the cleaning contract
monitoring*
(*This is yet to be agreed with our contractors, precise improvement targets
have not yet been established.)
Why is this one of our quality improvement priorities?
Ipsos-Mori research “Frontiers of performance in the NHS” (2008) identified
cleanliness as a key determinant in patient decisions about care.
There is a strong organisational commitment to make a tangible step-change
improvement in cleanliness, working closely with our contracted service providers.
We believe this will also help our efforts to prevent and control infection.
How are we performing now?
•

Our patients have indicated that cleanliness has not improved in the past
year. Results from our How Are We Doing survey results over the past year
show downward trends for perceived cleanliness of the rooms/wards and
bathrooms / showers, as evidenced by the graphs below:
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What are our improvement initiatives planned?
•
•
•
•
•
•

A focus on assurance for actual standards of cleanliness, with improved
contract monitoring site tours to complement other key environmental
audits.
Developing clear roles and accountabilities for cleanliness in all areas e.g. the
review and sign-off of deep cleans.
Implementation of a rigorous staff performance review programme and a
new ‘coaching card’ training system to raise standards of cleaning quality.
Engagement of frontline staff groups to foster understanding of how
influential basic cleanliness is to the confidence patients have in the care we
provide.
Implement the Cleaning Improvement Programme developed with our
contracted hospitality service providers, Medirest.
Ongoing programme to pilot test new innovations and products such as new
toilet roll dispensers and disposable bed-side curtains, to best meet our
patient’s expectations for the cleanliness of ward and bathroom
environments.

How will we measure and report performance?
•
•
•

Our Trust-wide environmental audits, quality ward rounds, and other
contract-monitoring site visits will be reviewed, and measures and targets
revised as part of the improvement work.
Once baseline performance on the key measures is obtained, we will
establish the improvement targets.
Bi-monthly quality meetings are scheduled throughout the year with our
commissioners (LSL Alliance, NHS Lambeth and NHS Southwark) where we
report on performance in key metrics, as well as our progress against the
quality priorities we have set ourselves.
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Statements of Assurance from the Board:
2a: Information on the review of services:
During the 2010/11 reporting period, King’s College Hospital provided and/or subcontracted seven NHS services. They were:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Acute services
Hospice services
Rehabilitation services
Community healthcare services
Diagnostic & screening services
Long-term conditions services
Blood and transplant services

King’s has reviewed all the data available on the quality of care in all of the above
seven types of services.
The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2010/11 represents 100% per
cent of the total income generated from the provision of NHS services by King’s for
2010/11.
Indicators covering the three quality dimensions – safety, patient experience, and
clinical effectiveness – were identified and built into King’s monthly performance
scorecards at Trust, divisional and team levels in June 2009. These are actively used
to drive overall quality improvement, and the divisional scorecards have adjusted to
the new arrangement since July 2010.
A divisional restructure, to organise the eight existing divisions into six, was aimed to
achieve:
1. An improvement in the quality of our services – for example, ensuring
appropriate care for both our emergency and elective patients; developing
services for local patients out of the hospital; and improving our services to
patients from across the country in a number of specialty areas.
2. A closer alignment with the Clinical Academic Group structure within King’s
Health Partners. Over time we will be working ever closer with our partners,
and our patients will experience more joined up services and the benefits of
improved integration with research and teaching.
3. More effective and efficient services for our patients, that yield savings we
can invest for the future.
4. A renewed focus on addressing healthcare inequalities across South East
London, considering all elements of healthcare provision and the pathways
our patients experience.
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2b: Participation in Clinical Audits and National Confidential Enquiries:
During 2010/11, 50 national clinical audits and two national confidential enquiries
covered NHS services that King’s provides.
During that period, King’s participated in 90% (45/50) of national clinical audits and
100% (2/2) of national confidential enquiries in which it was eligible to participate.
This includes both those listed by the Department of Health (47), and additional
audits and enquiries of relevance (five).
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries in which King’s was
eligible to participate during 2010/11 and those in which we actually participated
(with data collection completed during 2010/11), are listed below alongside the
number or registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry.
The following list of national audits is based on that produced by the Department of
Health:
National Clinical Audit and Confidential
Enquiry

9

King’s
participation

Reporting period

Participation rates

Yes
Yes

Continuous
01/10 – 12/10

100%
100% (554/554
cases)

Yes

11/10 – 01/11

Yes

11/10

Paediatric fever (College of Emergency
Medicine)
Childhood Epilepsy (RCPH National Childhood
Epilepsy Audit)
Paediatric Intensive Care Audit Network (PICA
Net)

Yes

04/09 – 12/10

Yes
Yes

Audit not yet
collecting data
01/07 – 12/09

Audit in data
collection phase
2010 report not yet
published
2010 report not yet
published
N/A

Diabetes (RCPH National Paediatric Diabetes
Audit)
3. Acute Care
Emergency use of oxygen (British Thoracic
Society)
Adult community acquired pneumonia (British
Thoracic Society)
Non-invasive ventilation (British Thoracic
Society)

No

01/09 – 03/10

96.5% data
completeness number of cases not
specified
N/A

No

10/10 – 11/10

N/A

Yes

December 10 to
March 11
02/10 – 03/10
Also for 2011

Audit in data
collection phase
N/A

1. Peri- and Neonatal
Perinatal mortality (CMACE)
National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP)
2. Children
Paediatric Pneumonia (British Thoracic
Society)
Paediatric Asthma (British Thoracic Society)

No

9

Unfortunately, as data collection occurs through different channels (from disperse staff groups,
directly from patients, or returns through our IT system), the participation rates are not always
tracked centrally. In some instances, the rates are confirmed only in the final publication of results. In
other instances, the report may not specify King’s participation rate.
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National Clinical Audit and Confidential
Enquiry

9

King’s
participation
No
Yes

Reporting period

Participation rates

06/10 – 07/10
09/10 – 02/11

Yes

08/10 – 01/11

Yes
Yes

04/11 04/10 – 09/10

N/A
Audit in data
collection phase
Audit in data
collection phase
N/A
24 potential donors Percentages not
specified in the
report

No
Yes

01/09 – 03/10
05/10 – 09/10

Yes
Yes

2011 09/10 – 08/11

Yes

07/10 – 10/10

Yes

10/10 – 12/10

Yes

09/10 – 12/10

Bronchiectasis (British Thoracic Society)

Yes

10/10 – 01/11

5. Elective Procedures
Hip, knee and ankle replacements (National
Joint Registry)

Yes

04/09 – 03/10

Yes

04/09 – 03/10

Yes

04/09 – 03/10

Yes

Continuous

Yes

04/09 – 03/10

Yes

a) 04/09 – 03/10;
b) 12/09 – 02/10

Yes

01/08 – 09/09

15% (16/110 cases)

Yes

04/08 – 03/10

2010 report not yet
published

Pleural procedures (British Thoracic Society)
Cardiac arrest (National Cardiac Arrest Audit)
Vital signs in majors (College of Emergency
Medicine)
Adult critical care (Case Mix Programme)
Potential donor audit (NHS Blood &
Transplant)

4. Long-term conditions
Diabetes (National Adult Diabetes Audit)
Heavy menstrual bleeding (RCOG National
Audit of HMB)
Chronic pain (National Pain Audit)
Ulcerative colitis & Crohn’s disease (National
IBD Audit)
Parkinson’s disease (National Parkinson’s
Audit)
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
(British Thoracic Society)
Adult asthma (British Thoracic Society)

Elective surgery (National PROMs
Programme)
Coronary angioplasty: Adult cardiac
interventions
Liver transplantation (NHSBT UK Transplant
Registry)
Coronary angioplasty (NICOR Adult cardiac
interventions audit)
Peripheral vascular surgery (VSGBI Vascular
Surgery Database)
a) clinical audit
b) organisational audit
Carotid interventions (Carotid Intervention
Audit)
CABG and valvular surgery (Adult cardiac
surgery audit)
10

10

N/A
Report not yet
published
Audit in pilot phase
Audit in data
collection phase
2010 report not yet
published
2010 report not yet
published
2010 report not yet
published
Audit in data
collection phase
Number of cases
submitted not
specified in the audit
report
All procedures:
54.7%
2010 report not yet
published
100%
2010 report not yet
published
a) 2010 report not
yet published;
b) 100% (1/1)

This relied on data being produced from electronic clinical systems and, along with many other Trusts
nationally, King’s did not have the IT systems to enable this. Following efforts made by the diabetes team, King’s
made a practical data return for 2011 but, as it was not complete, it will be recorded as ‘non participation’.
King’s did, however, participate in the National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NaDIA), which does not appear on the
Department of Health’s priority national audit list. Results were published outside the period of this report (April
2011) and will be included in next year’s Quality Account

91

National Clinical Audit and Confidential
Enquiry

9

King’s
participation

Reporting period

Participation rates

Yes

01/10 – 12/10

Acute myocardial infarction and other ACS
(MINAP)

Yes

04/09 - 03/10

Heart failure (Heart Failure Audit)
Acute Stroke (SINAP)

Yes
Yes

04/09 - 03/10
05/10 – 03/11

Stroke care (National Sentinel Stroke Audit)

Yes

04/10 – 06/10

100% (1/1) –
organisational audit;
30% (12/40 adult
cases) – clinical audit
Number of cases
submitted not
specified in audit
report
30% (95/321 cases)
Audit in data
collection phase
100% (1/1) –
organisational audit;
100% (60/60 cases) –
clinical audit

7. Renal Disease
Renal replacement therapy (Renal Registry)

Yes

04/09 - 03/10

Patient transport (National Kidney Care Audit)

Yes

01/10

Renal colic (College of Emergency Medicine)

Yes

08/10 – 01/11

8. Cancer
Lung cancer (National Lung Cancer Audit)

Yes

01/10 – 12/10

Bowel cancer (National Bowel Cancer Project)

Yes

08/08 – 07/09

9. Trauma
Hip fracture (National Hip Fracture Database)

Yes

04/09 - 03/10

Yes

04/09 - 03/10

Yes

04/10 - 03/11

Audit in data
collection phase

Yes

06/10

Yes

09/10 – 01/11

2010 report not yet
published
Audit in data
collection phase

6. Cardiovascular Disease
Familial Hypercholesterolaemia (National
Clinical Audit of Management of FH)

Severe trauma (Trauma and Audit Research
Network)
Falls and non-hip fractures (National Falls and
Bone Health Audit)
10. Blood Transfusion
O negative blood use (National Comparative
Audit of Blood Transfusion)
Platelet Use (National Comparative Audit of
Blood Transfusion)
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2010 report not yet
published
2010 report not yet
published
Audit in data
collection phase
2010 report not yet
published
2010 report not yet
published
100% (100/100
cases)
100%

In addition, King’s participated in the following national audits and confidential
enquiries that are not included in the Department of Health’s list:
National Clinical Audit and Confidential
Enquiry
Acute Care
National Confidential Enquiry into Patient
Outcome and Death (NCEPOD)

Acute severe asthma (College of Emergency
Medicine)
Renal Disease
Vascular access audit
Psychological conditions
National Audit of Dementia
a) organisational audit
b) clinical audit
Older People
Continence Care Audit (Royal College of
Physicians)

King’s
participation

Reporting period

Participation rates

Yes

04/10 - 03/11

Yes

08/09 – 01/10

Cardiac arrest study 100% (14/14);
Surgery in children –
in progress; Perioperative surgery –
organisational
questionnaire only
100% (50/50)

Yes

01/10 – 01/11

Audit in data
collection phase

Yes

03/10 – 07/10

a) 100% (1/1);
b) 0

Yes

The reports of 24 national clinical audits were reviewed by King’s in 2010/11, and the
actions King’s intends to take to improve the quality of healthcare are provided
below:
National Audit
Headline results and / or actions taken
1. Peri- and Neonatal
National
King’s performed better than the national average as follows:
Neonatal Audit
• 72% babies received surfactant (63.5% nationally)
Programme
• 86% babies had their blood pressure measured within the first hour of birth
(NNAP)
(56.4% nationally)
• 77% babies had their temperature measured within the first hour of birth (63%
nationally)
• 96% received mother’s milk (80.1% nationally).
• Further improvement actions are in place to improve the number of women
given steroids before a pre-term delivery, as this helps matures the baby’s lungs,
and reduces the risk of breathing difficulties.
2. Children
Paediatric
The Standardised Mortality Ratio is 1.05, which is in line with peers.
intensive care
The following steps have been taken to improve data quality:
(PICA Net)
• 750 notes re-entered
• problems in interface identified and resolved between the local audit
management system and PICANet
• data re-analysed
• a PICANet lead identified.
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National Audit
3. Acute Care
Adult critical
care (Case Mix
Programme)
Asthma - acute
severe (College
of Emergency
Medicine)

Headline results and / or actions taken
King’s has not previously participated in this audit. The funding has now been
secured. King’s is in a position to start submitting data in April 2011.

King’s results include:
• King’s was the third best performing Trust in the UK for the crucial peak flow
recording
• King’s was in the top quartile for compliance with treatment standards and
patient discharge standards
• King’s was in the bottom quartile for observations on arrival due to poor
recording of respiratory rate
Actions to improve the asthma service within the ED include:
• the introduction of Rapid Assessment and Treatment
• implementation of an Asthma Decision Tool
• sign-posting of clinical guidance on the Trust’s intranet to allow a contemporary
clinical reference source.
Potential donor
Key results are as follows:
audit (NHS
Donors after brain death:
Blood &
• 90% were tested for neurological death
Transplant)
• There was 100% referral rate
• The approach rate was 89%
• The adjusted11 consent rate was 52% and observed 63%. (adjusted for ethnicity)
Donors after cardiac death:
• The referral rate was 88%
• The approach rate was 73%
• The adjusted consent rate was 45% and observed 64%.
Detailed discussion of the results of this audit and any actions required has been
scheduled but has not occurred by the time of this publication.
4. Long-term conditions
Diabetes
Work is ongoing with the Electronic Patient Records Team to set up the systems
(National Adult
required to extract data for submission. A partial data set has been submitted to
Diabetes Audit)
the audit.
Ulcerative colitis The following organisational processes and structures are in place at King’s as
& Crohn’s
shown by the results of the second round of the IBD organisational audit:
disease
• timetabled meetings between Gastroenterologists and Colorectal Surgeons
(National IBD
• IBD Clinical Nurse Specialist in post
Audit)
• surgeons perform ileo-anal pouch surgery
• psychologists are attached to the Gastroenterology service
• there is access to an IBD specialist via telephone.
The following results are also highlighted by the report:
• 5% (1/20) of ulcerative colitis patients died during admission
• No Crohn’s disease patients died during admission.
5. Elective Procedures
Hip, knee and
King’s results were not specified in the report. It is noted that this is not an audit
ankle
but a national data collection exercise for the registry.
replacements
(National Joint
Registry)

11

Adjusted for casemix and ethnicity of the potential donor.
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National Audit
Elective surgery
(National
PROMs
Programme)

Peripheral
vascular surgery
(VSGBI Vascular
Surgery
Database)

Headline results and / or actions taken
PROMS currently covers four elective surgery procedures: hip and knee
replacement, groin hernia and varicose veins. Patients are asked to rate their
quality of life both pre- and post-operatively using well established quality of life
tools. King’s performs well compared to acute Trusts nationally, and in London for
both hip and knee replacements. Results for groin hernia surgery are mixed with
one measure showing King’s performing above the national average and another
below. The number of patients reporting better quality of life after varicose vein
surgery is lower compared to other acute Trusts.
King’s results are in the top quartile. The results of the organisational report
highlighted that King’s is amongst the 34% of specialist vascular units with the
following 4 out of 5 key characteristics for a specialist vascular unit:
• beds dedicated to vascular surgery patients only or vascular patients are
admitted to a general surgical ward with nursing staff experienced in looking
after vascular surgery patients
• ITU and HDU units for vascular surgery
• a 24/7 vascular on call rota
• the opportunity to obtain training in vascular interventional radiology.
The last audit report identified poor data submission from King’s. This is being
addressed and data was submitted to meet the 2011 deadline.

Carotid
interventions
(Carotid
Intervention
Audit)
6. Cardiovascular Disease
Familial
Key results from the audit demonstrate that King’s meets best practice by having in
Hypercholestero place:
laemia (National • outpatient services for the clinical management of adults with FH
Clinical Audit of
• a lead clinician responsible for FH care
Management of
• patients formally classified according to the ‘Simon Broome’ criteria.
Familial
Hypercholestero
laemia)
Myocardial
infarction &
other ACS
(MINAP)

Heart failure
(Heart Failure
Audit)
Stroke care
(National
Sentinel Stroke
Audit)

7. Cancer
Lung cancer
(National Lung
Cancer Audit)

King’s has performed above the national average for the indicators shown below:
• 92% of King’s patients are directly admitted to interventional centre compared
to 76% nationally
• 93% received primary angioplasty (44% nationally)
• 90% of nSTEMI patients are seen by a cardiologist or member of the cardiology
team (88% nationally)
• patients are being discharged on secondary prevention medication including
aspirin, beta blocker, statins, ACE inhibitors and clopidogrel/ thienopyridine
inhibitors. Actions resulting from the 2009 report have increased the percentage
of patients discharged on ACE inhibitor from 80% to 97%.
King’s has increased the number of cases submitted to the audit from previous
years. A system is now in place to improve on registration, admission, re-admission,
unscheduled event and life status.
Organisational audit score was 90.27 for King’s, ranking fifth nationally (national
average 67.13).
The staff availability ratios for inter-disciplinary services are considered inaccurate
and have been recalculated. The data is due to be resubmitted. King’s achieves the
nursing and therapy numbers specified by Healthcare for London. Results of the
clinical audit are still to be published.
Discrepancy in King’s data published in the 2009 LUCADA report is currently being
followed up with the Information Centre.
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National Audit
Bowel cancer
(National Bowel
Cancer Audit
Programme)
Breast cancer
(National
Mastectomy and
Breast
Reconstruction
Audit)
Oesophagogastric cancer
(National
Oesophagogastric Cancer
Audit)
8. Trauma
Hip fracture
(National Hip
Fracture
Database)

Fractured neck
of femur
(College of
Emergency
Medicine)

Severe trauma
(Trauma and
Audit Research
Network)
Pain in children
(College of
Emergency
Medicine)

Headline results and / or actions taken
Following results published in the 2009 report that did not accurately reflect
practice at King’s, a clinical research nurse has been appointed working
prospectively on data entry for the audit. A system of consultant verification of all
data prior to submission has also been established. The bowel cancer team
continue to work to improve data returns.
The 2010 report shows that all King’s patients had completed operative data with
an estimated case ascertainment of 75% to 100%. At King’s, 100% of women who
had a mastectomy were offered reconstruction and about 50% of them had
undergone the reconstruction procedure. This is above the national reconstruction
rate of 9%.
King’s has a small caseload in oesophago-gastric cancer. Results from the 2010
report include:
• 100% of patients had planned modality
• King’s patients are transferred to Guy’s and St Thomas’ for further treatment,
therefore no treatments entered for King’s.

The results from the hip fracture include:
• 42% of patients got to the orthopaedic ward within 4 hrs from the Emergency
Department (ED) (56% nationally). Detailed discussion of the results of this audit
and any actions required has been scheduled but has not occurred before this
publication.
• 88.8% of patients had surgery within 48 hours and during normal working hours
(79% nationally)
• 2.4% developed pressure ulcers (6% nationally)
• 55% received routine preoperative medical assessment by a geriatrician (30%
nationally)
• 94.2% of patients were assessed for bone health medication (74% nationally).
This audit reported that:
• King’s is the best performing Trust nationally in providing timely analgesia in the
ED for patients with fractured of femur.
• King’s is in the top quartile for providing overall care in accordance with
guidelines for good practice (in addition to timeliness).
• King’s is in the lower quartile for recording of pain score and for performing
imaging within 60 minutes.
Actions include collaboration with the x-ray department to develop a patient
priority system and the addition of a pain score box to the mandatory triage field.
King’s is performing above average with 2.1 additional “survivors” per 100 patients
than expected. King’s is working to improve its time to theatre. This is being
addressed by the Trauma Board through theatre scheduling and recruiting a junior
medical post.
The audit reported that:
• King’s is in the top quartile nationally for pain recording and providing analgesia
within 20 minutes.
• King’s scored in the lower quartile for providing analgesia in accordance with
guidance and specifically in using the pain scoring system.
Staff training is being provided to ensure consistency in the use of the pain scoring
system, and providing analgesia in accordance with guidance.

96

National Audit
9. Older People
Continence Care
Audit (Royal
College of
Physicians)

Headline results and / or actions taken
King’s continues to perform well in continence care with an organisational score of
82, which is in the upper quartile for acute hospitals.
Key bladder and bowel clinical audit results are below:
• For 65 years and older, all King’s patients were assessed for cognition compared
to 66% nationally
• There is evidence that the impact of symptoms on quality of life was assessed for
80% of the 65+ age group and 86% of the <65 compared to 36% and 49%
respectively.

In addition, the reports of nine local clinical audits were reviewed by King’s in
2010/11 and King’s intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of
healthcare provided:
Local Clinical Audit
Hand hygiene and infection
control audit programme

Risk assessment model for
venous thromboembolism in
hospitalised medical patients
Consent

Health record-keeping

Do not attempt resuscitation
(DNAR)
Falls
Discharge

Transfer

Blood transfusion

Actions to improve quality of care
Routine audit has demonstrated that King’s has achieved a high level
of compliance with its infection control standards. A new hand
hygiene tool recommended by the Department of Health is currently
being piloted and a new audit management system is being
developed to facilitate data entry, analysis and dissemination at all
levels of the organisation.
This audit is a CQUIN requirement and reported elsewhere in the
Quality Account.
Routine audit of consent has led to a review of the consent form and
clear messaging throughout the organisation of Trust policy for
consent for specific procedures.
Audit results demonstrated that health record-keeping has
significantly improved following the increased use of the electronic
patient record. The Health Record-Keeping Policy was reviewed and
updated in-year and disseminated to all stakeholders. A new online
training package for health record-keeping is now mandatory for all
clinical staff and the levels of uptake are now monitored routinely
through the King’s Human Resources scorecard.
The Do Not Attempt Resuscitate (DNAR) policy is being reviewed
with the view of integrating DNAR fully into the End of Life care
pathway.
Actions to improve the routine use of the falls risk assessment and
the bedrail risk assessment forms.
Following the audit, discharge checklists for adult, paediatrics and
maternity were developed to improve compliance with King’s
Discharge Policy.
As a result of the audit, a transfer checklist was developed.
Dissemination of information on the King’s policy requirements are
to be targeted to all Heads of Nursing and improvement managed
within Divisions.
In order to reduce wastage, a bi-monthly Transfusion Newsletter
was launched to provide update on the cost of blood, blood
components usage and wastage. Adverse Incident reports for all
blood wastage are reviewed at Risk Meetings.
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2c: Information on participation in clinical research
The number of patients receiving NHS services provided or sub-contracted by King’s
that were recruited (but may not necessarily have completed the study) to
participate in research approved by a Research Ethics Committee, during the period
1 October 2009 – 31 September 2010 was 4100. They were recruited to 186 National
Institute for Health Research (NIHR) adopted studies.
This is a 60% increase in recruitment from 2008/09 (previous years increase was
37%). Additionally, King’s was involved in approximately 450 non-NIHR studies, and
150 commercial clinical research studies during 2009/10, to which an estimated
4500 patients were recruited.
Commitment to research as a driver for improving the quality of care and patient
experience
Participation in clinical research demonstrates King’s commitment to improving the
quality of care we offer, and to making our contribution to wider health
improvement. Our clinical staff stays abreast of the latest possible treatment
possibilities and active participation in research leads to successful patient
outcomes.
There were over 200 clinical staff participating in research approved by a research
ethics committee at Kings during 2010/11. These staff participated in research
covering 24 different medical specialties.
In addition, over the last three years, in excess of 1400 publications have resulted
from our involvement in NIHR research, which shows our commitment to
transparency and our desire to improve patient outcomes and experience across the
NHS.
Our engagement with clinical research also demonstrates King’s commitment to
testing and offering the latest medical treatments and techniques.
For example, following the success of the 2009/10 Research Initiative grant awards,
the Trust Executive agreed to a second year’s investment (of £750,000) in clinical
research. Quality of the projects put forward was very high, with the 10 successful
awards being based on scientific merit. These projects have performed well, with
outputs so far including an NIHR Fellowship award, 4 groups being awarded grants
from external bodies based on project data, 10 published manuscripts, over 15
abstracts and presentations at conferences, and two young Investigator Awards. The
Trust also ran a New Researcher competition in order to encourage junior clinical
staff from all disciplines to take on small research projects, by awarding consumables
grants and travel bursaries to support presentations at research meetings. Over 40
applications were received, with seven consumable grants and five travel bursaries
being awarded for innovative and novel projects.
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We have picked a few examples of the research work being conducted within some
of the established research groups in the Trust, to give a flavour of the breadth of
areas of interest.
RESEARCH HIGHLIGHTS
Neurosciences:
EUROPAR is a European research initiative looking at the non-motor symptoms of
Parkinson's disease, which is led from King’s by Professor Ray Chaudhuri, and has
attracted significant funding from charities and industry.
Parkinson’s disease is one of the commonest neurodegenerative disorders, and is
associated with a wide range of distressing non-motor symptoms, such as dribbling
of saliva, sleep problems, depression and sexual difficulties, which are often
disregarded. The work has strong patient involvement, and an Expert Patients Group
has now been established.
Diabetes:
Professor Stephanie Amiel is leading a large scale NIHR diabetes programme grant
aimed at improving control of type 2 diabetes, including through psychological
intervention. Type 2 diabetes affects a very large number of people worldwide, and
if poorly managed it can lead to a range of healthcare complications, including
blindness and amputation, coronary complications, renal failure, and muscle
wasting.
Liver:
Hepatitis C is an infectious disease which causes fibrosis and cirrhosis of the liver,
and may ultimately require transplantation. Worldwide around 170 million people
are chronically infected by this virus, which is very ‘unstable’ and therefore readily
develops resistance. This means that many of the drugs which have been developed
are only effective in a proportion of those infected. Dr Kosh Agarwal, of The Institute
of Liver Studies at King’s, is leading a programme to investigate the use of new drugs
which may be more effective and, equally important, more easily tolerated by
individuals suffering from this condition.
Critical Care:
Dr Phil Hopkins is leading participation in an international trial into a new treatment
for traumatic brain injury. Many brain injuries are caused as a result of pressure on
the brain as it tries to swell within the limited enclosure of the skull. The
Eurotherm3235 Trial is investigating whether this damage can be safely reduced by
putting the brain into a temporary state of hypothermia (which reduces the swelling)
in participants who might otherwise suffer severe brain damage or death.
Paediatric Liver:
The Paediatric Liver Transplant Centre at King’s is the largest in Europe, and has an
active research programme led by Professor Anil Dhawan. One of the current trials
is a dietary assessment of children with Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. This
disease is reaching epidemic proportions worldwide, affecting up to 10% of the

99

paediatric population. This study uses child-friendly technologies such as mobile
phone “apps” and personal interventions, such as portion control training and home
visits, to study whether increased awareness of nutrient intake and lifestyle changes
can lower the incidence of this condition.
2d: Goals Agreed with Commissioners: The Commissioning for Quality and
Innovation (CQUIN) framework
1.5% of King’s contract income in 2010/11 was conditional upon achieving quality
improvement and innovation goals agreed with NHS Southwark, NHS Lambeth,
Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham Alliance through the Commissioning for Quality
and Innovation (CQUIN) payment framework. This equates to a total of £5,878,500
in 2010/11.
Please see the table below for the detailed report of performance as measured by
our King’s CQUIN indicators in 2010/11. King’s has delivered significant quality
improvements under the CQUIN scheme as shown. King’s is on target to receive
96.6% of the total CQUIN income in 2010/11 (£5,677,325).
CQUIN Indicator
1. VTE Assessment
2. Improve responsiveness of personal
needs of patients
3. a) Develop a standardise cardiac audit
access KHP
3. b)Implement Enhanced Recovery
Programme:
• Hip
• Knee
• Colorectal
4. a) Improved quality of discharge
notification
4. b) Recording of Estimated Date of
Discharge
• Noon Discharge
• Weekend Discharge
4. c) Improved quality of discharge letter
for new outpatients
5. Implement Dementia pathway

6. Reduce Readmission Rates for Long
term conditions, heart failure, COPD,
Diabetes:
• 14 day readmission
• 28 day readmission
7. A&E attendance to emergency
admission conversion rate
8. Consultant to Consultant referrals

Target Q3 2010/11
25%
5% improvement

Performance
82.53%
5.3%

Audit of 50 cases

Completed

Average Length of Stay 7 days
Average Length of Stay 7 days
Average Length of Stay 7 days
25% sent electronically

6.27
6.23
7.00
28.1%

60%
21%
22%

60.2%
11%
20%

60% sent electronically

31.9%

Introduce dementia pathway

Action plan
complete
and on track
to deliver

3.88%
6.13%

3.83%
4.97%

20.2%

22.9%

19.9%

21.17%

100

9. Outpatient follow up to New ratio

2.01

2.39

10. Provide outpatient sub-speciality
data
11. Improve A&E discharge information

Audit 5 specialities

On tract to
deliver
92%

12. Increase smoking cessation referrals

25% of A&E discharge
information sent electronically
110 referrals

138 referrals

King’s is currently in discussion with the LSL Alliance to finalise the CQUIN scheme for
2011/12. The list below outlines some of the proposed indicators to date for
2011/12. Further details of the targets agreed with commissioners for the following
12 month period are available on request from our website.

1

2

3

4

5

Goal
VTE
Reduce avoidable
death, disability and
chronic ill health from
Venousthromboembolism
(VTE).
Patient Experience
Improve
responsiveness to
personal needs of
patients
Falls
Reducing the number
of Falls/ Pressure Sores
End of life care (EOLC)
Improving the coordination and
communication of care
for specialist palliative
and end of life care
patients.
Adoption of Enhanced
Recovery Programme
(ERP)

6

HIV testing

7

Maternity Services
To improve the quality
of maternity care by
ensuring that services
regularly meet best
practice standards and
women’s needs
throughout pregnancy,
birth and the days after
birth.

Proposed targets
Maintain 90% of all patients diagnosed with VTE being assessed.
Develop a system to manage patients that have received VTE
assessment also receive appropriate prophylaxis and communication
is improved to ensure they are given the appropriate information.

Focus on improving responsiveness to personal needs, targeting the
low performing areas and developing action plans to improve them.

Raising awareness of falls and pressure sore management, increased
focused training, developing plans to respond to patient needs and
reducing levels of falls and pressure sores.
Improving the co-ordination and communication of care for specialist
palliative and end of life care patients.
Advanced care planning through implementing the Amber Care
bundle.
Improve quality of care of patients that die in hospital.

Continue development of the Enhanced Recovery Programme (ERP) in
Colorectal and Hip and Knee services. Evaluate areas of Gynaecology
where ERP can be used overall goal of ERP’s to deliver a patient
pathway that minimises the time required to be spent in hospital.
Expand HIV testing in non GUM Acute Settings
Ensure 100% HIV testing recommendation rate of all new diagnoses of
Hep B, Hep C, TB and Lymphoma.
Focus:
•
•
•
•

Continuity of care
Women’s experience of midwifery care during birth
Women’s experience of antenatal care
Women’s experience of postnatal care in hospital
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8

Discharge Planning
(Not agreed as a CQUIN
yet)

Improvements of information being provided to patients and GP’s
following inpatient/outpatient/A&E visit to hospital. Focusing on the
quality and timeliness of this information.

2e: Statements from the Care Quality Commission (CQC):
King’s is required to register with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and its current
registration status is ongoing without any conditions as of 31 March 2011.
The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against King’s during
2010/11.
King’s has not participated in any periodic review by the Care Quality Commission. A
responsive review was undertaken in December 2010 and the CQC found that the
Trust was meeting all of the seven essential standards of quality and safety that were
inspected.
They recommended minor improvements in respect of Outcome 8; that people
should be cared for in a clean environment and protected from the risk of infection.
An action plan was submitted and progress is being closely monitored by the Trust
Quality and Governance Committee.
Some of these actions include:
•
•
•

•
•

•

Training to reinforce the use of indicator tape to mark cleaned equipment,
with ongoing weekly monitoring by Heads of Nursing during their “back to
the floor” Fridays.
Revised environmental auditing using the C4C* from end of February 2011,
and the indicator is now incorporated in the new Infection Prevention and
Control Scorecard.
Board “Go and See” programme relaunched in February 2011, to share
observations of patient experience to frontline teams including a focus on
perceived cleanliness, that is also reported monthly into the King’s Executive
Committee and quarterly reports to Board of Directors.
“Dump the junk” initiative launched as ongoing method for reducing clutter
in clinical areas and to enable better cleaning.
Change in practice introduced, and reinforced by Matrons, for staff to unzip
mattresses between patients to identify cover stains and ‘strike through’. This
is further reviewed in a continued series of three monthly mattress audits
reviewed by the Deputy Director of Nursing.
Detailed improvement plan developed included retraining of cleaning service
staff, as well as the introduction of a new performance management system,
as well as a monitoring and escalation process.
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2f Information on the quality of data
King’s submitted records during 2010/11 to the Secondary Users Service (SUS) for
inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) which are included in the latest
published data.
The percentage of records in the published data which included the patient's valid
NHS Number was: 91.3% for admitted patient care; 92.7% for outpatient care; and
72.5% for accident and emergency care.
The percentage of records in the published data which included the patient's valid
General Medical Practice Code was: 99.8% for admitted patient care; 100% for
outpatient care; and 100% for accident and emergency care.

2g Information Governance Toolkit attainment levels:
King’s Information Governance Assessment Report overall score for 2010/11 was
72% and was graded as pink (unsatisfactory) from the Information Governance
Toolkit (IGT) grading scheme.
We scored at least Level 2 for all key elements and this has been confirmed by the
SIRO and published on the IGT. The unsatisfactory rating was as a result of two nonkey elements12 being scored as Level 1.
It has been recognised that the change to evidence-based scoring rather than selfassessment may lower scoring nationally and Trusts will be expected to ensure that a
robust action plan is in place to ensure improvement in the 2011/12 score.
King’s will be taking the following actions to improve data quality:
• Corporate Records Management: Improving the management/monitoring of
Corporate Records Management across the organisation, ensuring staff are
aware of the standards expected and therefore comply with Trust Policy to
achieve Level 2.
• Information Security Assurance: Implement the proposed plan for
pseudonymisation and anonymisation processes.
• Ensure continuous improvement in audit and monitoring procedures to
achieve Level 3 compliance in all Key Standards.
• Implement recommendations and action plan agreed as an outcome of the
Audit Commission’s Payment by Results Report of 2010/11 (e.g. policy and
roadmap to standardise recording of EPR electronic notes).
• Improve NHS number usage across the organisation through an organisation
wide programme of training and communication linked to the overall Data
Quality Improvement programme.
12

Standard 8-601 relating to Corporate Records Management, Standard 8-324 Information Security
Assurance
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• Develop an improved programme of audit and review of data quality to
monitor the effectiveness of data collection and validation.
• Push for the Information Governance mandatory training to be completed
from the top down.
2h: Clinical coding error rate
King’s was subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit during the
reporting period by the Audit Commission. This was completed in September 2010
using coded episodes from April to June 2010, and 1,571 diagnosis codes were
audited. The overall error rates reported in the latest published audit for that period
for diagnoses and treatment coding (clinical coding) were 15.7%.
Of the 286 errors highlighted by the audit, 135 were due to non-coder error and
relate to incomplete clinical documentation. The remaining 151 errors related to
incomplete coding of diagnosis and procedure codes. A robust action plan has been
agreed jointly between King’s and commissioners to improve the standard and
coverage of electronic clinical documentation provided for the coding team. The
action plan is being monitored at bi-monthly quality meetings with our
commissioners, at the Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham Alliance.
It is important to note that the results should not be extrapolated further than the
actual sample audited. The audit covered 300 finished consultant episodes (FCE's), of
which 200 were selected from areas audited as a national theme or specialty in the
previous three years covering Trauma and Orthopaedics and Obstetrics. The
remaining 100 were selected as areas of interest by King’s and NHS Southwark,
broken down into Hepatobiliary and Pancreatic System Disorders (70 FCE's) and NonInterventional Acquired Cardiac Conditions (30 FCE's).
It was noted that King’s was commended for having no episodes classified as Unfit to
Code for the selected audit period.
SUMMARY
From the above statements, assurance can be offered to the public that King’s has in
2010/11:
- Performed to essential standards (e.g. meeting CQC registration), as well as
excelling beyond these to provide high quality care;
- Measured clinical processes and performance to inform and monitor
continuous quality improvement;
- Participated in national cross-cutting project and initiatives for quality
improvement e.g. strong and growing recruitment to clinical trials.
These statements are included in accordance to both Monitor’s NHS Foundation
Trust Annual Reporting Manual (31 March 2011) for the quality report, as well as the
Department of Health’s Quality Accounts Regulations (2011, 2010).
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Part 3. Review of Quality Performance and Other Information

3a An overview of the quality of care offered by King’s based on
performance in 2010/11 against selected national priorities and
national key standards
King’s has continued to engage extensively with staff, Governors, Foundation Trust
members and the Board of Directors in reviewing agreed quality indicators in
2010/11. As outlined in previous Quality Accounts, our performance on safety,
patient experience and clinical effectiveness has been monitored monthly as part of
the Trust, divisional and team scorecard reviews since June 2009. These metrics
have been further refined in 2010/11 in light of new national and local priorities, as
well as discussions with stakeholders. Since March 2010, eight new indicators13 are
incorporated into the performance scorecards, and four indicators14 were removed.
These changes were spread throughout May to October 2010, representing our
response to iterative evaluation of the indicators’ effectiveness.
Also, in the previous Quality Account for 2009/10, we have included the whole Trustwide scorecard in part three. However, responding to feedback and guidance on
making information more accessible and engaging to the public audience, we have
therefore decided to publish only the core set of key indicators across the three
quality domains below.
These are indicators that relate to the issues that were felt to be most important for
our stakeholders, when we have involved them in developing quality priorities. The
definitions and targets for these indicators are defined in line with national guidance
where available, and through local discussions with clinical teams and managers.

13

ED conversion rate, MRSA Screening – Emergency, Total Hospital Acquired Alert Organisms (YTD), 28 Day
Cancelled Operation Rule, Single Sex Accommodation, Voluntary Turnover Rate, Mandatory and Statutory
Training and Induction
14
Time from admission to treatment for fractured neck of femur (#NOF) <48hours, Number of births in William
Gilliatt, Calls answered, and Equality and Diversity Training
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PATIENT SAFETY
Infection control - MRSA bacteraemia
infection rates
2009/10: 19 post-48h incidents (26
overall incidents, YTD March 2010)
2010/11: 16 post-48h incidents (YTD
March 2011)
We have reduced our MRSA
bacteraemia levels by 16%.
(Comparison using the new measure of post48h incidents)

Infection control - C. Difficile
infection rates
2009/10: 135 cases (YTD March 2010)
2010/11: 106 cases (YTD March 2011)
We have reduced our C Diff. levels by
21%
VTE risk assessment compliance rates
End 2010/11: 93.5% (March 2011)

106

Mar-11

Feb-11

Jan-11

Dec-10

Nov-10

Oct-10

Sep-10

Aug-10

Jul-10

Jun-10

*NB. This measure was introduced in 2010,
and no historical data is available

May-10

100%
95%
90%
85%
80%
75%
70%
65%
60%

Apr-10

Evidently, since our interventions in
2010, we have steadily increased our
compliance rate for the VTE risk
assessment of adult inpatients. We
have now exceeded the national
target of 90% for two months.

VTE Compliance

CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS
Risk Adjusted Mortality
2009/10 King’s RAMI (YTD) = 90
2010/11 King’s RAMI (YTD) = 61
Peer average = 75

CHKS Risk-Adjusted Mortality Index (RAMI) YTD
April 2009 - March 2011
120
110
100
90
80

As demonstrated in the chart, our
mortality rate has significantly
improved. RAMI=61 indicates that
mortality rates are 39% better than
expected.
Non-admitted patients treated
within 18 weeks

70
60
50

RAMI 2010-11

Expected

RTT Non-Admitted Pathways %
100
95

2010/11 King’s average = 97%

90

As demonstrated we have
consistently performed above our
target of 95%
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May-09
Jun-09
Jul-09
Aug-09
Sep-09
Oct-09
Nov-09
Dec-09
Jan-10
Feb-10
Mar-10
Apr-10
May-10
Jun-10
Jul-10
Aug-10
Sep-10
Oct-10
Nov-10
Dec-10
Jan-11
Feb-11
Mar-11
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Emergency Care Performance

Emergency Care Performance %
100

2010/11 King’s=97% (March 2011)
95

We have consistently performed
above the target of 95%.

90
85

Apr-09
May-09
Jun-09
Jul-09
Aug-09
Sep-09
Oct-09
Nov-09
Dec-09
Jan-10
Feb-10
Mar-10
Apr-10
May-10
Jun-10
Jul-10
Aug-10
Sep-10
Oct-10
Nov-10
Dec-10
Jan-11
Feb-11
Mar-11

80
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PATIENT EXPERIENCE
How are we doing? Overall

HRWD Overall %
100

Trust score=85 (March 2011)
95
90
85
80
Apr-09
May-09
Jun-09
Jul-09
Aug-09
Sep-09
Oct-09
Nov-09
Dec-09
Jan-10
Feb-10
Mar-10
Apr-10
May-10
Jun-10
Jul-10
Aug-10
Sep-10
Oct-10
Nov-10
Dec-10
Jan-11
Feb-11
Mar-11

Overall, there has not been significant
improvement in HRWD scores, with
results sustained at a similar level
throughout 2010/11. Initiatives to
improve patient experience can be
found in our quality priorities 2011/12.
How are we doing? Care Perceptions

HRWD Care Perception %
100

Trust score=86 (March 2011)
95

Care perception has deteriorated
marginally from 2009/10 results, but
largely sustained at the same level
throughout 2010/11.

90
85

Apr-09
May-09
Jun-09
Jul-09
Aug-09
Sep-09
Oct-09
Nov-09
Dec-09
Jan-10
Feb-10
Mar-10
Apr-10
May-10
Jun-10
Jul-10
Aug-10
Sep-10
Oct-10
Nov-10
Dec-10
Jan-11
Feb-11
Mar-11

80

How are we doing? Patient
Engagement
Trust score=86 (March 2011)

HRWD Patient Engagement %
100
95
90
85
80
Apr-09
May-09
Jun-09
Jul-09
Aug-09
Sep-09
Oct-09
Nov-09
Dec-09
Jan-10
Feb-10
Mar-10
Apr-10
May-10
Jun-10
Jul-10
Aug-10
Sep-10
Oct-10
Nov-10
Dec-10
Jan-11
Feb-11
Mar-11

Patient engagement improved in the
last quarter of 2009/10, and sustained
to the same levels throughout
2010/11.
How are we doing? Environment

HRWD Environment %
85

Trust score=75 (March 2011)
80

Apr-09
May-09
Jun-09
Jul-09
Aug-09
Sep-09
Oct-09
Nov-09
Dec-09
Jan-10
Feb-10
Mar-10
Apr-10
May-10
Jun-10
Jul-10
Aug-10
Sep-10
Oct-10
Nov-10
Dec-10
Jan-11
Feb-11
Mar-11

Patient feedback indicates the hospital
75
environment is much less satisfactory
70
than the other two components. We
65
have therefore set a priority for quality
improvement in relation to cleanliness
of the environment.
With timely and accurate information provided to divisional teams through the use
of scorecards, quality performance is reviewed on a monthly basis across the Trust.
Both the Medical Director and the Director of Nursing and Midwifery regularly
attend monthly divisional Performance meetings chaired by the Director of
Operations to provide constructive challenge and appropriate support on quality
issues.
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Performance against key national priorities
King’s has performed well against the key national priorities from the Department of
Health’s Operating Framework. The below represents our performance again the
key indicators and thresholds set out in Appendix B of the Compliance Framework.
We have been unable to achieve 100% MRSA screening for all elective inpatients and
also our MRSA bloodstream infection rates exceeded the threshold of 9. These
represent the “red” underperforming areas in the scorecard below. Actions to
improve these measures are discussed in more detail within the section of 2011/12
priorities for quality improvement.
Monitor Scorecard

Mar-11

Enclosure 2
Metric
Acute targets - National requirements
Clostridium difficile year on year reduction
MRSA - maintaining the annual number of MRSA
bloodstream infections
* three quarters' successive failure of this national
target will lead to escalation of the score for Q4

Units

Weighting

Threshold

YTD Target

Qtr 1

Qtr 2

Qtr 3

Qtr 4

Number

1.0

162

162

30
39

24
33

27
41

25
49

Number

1.0

9

9

4

7

3

6

2

1

31 day wait for second or subsequent treatment

*

2
0

1.0

Surgery

%

94

N/A

100

100

100

97

Anti cancer drug treatments

%

98

N/A

100

100

100

100

94

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

98

Radiotherapy (from 1 Jan 2011)
62 day wait for first treatment

%

1.0

from urgent GP referral to treatment: all

%

85

N/A

91

92

91

88

consultant screening service referral: all

%

90

N/A

100

100

93

100

96

N/A

100

100

100

98

Acute targets - minimum Standards
cancers

%

Two week wait from referral to date seen:

0.5
0.5

all cancers

%

93

N/A

95

96

95

96

for symptomatic breast patients (cancer not
initially suspected)

%

93

N/A

99

100

98

97

Screening all elective inpatients for MRSA

%

0.5

100

N/A

98.9

99.9

99.9

99.98

Screening all non-elective inpatients for MRSA

%

0.5

100

N/A

#####

#N/A
N/A

#N/A

92.9

Maximum waiting time of 4 hours in ED from
arrival to admission, transfer or discharge

%

0.5

95

N/A

98

98

97

97

Self-certification against compliance with
requirements regarding access to healthcare for
people with a learning disability

%

0.5

N/A

N/A

N/A

Achieve
d

Achieve
d

Achieve
d

0.5

1.5

1.5

4.0

Total Score
For admitted patients, maximum time of 18 weeks from
point of referral to treatment

%

1.0

90

N/A

95

For non-admitted patients, maximum time of 18 weeks
from point of referral to treatment

%

1.0

95

N/A

97
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Quality and Governance Frameworks
It is also important to note that during 2010/11, King’s has revised the Board
Governance structure that was in place since 2004, and that was last reviewed in
2007. Although the distributed governance model and existing structures have
served King’s well to drive improved performance, a number of significant changes
both within the Trust and in the external regulatory and quality environment made it
a timely point to review arrangements. The aim of the revision was to ensure the
Board, its committees and the structures which report into them remain relevant
and effective, and facilitate both effective management of the organisation, and
Board assurance.
Drawing upon the wealth of best practice guidance published in recent years, key
changes were approved by the Board of Directors in May 2010. These included
establishing a combined Finance and Performance Committee, establishing a new
Strategy Committee and creating a new Quality and Governance Committee. The
establishment of the Quality and Governance Committee is supported by new
subcommittees that will focus on the key dimensions of quality: patient safety,
patient outcomes and patient experience. It will also review and provide assurance
on: organisational safety, information governance and compliance with a range of
external regulatory bodies.
Quality & Governance
Committee

Information Governance
Steering Group

Patient
Outcomes
Committee

Patient
Experience
Committee

Subcommittees:
Public Health Committee
Clinical Effectiveness Committee
Evidence-Based Practice Committee
Mortality Monitoring Committee
Organ Donation Committee

Subcommittees:
Healthcare for all Group
Maternity Services Liaison Committee
Older Peoples Committee
End of Life Care Group
Links to Governor
- Patient Experience &
Safety Committee
- Membership Committee

Patient
Safety
Committee

Subcommittees:
Serious Incident Committee
Deteriorating Patients Group
Infection Control Committee
Medicines Management Committee
Resuscitation Committee
Transfusion Committee
New Clinical Procedures Committee
Falls Strategy Group
Nutrition Group

Organisational
Safety
Committee

Subcommittees:
Environment Committee
Safer Hospital Panel
Health and Safety Committee
Ops Health and Safety Committee
BBV Committee
Records Management Committee
Emergency Preparedness &
Business Continuity
Safeguarding Committee

By building upon the strengths of our governance structures, we are able now to
strengthen the focus on quality and deliver greater Board Assurance.
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Appendix 1: Statements from Commissioning Primary Care Trusts,
Overview and Scrutiny Committees, and Local Involvement Networks

In accordance with the timeframes stipulated in the Regulations, we shared our draft
Quality Accounts formally with our key external stakeholder groups on 13 April 2011
to seek their review and comments in response. The key external stakeholder groups
included:
•
•
•
•
•

NHS South East London, NHS Southwark, and NHS Lambeth who are our
commissioning Primary Care Trusts
LINk Southwark
LINk Lambeth
Southwark Council’s Health and Adult Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee
Lambeth Council’s Health and Adult Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee

We received three statements in response to their review of the Quality Account,
and have now included these as listed:
•
•
•
•

Statement from NHS South East London (representing NHS Lambeth, NHS
Southwark, and NHS SE London)
Statement from LINk Southwark
Statement from Lambeth LINk
Statement from Lambeth Council’s Health and Adult Services Scrutiny SubCommittee
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Statement from NHS SE London:
Response to the draft KCH FT 2010/11 Quality Account
The draft King’s College Hospital (KCH) Quality Report 2010/11 was reviewed by a
number of local commissioning stakeholders, including reps from NHS Lambeth, NHS
Southwark and NHS SE London. The coordination of feedback has been undertaken
by NHS SE London, which welcomes the opportunity to respond to this document.
Local commissioning organisations have excellent relationships with KCHFT and are
committed to working closely to ensure the ongoing delivery of high quality services.
NHS SE London has processes for regularly reviewing quality issues with KCH FT, via
regular Clinical Review Meetings (KCH ‘Quality’ meetings), as well as a number of
other quality review mechanisms.

NHS SE London commends KCHFT on a well written draft document that is easy to
follow in plain language and sets out clearly the Trust’s achievements last year and
plans for next year NHS SE London believes the content of this draft document is
accurate. The document clearly sets out how the Trust prioritised its key delivery
areas and this includes good stakeholder engagements.
The analysis of the areas in which the Trust did not achieve its targets last year is
helpful and gives good assurance that there are clear action plans in place.
Trust plans for 11/12 include areas of concern to commissioners including MRSA
bacteraemia and we would strongly support this plan.

Dr Jane Fryer
Medical Director
NHS SE London
11 May 2011
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Statement from LINk Southwark:
Response to the King’s College Hospital Quality Account
1. Introduction
Firstly we would like to thank the Trust for inviting and involving our LINk
representatives in contributing to setting the Quality Priorities for 2011/12.
Before commenting on the content of the QA, we would like to note the visual charts
and aids used in displaying previous/current priorities and the plan of action as very
effective to LINk members in grasping key points, especially for those who may not
be accustomed to reading reports. In addition, a QA report of 73 pages can decrease
the accessibility of the QA to local residents. We recommend that in future, a
summary of the QA be circulated to increase the readership accessibility for
Southwark residents.
2. Priorities for 2011/12
The LINk believes the information contained within the QA report to be accurate and
agrees and welcomes the incoming priorities for the Trust in 2011/12.
With specific reference to Priority 5: Improving Diabetes, we note that that you will
be developing a framework in response to meeting the NICE Quality Standards for
Adults with Diabetes. However, as there are no Quality Standards for Diabetes with
young children, we would welcome a developing or similar framework for children
with diabetes to be developed alongside the adult framework.
We applaud your pre-emptive initiative to implement routine glucose level testing
for all patients’ to try to detect diabetes earlier. However, there needs to be further
clarification when the routine testing will take place. i.e. during the initial
assessment/or where the VTE assessment will also takes place.
We note the volunteer programme is a positive initiative which can only increase
emotional support for patient experience and welcome the focus on discharge
planning which has been a continual disjointed patient experience. However we
would like to highlight that improving the consistency and continuity of care for
individual patients within a ward or department throughout their stay in hospital is
also a crucial aspect for positive inpatient experience. We would welcome the KCH
in looking across all wards for inpatient experience, as well as addressing the varying
quality of care over time during different stages of a patients stay. By this we mean,
variations in the quality of nursing care which may be from NHS and agency staff, as
well as lack of continuity of care as a result of inadequate communication between
doctors and nursing staff.
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3. Previous priorities 2010-2011
Progress of previous targets
We appreciate the continuing efforts of KCH and its staff and senior management in
working together to improve patient care and innovation in research. While we
cannot note all KCHs efforts, we would like to draw attention to a few in particular:
(2010-2011) Priority 3: improving patient experience by using HRWD results.
As the LINk had previously received data from Southwark residents regarding the
lack of care and planning upon discharge that some of their friends & family
members had received, we endorse KCH’s focus and work on this issue.
We acknowledge KCH’s continued drive for improvement in patient experience by
setting internal targets, in addition to national targets.

LINk Southwark
12 May 2011
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Statement from Lambeth LINk:
Response to King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality
Report for 2010/2011
We welcome the invitation to response to King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust’s Quality report for 2010/2011.
The KCH Quality Account (QA) was the first we received, in April 2011. We note and
welcome the amount of information contained in the QA but have some difficulty in
comprehending the relative effectiveness of KCH in 2010/2011. To explain what we
mean we mentioned maternity at a meeting held on 25th March 2011 (the only one
to which we were invited by KCH).
Maternity was highlighted in 2008/9 (p.7) but was not a priority later. This makes it
difficult to assess a great teaching hospital which includes a maternity service.
“Priorities” (they may mean objectives) seem to have increased from four (2009/10)
to six (2010/11) to seven (2011/12) but the simple question: “how good is KCH’s
maternity service?” is difficult to answer. Just as KCH piloted QAs, some of our
members participated in focus groups and remember the comparisons made with
company financial accounts. A company which omitted one or more of its main
services from its accounts would arouse suspicion.
We did not, of course, select this example entirely at random. It is well known that
the UK’s services is not the best in Europe or the best US States, but this could not be
learnt from this QA, nor could any other external (to the UK) comparison. Yet a great
teaching hospital cannot rest content with merely meeting a national target or level
when that is known to be relatively low. We expect its QA to regard national
averages as minimum standards, to show the hospital’s objectives for the new year
and to show the basic facts of the hospital’s services in the most recent year for
which the facts are available.

Wai Ha Lam
Community Engagement Officer
Lambeth LINk
16 May 2011
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Statement from Lambeth Council’s Health and Adult Services Scrutiny
Sub-Committee:
Response to the KCH Quality Account 2010/11

Thank you for inviting Lambeth Council’s Health and Adult Services Scrutiny Sub
Committee to provide a statement on the King’s College Hospital Quality Account
2010/11. Unfortunately the timeline for submission of comments has meant that the
committee has not been able to formally consider the QA. However the committee
was represented at one of the stakeholder events and welcomed the opportunity to
participate in discussions and appreciates the effort the Trust has made to engage on
the development of the QA.
As a general point the committee would wish to emphasise the importance of early
and on going public engagement if scrutiny and other stakeholders are to have real
influence about service priorities and the design and delivery of services.

Elaine Carter
Lead Scrutiny Officer, Scrutiny Team
London Borough of Lambeth
16 May 2011
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Appendix 2: Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of the
Quality Accounts
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health
Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for each
financial year.
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS Foundation Trust Boards on the form and
content of annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements)
and on the arrangements that Foundation Trust Boards should put in place to
support the data quality for the preparation of the quality report.
In preparing the quality report, Directors are required to take steps to satisfy
themselves that:
•

The content of the quality report meets the requirements set out in the NHS
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2010-11;

•

The content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and
external sources of information including:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Board minutes and papers for the period April 2010 to June 2011;
Papers relating to quality reported to the Board over the period April
2010 to June 2011;
Feedback from the commissioners dated 11/05/2011;
Feedback from Governors at their meeting of 10/05/2011;
Feedback from LINks and Council’s Health and Adult Services Scrutiny
Sub-Committees dated 12/05/2011 and 16/05/2011.
The Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local
Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009;
The 2010 national patient survey published by Care Quality Commission
in April 2011;
The 2010 national staff survey published by Care Quality Commission in
March 2011;
The Head of Internal Audit's annual opinion over the Trust’s control
environment CQC quality and risk profiles published over the period April
2010 to June 2011.

•

The Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS Foundation Trust’s
performance over the period covered;

•

The performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and
accurate;

•

There are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the
measures of performance included in the Quality Report, and these controls
are subject to review to confirm that they are working effectively in practice;
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•

The data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality
Report is robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards
and prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and
the Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual
reporting guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations,
published at www.monitornhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) as well as
the standards to support data quality for the preparation of the Quality
Report (available at www.monitornhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual).

The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied
with the
above requirements in preparing the Quality Report.
By order of the Board
NB: sign and date in any colour ink except black

.....02 June 2011.........Date.............................................................Chairman

......02 June 2011..........Date............................................................Chief Executive
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Who to contact to clarify details of this report:
Rita Chakraborty
Assistant Board Secretary
Corporate Affairs
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Ground Floor, Unit 2,
KCH Business Park
Coldharbour Lane, London SE5 9NY
Telephone: 020 3299 4939
Email: rita.chakraborty@nhs.net
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PATIENT CARE
How King’s is using its Foundation Trust status to develop its
services and improve patient care
We are continuing to develop and enhance the involvement of our
Foundation Trust members and Governors in helping us to improve the
experience of patients at King’s.
Quality is at the top of the policy agenda and over the last year, we have
invited our Governors to become involved, alongside staff, in a range of
quality initiatives.
At the start of 2011, the Patient and Public Involvement team assumed
responsibility for Foundation Trust membership, including member
involvement. Together, members and Governors have participated in new
and continuing initiatives to improve services at the hospital and for the
local community. These include:
Quality Ward Rounds: Governors continue to participate in ‘Quality
Ward Rounds’ which bring together a number of nursing audits focussed
on patient safety, clinical effectiveness and the patient experience.
Each ward carries out the monitoring rounds on a regular basis, and
include discussion with patients about their experience on the ward
covering issues such as pain management, involvement in care,
information and staff attitude. A number of our Governors have been
accompanying members of the senior nursing team on the ward rounds
and have provided valuable – and independent - feedback. The results
are shared with ward teams so that they can take actions to make
improvements where appropriate. The Governors’ comments are a
valuable part of this feedback, and also inform their work on the
Governors’ Patient Experience and Safety Committee.
Directors’ ‘Go & See’ Visits: Governors are invited to accompany senior
Trust staff, including Trust directors, on a programme of ‘Go & See’ visits
to wards and outpatient areas. The ‘Go & See’ programme was
introduced in August 2009. The visits are not designed to be formal
audits but are an opportunity for senior staff to listen to our front line
staff, patients and relatives to see how we can support staff to further
improve quality of care in an efficient way. The ‘Go & See’ visit is for
setting the right behaviour and creating visible leadership. During each
visit staff will look at issues such as the general atmosphere on the ward,
the environment and hygiene. Staff also talk to patients about their
experiences, what works well and what could be improved. The results of
‘Go & See’ visits are sent to the Divisional General Manager, Head of
Nursing and Clinical Director and have been discussed at Board of
Directors’ seminars. In order to communicate the commitment to staff and
promote learning across wards, all results are also posted on the Trust’s
intranet site.

120

Dignity Visits: In February 2010 Governors and Directors also
participated in a series of ward visits during Dignity Month. Dignity Ward
visits specifically focus on issues of dignity and privacy for patients and
their families in terms of both environment and care. This participation
has provided encouragement to staff as well as valuable evaluation and
feedback.
Governor Working Groups and Committees: Governors have also
continued to hold their own working groups and committees, and
increased efforts to include staff among the memberships of the Patient
Experience and Safety, Membership, Strategy and Transport Groups.
The Membership Committee oversees our member involvement
programme and the Patient Experience and Safety Committee is a key
forum for involving Governors in improving the patient experience. Part
of its programme of work this year has been to co-ordinate the Governors’
commentary for the Care Quality Commission. To inform this work,
Governors used their knowledge and experience gained on the Quality
Ward Rounds, Dignity Ward visits, nursing audits and observations.
Involving Members in improving King’s Patient Food Service
Food and drink are a vital part of patient care in hospital. Without proper
nutrition and hydration, treatment and rehabilitation for patients is less
effective. King’s is working hard to improve the patient food service, and
in 2010 began to involve some of our members and Governors in this
work. As part of this, we have developed a daily food audit, the “Patient
Food Service Quality Round (PFSQR)” which takes place on a different
ward each day. The PFSQR is a mixture of observations and patient
interviews. Observations include things such as seeing whether the patient
has the menu, whether they have a glass of water beside their bed,
whether “nil by mouth” signs are appropriately displayed and whether the
meal starts on time. The other part of the audit consists of questions
directly to patients about their experience of the food service. The driver
behind this was to enable members and Governors to provide an
independent and lay view of the food service the hospital provides, as
they can often see things that staff might have become blind to. A key
role for our members and Governors is to carry out the patient interviews.
It is often the case that patients will open up more to someone who is not
a member of staff, and that’s why we wanted lay people to do the
interviews.
At the start of 2010, we recruited members and Governors to take part in
this work. They attended an induction and training session to find out
more about the project, and also to receive some training in interview
skills. All those involved had to undergo CRB and Occupational Health
Checks. As a first step, they then shadowed members of staff or other
Governors on the food audits to understand what is involved. They also
observed others carrying out the interviews to get some insight into how
they are conducted, with a view to picking up a few tips. The lay
members are now playing a full role in the rounds and have taken on the
patient interviews. Feedback to date shows that having an independent
view really does make a difference and the involvement of our members

121

has highlighted a number of issues for us which will help us to improve
the service. We are hoping to carry on this programme of work and will
recruit and train new members later this year.
Lambeth College Partnership
We are now in our fourth year of working in partnership with Lambeth
College, one of our major local further education colleges. Many students
already work as volunteers at the Trust, and we expect to increase the
number of student volunteers when we launch a major new volunteering
programme later in 2011. This year, we have launched a new King’s
Challenge project which is part of Lambeth’s London Programme. The
London Programme is an exciting new initiative designed to give young
people the opportunity to demonstrate their worth to future employees.
The College has links with many local employers where students
participate in employability challenges. These provide evidence of
students’ ability to translate college based learning into practical, work
based performance.
Our latest challenge “Food glorious food!” is involving health and social
care students from the college in our food audit programmes. This
involves the students:
• Receiving training and induction on the food audits, interviewing skills
and information on how to analyse and write up qualitative patient
feedback
• Shadowing staff and more experienced Foundation Trust members as
they conduct the observations and interviews on the wards
• Taking part in 3 food rounds and conduct the patient interview section
of the audits
• Writing up their findings
• Presenting their results to a panel of judges from King’s, Lambeth
College and King’s Patient Safety and Service Quality Research Centre
(PSSQC)
This challenge commenced in March 2011 and is due to be completed in
the early summer of 2011.
• The PSSQC are conducting a research project on involving Foundation
Trust members and Governors in patient safety. They are using the
involvement of members in the food audits as part of their research.
The Charter School
Pupils from the Charter School in Southwark are continuing to volunteer
for the Friends of King’s and are involved in a variety of activities. This
year, we have begun discussions to increase the involvement of pupils in
the work of King’s. Initially, Year 10 students are helping us to promote
our new outpatient survey. They are spending time in outpatient clinics,
encouraging patients to take part in the survey and supporting them to
complete it e.g. helping them use the touch screen kiosk to complete the
survey electronically). Pupils will also benefit from a wider range of
volunteering opportunities once King’s launches its new volunteering
programme later in 2011.
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Annual Public Meeting
In September, members of the public were invited to attend the Trust’s
Annual Public Meeting. The meeting was our most successful yet – over
200 people came along to find out about King’s work over the past year
and about developments in our services, our future plans and issues
affecting healthcare in London.
As part of the event, guests were given the chance to get a number of
health checks including lung function tests, blood glucose tests and blood
pressure checks – all of which had been very popular.
Guests also took part in discussions about the key health issues affecting
the local community. Consultants from the hospital held sessions on three
separate topics - your eyes; your heart and public health. Guests attended
the session of their choice.
South London Line Campaign
In 2008/09 King’s campaigned with local stakeholders to save the South
London Line which runs between Victoria and London Bridge stations, and
is a key transport link for both King’s patients and staff. In response to
this, Transport for London carried out a review of the service, the results
of which were clear on the need to fill gaps in train services to Victoria
after the SLL is discontinued but that the loss of a direct link to London
Bridge would be mitigated by East London Line Phase 2. King's Governors
continue to meet with Network Rail and TfL to identify ways in which
future rail franchises can secure key train services for Denmark Hill.
Denmark Hill Station
Access to the hospital and public transport in the local community are
important issues for us, and a recent priority has been Denmark Hill
Station and the train services that bring thousands of patients, staff and
visitors to the hospital each day.
For a few years now we have run a campaign with our Governors,
Members and local elected representatives to make Denmark Hill an
accessible station. We are pleased to report that Network Rail plans to
invest millions in the station over the next year or so. Lifts will be installed
from each platform enabling disabled access, new toilets will be fitted and
the ticketing facilities will be re-vamped. Plans were approved by
Southwark Council in 2010.
Involvement going forward
Plans for the coming year include:
•

•
•

Involving members in a number of “In Your Shoes” events focused on
understanding what a quality service means to patients and helping us
to improve the experience of our patients as a result. These are
initially scheduled for May 2011
Further work in local schools, both to recruit younger members and
get them more involved in what we do
Increasing volunteering amongst the membership
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•
•

Investigating the potential for using social networking sites to both
recruit and engage the membership
A large information and engagement programme to raise awareness of
Governor elections to be held in the summer of 2011

Service improvements following staff or patient surveys or
comments and Care Quality Commission reports
In December 2010, the Care Quality Commission (CQC) visited the Trust
as part of a responsive review. During the visit the inspectors focussed on
safeguarding, maternity, discharge and cleanliness and found that the
Trust was meeting the related essential standards of quality. To maintain
this, it was recommended that some improvements should be made to the
Trust’s cleanliness and infection control regime. Some examples of the
improvements the Trust has made include:
• Launched a revised environmental audit based on the National
Cleaning Standards 49 elements which focuses on both the
environment and patient equipment cleaning
• The Board ‘Go and See’ programme has been re-launched and
focuses on the experience of patients and visitors
• A Dump the Junk initiative was launched as an ongoing method for
reducing clutter in clinical errors
• Mattress covers are unzipped between patients to check the
mattress and the process will continue to be subject to a 3 monthly
audit.
• The cleaning provider has undertaken re-training of all their staff
involved in the delivery of cleaning services and deep cleaning of all
the in-patient areas.
How Are We Doing? (HRWD)
The Trust has continued to develop its How Are We Doing? (HRWD)
patient feedback programme. As a result of valuable patient feedback,
King’s embarked upon a new First Choice transformation programme in
July 2010 which focuses on four key areas to improve patient experience.
This has been one of the Quality Priorities for this year and will continue to
be a priority next year. More information is in the Quality Account on page
84.
The Patient Experience Report continues to provide integrated monthly
data on complaints, contacts with PALS (Patient Advice and Liaison
Service) and patient comments. The report is included as part of monthly
feedback to the Board of Directors.
National Inpatient Survey 2010
The annual national survey was sent to a random sample of 850 adult
inpatients. The results indicate a significant improvement from last year’s
survey, particularly in the areas of ‘Leaving Hospital’ and ‘Care and
Treatment’. The Trust was ranked 4th when compared to London peer
Trusts. As a result of the survey an action plan will be developed and
progress monitored by the Patient Experience Committee. Improvement
work will also continue through a number of work streams, ward initiatives
and the volunteers’ scheme aimed at improving patient experience. In
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addition, a further 6 wards will be subjected to CQUIN monitoring to
ensure that improvements are delivered widely across the Trust.
Responding to complaints
The Trust received 23% fewer complaints in 2010-11 compared to the
previous year, recording the lowest number of complaints recorded in
recent years at 570. Further improvements are still required but this
positively reflects the Trust’s ambition to provide a responsive front line
service to resolving concerns and provide a better experience overall for
those who complain. In contrast, PALS activity for the year reflects the
increase in the usage of this service for listening to, and responding
immediately to resolve problems and concerns. This is at the heart of the
Health Service Ombudsman’s Principles in complaint handling.
The profile of patient complaints has remained consistent with previous
years, in that half of all complaints relate to some aspect of clinical
treatment. Alongside this are concerns about staff attitude and
behaviour, and problems with poor or miscommunication between staff
and patients. Approximately 43% of complaints raised an issue of an
unsatisfactory experience which were considered to be well founded. All
complaints and concerns have provided helpful feedback and have given
the Trust an opportunity to reflect on its services and the standard of care
we provide.
To address concerns raised by patients and relatives we have looked at
ways we can improve the standard of care provided. As a result, a
number of staff support and training sessions for nursing staff from
various specialities have taken place. These include:
• Mouth care protocols
• Medication administration practices
• Weighing all patients within 24 hours of admission and reweighing
weekly
• Refresher training for Senior Ward Sisters with nurse consultant in
diabetes
• Including complaints as case studies for improvement and learning
in ward team meetings
Patient focused information has been reviewed to provide current or
enhanced information, for example any patient attending the catheter
laboratory will now be informed in advance that, as a teaching hospital,
we may approach patients to participate in clinical trials.
We have worked closely with one patient and his wife who came to talk to
nursing staff on a neurosurgical ward to share their experience on the
ward in 2009. In addition the patient’s wife has contributed to improving
patient information for Menigioma patients and this work is ongoing.
The process for reviewing all inpatient neurological CT scans within 24
hours has been reviewed to ensure we are reporting in a timely way, and
a clear escalation process for any unreported after this period is now
followed.
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Details of any consultations completed in the previous year and
forthcoming consultations
Emergency Department Re-development
Following the joint public consultation between Southwark and Lambeth
PCTs and King’s and SLaM on the re-development of King’s ED, revised
plans were signed off by all four organisations in 2009. These revised
plans increase the footprint of our existing ED incorporating: a designated
space for mental health patients; a new walk-in entrance; an expanded
resuscitation area (Resus); an expanded clinical decision unit (CDU) and
an urgent care facility, as well as a new Acute Assessment Unit for
medical patients.
The works will be carried out in three phases and began in spring 2011.
The first phase will focus on the CDU, installing the new walk-in entrance
and the mental health suite. Phase two will see a refit and expansion of
Resuscitation. The third and final phase will focus on the urgent care
facility. Works should be completed in autumn 2011.
Users and key stakeholders have been involved in each stage of the
project which is overseen by a Project Board which includes lay
representation, members from the LINks and mental health service users.
Service Improvement
In the current climate of change within the NHS, King’s is mindful of the
need to engage and consult with patients, LINks and Overview and
Scrutiny Committees (OSCs) to ensure that any changes in services are
fully informed by patients, the public and key stakeholders. We continue
to have regular contact with local OSCs and have recently involved LINks
and OSCs in the development of our Quality Account.
Patient Information
This year, we carried out a comprehensive audit of our patient information
- over 500 leaflets and brochures. The aim was to ensure information was
relevant, up to date and compliant, and that it was presented in a
consistent style and format, in language that is clear and easily
understandable.
New processes were established to ensure individual clinical services take
responsibility for updating their literature, and a new automated archiving
system was established. We now offer all patient information leaflets in
Braille and large print on request.
We are committed to providing a website that is accessible to the widest
possible audience, regardless of technology or ability, including disabled
people, people with visual impairments and those with motor deficiencies
and cognitive disabilities.
As part of a complete redesign of the site, all online information relevant
to patients was reviewed, updated and is now presented in a more patient
friendly format and language. We also offer a translation tool to assist
patients where English is not their first language. Patients, staff and
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visitors have been actively engaged in the development of the new Trust
website, which was launched in May 2011.
Our aim is to conform to the World Wide Web Consortium (W3C) Web
Content Accessibility Guidelines 2.0 at the AA standard, making our
website more user friendly for everyone.
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STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS
KHP
During 2010/11 our Academic Health Sciences Centre, King’s Health Partners, has
become firmly established - a full KHP Executive Team is now in post; all 21 Clinical
Academic Groups (CAGs) have leaders appointed and are now developing their
leadership structures and strategic priorities. Successes for KHP include the award of
£1m to a South London Health Innovation and Education Cluster (HIEC), the
development of plans to consolidate both vascular surgery and bone marrow
transplant (BMT) services across the two acute Trusts, and the completion of a
mapping project to determine the extent of mental health service provision embedded
within acute health services.
Integrated Care Pilot
Supported by NHS London and the GST Charity, KHP is leading an ambitious
programme to develop integrated care pathways for local residents, covering mental
and physical health, social care and the voluntary sector. Initial focus will be on frail
older people, and people with long term conditions, with the intention of keeping
people healthy and reducing hospital admissions. Patients and carers will have a key
role in the design of new care pathways.
Care closer to home
King’s continues to work with primary care (PCTs and GP commissioning groups) to
redesign care pathways that facilitate the shift of care closer to home in a primary
care, community setting or at home where possible. Working closely with clinicians as
well as commissioners we have identified patient groups who are able to receive their
care safely and appropriately in alternative settings, accessing specialist opinion
where necessary.
King’s continues to evaluate new service models to ensure that they are both high
quality and affordable.
Community services integration
Throughout 2010/11 Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust (GST) has focused
on completing the due diligence process required to integrate Lambeth and Southwark
community services, on behalf of KHP. In parallel, work has also been ongoing to
develop community services so that they are able to underpin the movement of care
closer to home.
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NHS FOUNDATION TRUST CODE OF GOVERNANCE
The Trust became an NHS Foundation Trust on 1 December 2006 under the Health
and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003, as superseded by the
National Health Service Act 2006. This report covers the period 01 April 2010 – 31
March 2011.
The Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for the management and governance of the
Trust. It provides leadership within a framework of prudent and effective controls that
enables risk to be assessed and managed. It is responsible for ensuring compliance
with the terms of authorisation, including the constitution, with mandatory guidance
issued by Monitor, and with relevant statutory requirements and contractual
obligations. Made up of the Chair, six non-executive directors and six executive
directors, it also has three other directors who regularly attend meetings in an
advisory capacity.
All Trust directors have joint responsibility for decisions. The executive directors
manage the day-to-day running of the Trust, while the Chair and non-executive
directors provide operational and Board level experience gained from other public and
private sector bodies. Among their skills are accountancy, audit, education,
management consultancy, law, engineering and medicine.
The full-time executive directors have extensive experience as NHS directors, in
addition to significant public and private sector experience. They have a deservedly
high reputation in their respective professional fields and the Board of Directors
considers that there is a good balance of skills represented by both non-executive and
executive Board members.
The Board of Directors has a Vice-Chair, who has been designated as the Senior
Independent Director. One of the six non-executive directors is a representative of
KCL, the Trust’s university medical and dental school. All non-executive directors are
considered by the Board of Directors to be independent. Non-executive directors’
terms of office are currently four years. They are appointed by the Board of Governors
who may also terminate their appointment.

Evaluation of Performance
The Board of Directors and Board of Governors jointly undertook a programme of
evaluation in November 2010 reviewing issues such as strategies, quality & safety,
better patient experience and the implication of the NHS white paper. The
programme included various presentations by directors, followed by a facilitated
workshop.
The Board of Directors has an annual programme of development and evaluation,
which includes quarterly Board seminars, independently facilitated evaluation, and
both internal and external development opportunities.
All executive and non-executive directors have an annual performance appraisal and a
personal development plan, which forms the basis of their individual development.
The performance of executive directors is reviewed by the Chief Executive and
considered by the Remuneration and Appointments Committee in relation to
remuneration. During 2010/11, a process has been followed for the evaluation of the
Chair and non-executive directors, having been agreed in consultation with the
Governors.
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A copy of the register of interests for members of the Board of Directors and the
Board of Governors are available on the Trust website, and a record of attendance at
Board of Directors, Board of Governors and Board Committee meetings is kept by the
Trust Secretary. Arrangements to view the register may be made by contacting the
Secretary on 020 3299 4939.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Non-Executive Directors
Michael Parker (Chair) is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He served as a non-executive director and Vice Chair of Guy’s
and St. Thomas’s NHS Trust before being appointed as Chair of King’s in
2002. Michael is a director of KCH Commercial Services; He is the President of the
Sickle Cell Society and Treasurer of the Mary Seacole Memorial Statute Appeal.
Michael is also a Board member of the Food Standards Agency; an external advisor to
the Royal College of Nurses’ Audit Committee and Pension Committee; Chair of NHS
London’s Diversity Reference Group; Chair of ACCA’s Corporate Governance & Risk
Management Committee; a member of ACCA’s Health Panel and is a UK
representative of the ACCA's International Assembly. He is also a Fellow of the Royal
Society of Arts. Michael received a CBE in the 2011 New Years' Honours list. Michael’s
term of office will end in November 2011.
FP (Chair), S (Deputy Chair), QG, RA and ED.
Robert Foster is a Commissioner of the National Lottery Commission; a nonexecutive director of the Jersey Competition Regulatory Authority, a Governor
of GSTT NHS Foundation Trust and a member of the Advisory Council of
Oxford Capital Partners. Previously, he was Chief Executive of the UK
Competition Commission; and a Senior Civil Servant in the Cabinet Office and DBIS.
He is a Chartered Engineer and was an engineering manager in the electronics and
telecommunications industries. Robert is Vice Chair and Senior Independent Director.
Robert was originally appointed as non-executive director on 18 March 2004, and was
re-appointed in March 2008. His current term of office will end in 2012.
S (Chair), FP (Deputy Chair), RA and QG.
Professor Alan McGregor is Professor of Medicine at KCL and Campus Dean
for the Denmark Hill site. In addition, he is an Honorary Consultant Physician
and Endocrinologist at King’s College Hospital. Nationally he has chaired
numerous Boards and Committees for bodies including the Medical Research Council
and the Department of Health. Alan has been a non-executive director of King’s since
2003. He was re-appointed in 2007 and subsequently re-appointed for a further 1
year term of office to end in October 2012.
QG (Chair), FP, S, RA and ED.

Maxine James is an IMC registered consultant who has been involved in
management development for voluntary and community organisations and
small businesses for over 20 years. She was a member of DTI’s Ethnic
Minority Business Forum for four years, and is Chair of Ethnic Mutual, a community
development finance initiative and Vice Chair of Julian’s Primary School. Maxine has
been a non-executive director of King’s since 2004 and was re-appointed in May 2008
and her current term of office will end in 2012.
ED (Chair), A (Deputy Chair), RA and S.

Martin West is a qualified management accountant and chartered civil
engineer. He is a director in the Real Estate Strategy & Finance Team at
Drivers Jonas Deloitte and was, until recently, an independent Board member
and Chair of the services committee for Willow Housing & Care Ltd. Martin
joined the Board in July 2007 and his current term of office will end in 2011.
A (Chair), FP, RA and S.
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Professor Sir George Alberti became a Non-Executive Director in October
2010. He was the Government’s National Clinical Director for Emergency
Access from 2002 to 2009, and was the author of the influential Emergency
Access – Clinical Case for Change - recognising the need for all A and E
departments to deal with urgent and emergency conditions in timely fashion with
some specialist A & E departments able to cope 24/7 with serious emergency
conditions such as major trauma and stroke.
Knighted in 2000 for services to Diabetic Medicine, he is a member of the World
Health Organisation’s Expert Advisory Panel, Chair of Diabetes UK and consultant to
the Metropolitan Police on Violence against Women and Children. He was President
of the Royal College of Physicians from 1997 to 2002 and is a past Dean of Medicine
at the University of Newcastle.
QG (Deputy Chair), A, RA and S.

Marc Meryon became a Non-Executive Director in August 2010. He is
currently a Partner with top 100 law firm Bircham Dyson Bell, where he leads
the Industrial Relations Group within the firm's wider Employment Team.
Qualifying as a solicitor in 1991, he joined Bircham Dyson Bell in 2007 from
Kennedys where he was a Partner and head of employment law. During his
career, Marc Meryon has advised a number of major public and private sector
organisations, including providing advice to NHS Foundation Trusts on equal
opportunities law, the working time directive and pay protection for junior doctors.
ED (Deputy Chair), A, RA and S.
Guide to Committees: 01 April – 30 September 2010
A - Audit
R - Remuneration & Appointments
F - Finance
I - Investment
G - Governance
P - Performance
E - Equality & Diversity
Guide to Committees: 01 October – 31 March 2011
A – Audit
RA – Remuneration & Appointments
FP – Finance & Performance
QG – Quality & Governance
ED – Equality & Diversity
S - Strategy
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Executive Directors
Tim Smart (Chief Executive) Since 2008 when he joined King’s, Tim has
brought a renewed focus on improvements in patient experience, service
quality, and partner and stakeholder relationships. Before joining the NHS,
Tim had a 30-year career in the commercial sector, first with Shell and latterly
with BT. He brings with him a wealth of experience in customer service and
satisfaction, developing commercial partnerships, and team and people development.
He has worked in the Middle East, the Netherlands and the US. He also has experience
as a non-executive director of a US-listed financial services company, he is Trustee of
a charity which provides mental health support to primary school children and he is a
member of the Foundation Trust Network Board.

Simon Taylor (Chief Financial Officer) has worked at King’s for 20 years
holding positions as Financial Controller and Deputy Director of Finance before
becoming Director of Finance in 2002. He is also responsible for overseeing
the Trust’s commercial developments. Simon is a director of KCH Commercial Services
and its subsidiary, Agnentis Limited.

Roland Sinker (Executive Director of Operations)_joined the Trust in 2005 as
Director of Strategy for KCH and latterly as Joint Director of Strategy for KCH
and Guy’s and St Thomas’. Prior to joining the NHS, Roland worked as a
lawyer and management consultant.

Michael Marrinan (Executive Medical Director) A Consultant Thoracic
Surgeon, Michael was appointed as the Trust’s Executive Medical Director in
February 2010 following two years' service as Deputy Medical Director.
Michael has worked at King’s for nearly 20 years, and has previously chaired both the
Consultants’ Committee and the Patient Records Committee. He was also heavily
involved in the development of King’s activity based costing system.

Angela Huxham’s (Executive Director of Workforce Development) career in
people management began in manufacturing and insurance followed by public
service in local government and the NHS. A former Director of Human
Resources at Cambridge University Hospitals, she has experience across
primary and secondary care and on national programmes with NHS Employers; she is
currently co-chair of the NHS Pension Scheme Governance Group.
Dr Geraldine Walters (Executive Director of Nursing and Midwifery and
Director of Infection Control Prevention). A cardiac nurse by background and
has held a number of Executive Nurse Director posts in acute NHS Trusts in
London. Geraldine also chairs the London Network for Nurses and Midwives, is
Visiting Professor at Buckinghamshire New University and an Honorary Professor at
the Florence Nightingale School at Kings College London. She is a member of the
Royal College of Nursing Audit Committee, and the National Clinical Audit Advisory
Group.
Geraldine worked in a variety of hospitals in her early career, including King’s, and
subsequently gained a PhD and an MBA.

133

Non-Voting Directors
Ahmad Toumadj (Director of Capital, Estates and Facilities) is a Postgraduate from the Bartlett School of Architecture at UCL and a Fellow of
Chartered Institute of Building. After working in the construction industry, he
joined the NHS in 1980 and King’s in 1997.

Jane Walters (Director of Corporate Affairs and Trust Secretary) has worked
at King’s since 1992, holding positions as Business Manager and Head of
Corporate Services. Her earlier career was in local government, where she
worked in a variety of roles in the fields of corporate governance and quality
assurance. She is a Trustee of a local hospice, and was appointed Director of
Corporate Affairs at King’s in 2004.

Jacob West (Director of Strategy) was Deputy Director and latterly Acting
Director at the Prime Minister's Strategy Unit before joining King’s. His role
was to advise Number 10 and the Prime Minister on a range of public service
reform issues, and was lead adviser on health policy since 2007. Prior to this he
worked as a consultant to a number of government agencies in the United States on a
range of public service reform issues and was a senior policy adviser in the UK
government.

MEETINGS AND COMMITTEES
The Board of Directors held 13 meetings during 2010/11. Some of the work of the
Board of Directors is delegated to committees, which also meet regularly and are each
chaired by a non-executive director of the Trust. There is a standing item at every
Board of Directors meeting to receive reports and minutes of meetings from Board
Committees. Committee annual reports, including a self assessment and review of the
terms of reference are also received.
On 25th May 2010, the Board agreed a proposal to change the Board Committee
structure, to increase the Board focus on quality and strategy, and further improve
oversight of finance and operational performance. The two previously separate
committees focussed on Finance and Performance were reconfigured to create a
combined Finance and Performance Committee to enable both operational and
financial performance to be reviewed in the round every month.
A new ‘Quality and Governance Committee’ was created to enable greater focus on
the three domains of quality – patient safety, patient outcomes and patient
experience, and on organisational safety, information governance and compliance.
With the stronger strategic focus on partnership working and developing new models
of care, the development of King’s Health Partners, and the Trust’s own strategy
review process, a new Strategy Committee was established to review progress against
the Trust’s strategic objectives and discuss major strategic issues.
The changes outlined above came into effect in October 2010.
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The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the externally reported
performance of the Trust and provides independent assurance to the Board of
Directors on a range of areas including internal control; external assurance of our risk
management processes; internal and external audit, and financial reporting.
The Remuneration and Appointments Committee agrees, on behalf of the Board
of Directors, the remuneration and terms of service of the executive directors, and,
together with the Chief Executive, forms the panel for executive director
appointments.

The Quality and Governance Committee is responsible for overseeing the three
dimensions of quality - Patient Safety, Patient Experience and Patient Outcomes - as
well as organisational safety, risk management and compliance and information
governance.
The Finance and Performance Committee is responsible for monthly review and
monitoring of the operational and financial performance against core quality indicators
alongside performance on national targets and compliance with Monitor’s financial risk
rating.
The Strategy Committee oversees the development of Trust-wide strategy and
vision, reviews progress against the Trust’s strategic objectives and discusses major
strategic issues. A separate Investment Committee was established as a sub
committee of the Strategy Committee and meets on a less frequent, as needed, cycle
to advise on the Trust’s investment strategy.
The Equality & Diversity Committee monitors equality and diversity issues relating
to the provision of services to patients, employment and procurement practice within
the context of the Trust’s Diversity Strategy.
Attendance at Board of Directors and Committee Meetings
Board member
Board of Directors Audit Committee 2 Remuneration
(Actual/
(Actual/
& Appointments
Possible) **
Possible)
Committee 2
Michael Parker
12/13
1/1
Alan McGregor
12/13
1/1
1/1
Robert Foster
10/13
1/3
1/1
Maxine James
11/13
2/5
1/1
Martin West
10/13
4/5
1/1
Marc Meryon
7/8
3/3
George Alberti
5/6
2/2
Tim Smart
13/13
Michael Marrinan*
12/13
Angela Huxham
12/13
Geraldine Walters
11/13
Simon Taylor
12/13
Roland Sinker
12/13
Jane Walters 1
13/13
1
Ahmad Toumadj
11/13
Jacob West 1
13/13
1 Non-voting directors.
2 Attendance of non-members is not shown.
* Part of the February Board of Directors meeting was attended
**12th August 2010 was an Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Chair and members of the Audit Committee between:
April 2010 – October 2010
Martin West (Chair) – Non-Executive Director
Robert Foster – Non-Executive Director
Maxine James – Non-Executive Director
Marc Meryon, Non-Executive Director (from August 2010)
October 2010 – March 2011
Martin West (Chair) – Non-Executive Director
Maxine James, Non-Executive Director
Marc Meryon, Non-Executive Director
George Alberti, Non-Executive Director
Other persons may attend at the invitation of the Chair but they are not members of
the Committee.
The Audit Committee meets at least quarterly and comprises independent nonexecutive directors only. The Board of Directors is satisfied that at least one member
of the Audit Committee has recent and relevant financial experience. The Chief
Executive, Chief Financial Officer and Director of Corporate Affairs regularly attend
meetings by invitation, together with representatives of external and internal audit
and the manager of the local counter fraud team.
The Audit Committee monitors the externally reported financial performance of the
Trust and provides independent assurance to the Board on a range of areas. These
include internal control and risk management, internal audit, external audit and
financial reporting. King’s continued to closely monitor the effectiveness of internal
control and audit processes during 2010/11.
The Committee undertook an annual self-assessment, reviewed its terms of reference
and presented an annual report of its activity to the Board of Directors. The
Committee oversees the work of the Trust’s Counter Fraud team. The Trust has a
policy of zero tolerance towards fraud and always prosecutes if economically viable to
do so.
During the 2010/11 reporting year, the Audit Committee considered the following
issues:
Internal Audit
• Internal auditors’ review of operational, corporate and support systems
• Board assurance framework, statement of internal control and Standards for
Better Health
• Financial reporting
• Core financial systems
• Cost improvement plans
• Compliance with terms of authorisation
• CQC self certification
• Business planning
• Information lifecycle management
• Health and Safety
• Freedom of Information
• IT controls/governance
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•
•

Cancer wait times
Independent Review of Board Self-Certification

External Audit
• Audit process – changes in accounting standards and codes of practice.
• Risk assessment
• Reviews of internal controls that significantly affect financial statements
• Review of accounts prior to Board of Director approval
• Clinical coding audit
Independence of external auditor
The Trust’s external auditors, the Audit Commission, have communicated the
following matters to the Audit Committee:
• The principal threats, if any, to objectivity and independence identified by the
auditor, including consideration of all relationships between the Trust, directors
and the auditor.
• Any safeguards adopted and the reasons why they are considered to be
effective.
• Any independent partner review.
• The overall assessment of threats and safeguards.
• Information about the general policies and processes for maintaining objectivity
and independence.
The Audit Commission are not aware of any relationships that may affect the
independence and objectivity of the team, and which are required to be disclosed
under auditing and ethical standards.
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NHS FOUNDATION TRUST CODE OF GOVERNANCE – COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
Principles of the Code
The Board of Directors considers that it was compliant with the Principles of
the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance during the period 01 April
2010 – 31 March 2011.
The Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of King's is responsible for the exercise of the powers and the
performance of the Trust, for ensuring the highest standards of corporate governance,
and that the Trust operates within a framework of prudent and effective controls
which enables risk to be assessed and managed.
The Board comprises the Chair, six executive directors and six non-executive directors
and is collectively responsible for the success of the Trust. The directors have a range
of skills and experience and each brings independent judgment and expertise to the
Board’s discussions and decision making.
The composition of the Board of Directors and the experience of the directors are
described on pages 129-137 of the annual report, which also includes information
about the committees of the Board, their membership and attendance by individual
directors.
The Board meets regularly and has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved
for its decision. The Board delegates other matters to the executive directors and
other senior managers. The Board has 12 scheduled meetings each year.

The Board of Governors
The Board of Governors is responsible for representing the interests of NHS
Foundation Trust members and stakeholder organisations in the governance of the
Trust. They exercise statutory powers, such as the appointment of non-executive
directors and the external auditor.
The Board of Governors comprises twelve elected Public Governors, six elected Patient
Governors, six elected Staff Governors and nine appointed Stakeholder
representatives.
The Board of Governors met four times in the period from 1 April 2010 to 31 March
2011. Its sub committees - the Nominations Committee, Membership Committee,
Patient Experience and Safety Committee, Strategy Committee and Transport Working
Group met as required.
Details of the composition of the Board of Governors, Governor attendance at
meetings and the activities of the Board of Governors are included in pages 154-157
of the annual report.
Information, development and evaluation
The Boards of Directors and Governors are supplied with information in a timely
manner and in an appropriate form and quality to enable them to discharge their
duties. The information needs of both Boards are subject to periodic review.
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The Board of Directors keeps its performance, that of its committees and individual
directors under regular review. Pages 129-130 of the annual report contain details of
the processes the Trust has followed.
Accountability and Audit
The Board of Governors has appointed the Audit Commission as the Trust’s external
auditor. The Board of Directors maintains a sound system of internal control and has
appointed KPMG as its internal auditors. The Board of Directors presents a balanced
and understandable assessment of the Trust’s position and prospects, and ensures
effective scrutiny of finance and operational matters through regular reporting
through its designated committees to the Board of Directors.
Relations with Stakeholders
The Board of Directors recognises the importance of effective communication with a
wide range of stakeholders, including members of the Trust.
The annual public meeting is used as an opportunity to communicate with members,
in addition to regular written communication and member events. A series of
community events are held annually, to enable member feedback into the Trust’s
annual plan.
The Board of Directors and Board of Governors enjoy a close working relationship.
Members of the Board of Directors regularly attend Board of Governors meetings, and
Governors are actively encouraged to attend Board of Directors meetings. The annual
plan submitted to Monitor has had regard to the views of the Board of Governors and
members.
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Provisions of the Code
The Board of Directors considers that from 01 April 2010 – 31 March 2011 it was fully
compliant with the provisions of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance with
the following exceptions:
A.3.1 Independent Non-Executive Directors and Non-Executive Director
and
majority
A.3.2
The Board of Directors should identify in the annual report each
Non-Executive Director it considers to be independent. The Board
should determine whether the Director is independent in character
and judgement and whether there are relationships or
circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect,
the director’s judgement. Such reasons include being an appointed
representative of the Foundation Trust’s university medical or
dental school.
As a university teaching hospital, one of the Board’s non-executive
directors, Professor Alan McGregor, is a representative of King’s College,
University of London. However, the Board is confident that Professor
McGregor is independent in character and judgement, and declines to
describe this non-executive director as ‘non-independent’.
At least half the Board, excluding the Chairman, should comprise
Non-Executive Directors determined by the Board to be
independent.
The Board comprises six executive directors and six non-executive
directors considered by the Board to be independent, excluding the Chair.
The constitution gives the Chair a second and casting vote.
A.3.3 The Board should appoint one of the independent Non-Executive
Directors to be the Senior Independent Director. The Senior
Independent Director could be the deputy chairman.
The Board has appointed a Vice-Chair, who is also designated as the
Senior Independent Director. It has not appointed a separate Senior
Independent Director.
C.2.1

The Chief Executive and other executive directors should be
subject to re-appointment at intervals of no more than 5 years.
Executive directors are employed on substantive contracts and are
therefore not subject to reappointment. The exception is the Executive
Medical Director, who is appointed on a fixed term three year contract,
which may be renewed by agreement.

C.2.2

Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman, should be
appointed by the Board of Governors for specified terms subject to
re-appointment thereafter at intervals of no more than three years.
The Board of Governors has approved four year terms of office for NonExecutive appointments, subject to a maximum of two four-year terms
(except in exceptional circumstances).
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REMUNERATION REPORT
The remuneration and expenses of the Chair and Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) are
determined by the Board of Governors, taking account of relevant market data,
including the Foundation Trust Network’s NED remuneration survey.
Remuneration for the Trust’s most senior managers (Directors accountable to the
Chief Executive) is determined by the Trust’s Remuneration and Appointments
Committee, which comprises the Chair and the Non-Executive Directors. The table on
page135 records meeting attendance.
The Remuneration and Appointments Committee is informed by executive salary
surveys, by periodic assessments conducted by independent remuneration consultants
and by the salary awards and terms and conditions applying to other NHS staff
groups. The report and data available to the Remuneration and Appointments
Committee is provided by the Executive Director of Workforce Development who is not
a member of the committee. The Trust’s strategy and annual planning processes set
key business objectives which in turn, inform individual and collective objectives for
senior managers. Trust and individual performance are closely monitored and
discussed throughout the year and form part of the annual appraisal.
Affordability is also taken into account in determining pay uplifts for directors. The
Directors’ Performance Bonus Scheme was withdrawn from 1st April 2009, and there
were therefore no bonuses due for payment following the close of the financial year
2009/10. Additionally, for the financial year 2010/11, there was no uplift in basic pay
for Executive Directors.
Details of remuneration, including the salaries and pension entitlements of the Board
of Directors, are published in the annual accounts on pages 194 & 195. The only noncash element of the most senior managers’ remuneration packages is pension related
benefits accrued during membership of the NHS Pension Scheme. Contributions into
the scheme are made by both the employer and employee in accordance with the
statutory regulations.
The Executive Medical Director is a medical consultant within the Trust, whose role is
undertaken on a fixed term, three-year contract which may be renewed by
agreement. This contract is next due for review/ renewal in February
2013. Additional paid programmed activities are provided in the Medical Director’s job
plan to enable the performance of these additional responsibilities. In addition the MD
receives a pay supplement.
Executive Director
Date in post
Unexpired Term Notice
Executive Medical Director
2 February 2010 2 years
3 months
All of the other most senior managers are substantive employees of the Trust
employed on open-ended contracts of employment which can be terminated by the
Trust with up to twelve months’ notice. Compensation in the event of early
termination would be in accordance with contractual entitlements as set out in the
Agenda for Change national terms and conditions of service.

Signed: Timothy Smart
Chief Executive
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EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY REPORT
King’s is located in one of the most diverse areas in London, if not the UK. For this
reason, we ensure that equality and diversity issues remain front-of-mind for
everyone who works for King’s.
Changing policies to reflect our equality commitments
We review all existing and planned services and policies against equality and diversity
indicators, on a three year cycle. This is to ensure that, in everything we do, we
consider how this might impact on staff and patients from different backgrounds. To
this end, a number of major equality-related changes have been introduced across the
Trust.
All our policies and consultations are equality impact assessed and the assessments
are available via the Trust’s Equality and Diversity webpage.
We have provided staff with access 24 hours a day, seven days a week to two support
services: Dignity at Work Helpline (which supports staff in relation to bullying and
harassment); and Workplace Options (which offers telephone, online and web based
advice on a range of matters including legal matters, financial management, and
general counselling). We also offer Kingsflex, our flexible working scheme, to help
staff balance family and work commitments.
Setting the pace
King’s was one of four London sites participating in the national Pacesetters
Programme which ended in 2010. This scheme was a Department of Health initiative
designed to tackle health and workplace inequalities caused by discrimination and
disadvantage. A number of equality-led projects have been implemented as a result of
our involvement in the Pacesetter programme, and these have been embedded within
the Trust over the past year. These include:
•

•

On-going support for the Trust’s network of disability advisors. The King’s
Staff Disability Interest Group is comprised of staff with a wide range of
disabilities - they act as advisors and provide a user perspective offering
advice to staff with disabilities and their managers.
Continuation of the Trust’s buddy scheme to help new staff to settle into
working life at King’s. It is particularly aimed at staff in junior grades.

Following the launch of the Band 7 shadowing scheme, the Trust now offers staff the
opportunity to undertake the ILM Award, Level 2.
We are Positively Diverse
The Trust’s commitment to promoting equality and diversity has been recognised
through the award of Positively Diverse lead site status.
Our equality and diversity training programme helps ensure staff have the skills and
knowledge they need to provide all of our patients with consistently high standards of
care. Equality and diversity training is mandatory for all new staff, and the Trust is on
track for ensuring that 100% of all staff have received equality and diversity training
by 2012.

Our equality agenda features heavily in recruitment and selection training, which is
mandatory for all those taking part in recruitment panels. It also informs our
‘Effective Management’ training course which is aimed at ensuring that all line
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managers receive training on applying the Trust’s key workforce policies such as the
disciplinary and grievance procedures.
We also provide training to front line staff in deaf and disability awareness, and
training for managers in managing deaf and disabled staff appropriately. We provide
training for Disability Network Advisors. These staff will support both staff with a
disability and line managers to help improve the experience of those working in the
Trust with a disability. We also provide training for staff working with people who may
have learning disabilities. There are also e-learning programmes available relating to
a range of diversity issues, as well as an introductory British sign language e-learning
programme. We provide self-marketing courses to help all staff improve their career
prospects within the Trust.
Networks help ensure all voices are heard
King’s has three staff-led diversity groups: Cultural Diversity; Staff Disability; and
Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT). The focus of the Cultural Diversity
Group is primarily on issues relating to ethnicity and culture in the workplace. All
three groups perform a vital function in providing support and network opportunities
for group members, whilst at the same time holding the Trust to account on its
equality and diversity commitments.
The Trust has worked closely with external partners, including Stonewall as part of
their “Healthy Lives” initiative to support lesbian, gay and bi-sexual staff. As part of
this work, the Trust has supported the formation of the LGBT Group, who meet on a
monthly basis.
We have also introduced an annual Diversity Event, the first of which was held in
December 2010. The Trust used this event as an opportunity to celebrate the
diversity of staff and patients, and plans to organise future events.
King’s commitment
King’s is committed to employing a workforce that reflects the diverse communities
we serve. Our recruitment policies support this. 48% of our staff are from BME
backgrounds. The proportion of middle grade staff from BME backgrounds has
increased from 41% in 2008 to 42% in 2010; the proportion of senior staff from BME
background has increased from 24% in 2008 to 28% in 2010.
The Trust will implement the Equality Delivery System framework into the
organisation by 2012 and, as such, will develop and set objectives which meet
expected Public Sector Duties.
The Trust’s Equality & Diversity Committee (EDC) meets quarterly and reviews
progress made against the Trust’s equality objectives. The EDC produces an annual
report which highlights progress made against these objectives. The EDC also
considers the annual Workforce Report, which details information regarding the
demographics of Trust staff. The Trust also includes equality and diversity information
within its own Annual Report.
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Workforce
Statistics
2009/2010
headcount
%
Age
0-16
17-21
22+
Ethnicity
White
Mixed
Asian or Asian
British
Black or Black
British
Other
Unknown
Gender
Male
Female
Recorded
Disability
Yes
No
Not Declared
Uknown
Total Staff
Numbers

2010/2011
headcount
%

0
71
6888

0%
1%
99%

0
57
7117

0%
1%
99%

3495
241

50%
3%

3681
237

51%
3%

1201

17%

902

13%

1738
137
147

25%
2%
2%

1767
451
136

25%
6%
2%

1862
5097

27%
73%

1864
5310

26%
74%

232
5773

3%
83%

954

14%

219
5906
246
803

3%
82%
3%
11%

6959

7174
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STAFF SURVEY REPORT
For the 2010 staff survey, questionnaires were sent to 850 randomly selected staff, of
which 821 were eligible to respond. This year’s response rate was 48% (396)
compared to a national average of 53%. This was a 3% increase from the response
rate of the 2009 Survey.
The 2010 staff survey results reported on 38 key findings: King’s was ranked in the
top 20% nationally for 7 of the key findings and in the worst 20% for 12 key findings.
Areas where King’s performed well included:
•
•
•
•

the number of staff receiving well structured appraisals
staff recommending the hospital as a place to work or receive treatment
staff reporting good communication between senior managers and staff
staff feeling pressure to attend work when feeling unwell

A new overall staff engagement score was calculated for each Trust. King’s recorded a
score of 3.72, which also places King’s in the top 20% nationally.
The Trust reported its highest improvement over the past 12 months in its
commitment to work-life balance.
Significantly, the Trust was in the top 20% nationally for staff perceptions of effective
employer action against violence and harassment. This is particularly heartening
given that the results were less encouraging in areas which included:
•
•
•

staff experiencing physical violence, bullying, harassment or abuse from
other staff
the number of staff reporting discrimination
the numbers of staff witnessing potentially harmful errors, near misses or
incidents

In 2010, the staff survey results were discussed widely and presentations were made
to the Board of Directors, the Board of Governors, the Joint Consultation Committee
and other management groups.
Action Plan - 2011
The Trust will continue to focus on addressing discrimination, violence, harassment
and bullying at work as a key priority for 2011. In addition, we are planning to launch
a programme to support employee well-being. We also have well developed plans to
address the concerns relating to the patient safety aspects of the survey results.
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Summary of Performance – Tables
Response rate compared with previous year
Where the findings state N/A for 2009, a comparison cannot be made to the 2010
survey due to a change in the format of the survey questions, or the information is
not available.

Response rate

2009/10

2010/11

Trust

Trust

45%

National
average
55%

Top Ranking Scores - 2010
2009/10
Trust
Well structured
appraisals
Recommending KCH
as a place to work
or receive treatment
Good
communication
between Senior
management and
staff
Staff feeling
pressure to attend
work when unwell

48%

Improvement
Deterioration
National
Average
53%

3% increase

2010/11
Trust

79%

National
Average
N/A

78%

National
Average
78%

Improvement
Deterioration
1% decrease

3.75

N/A

3.72

3.52

0.03 decrease

30%

N/A

33%

26%

3% increase

23%

N/A

22%

26%

1% decrease

Bottom Ranking Scores - 2010
2009/10
Trust
National
Average
Staff experiencing
N/A
N/A
physical violence
from other staff
Staff experiencing
N/A
N/A
discrimination at
work
Staff experiencing
N/A
N/A
harassment,
bullying or abuse
from other staff
Staff witnessing
43%
harmful errors, near
misses or incidents

2010/11
Trust
National
Average
3%
1%

Improvement
Deterioration
N/A

24%

13%

N/A

21%

15%

N/A

42%

37%

1% decrease
(improvement)

Key Areas of Improvement from Previous Year
2009
Trust commitment to
3.37
work / life balance
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2010
3.42

Key Findings 2010
Where the scores are highlighted in amber, this shows a higher score is a positive for
that key finding, and where the scores are highlighted in blue this shows a lower score
is positive for that key finding.
Best 20% scores

2009

2010

KF2. Agreeing that their role makes a difference to
patients
KF4. Quality of work design
KF13. Having well structured appraisals in last 12 months
KF27. Perceptions of effective action from employer
towards violence and harassment
KF29. Feeling pressure in last 3 months to attend work
when feeling unwell
KF30. Reporting good communication between senior
management and staff
KF34. Staff recommendation of the Trust as a place to
work / receive treatment
Above average scores
KF 1. Feeling satisfied with quality of work and patient
care able to deliver
KF5. Work pressure felt by staff
KF7. Trust committed to work-life balance
KF10. Feeling there are good opportunities to develop
their potential at work
KF11. Receiving job-relevant training, learning or
development in the last 12 months
KF22. Fairness and effectiveness of incident reporting
procedures
KF23. Experiencing physical violence from patients,
relatives or the public in last 12 months
KF31. Able to contribute towards improvements at work
KF35. Staff motivation at work
Average
KF6. Effective Team Working
KF12. Appraised in last 12 months
KF14. Appraised with personal development plans in last
12 months
KF15. Support from immediate managers
KF36. Having equality and diversity training in last 12
months
Worse than average
KF3. Feeling valued by their work colleague
KF8. Working extra hours
KF17. Suffering work related injury in last 12 months
KF21. Reporting errors, near misses or incidents
witnessed in the last month
KF32. Staff job satisfaction
Worst 20%

92%

92%

2010
Nat Av
90%

3.51
34%
3.70

3.46
41%
3.64

3.41
33%
3.56

23%

22%

26%

30%

33%

26%

3.75

3.72

3.52

82%

77%

74%

2.96
3.37
47%

3.04
3.42
46%

3.11
3.38
41%

82%

79%

78%

3.51

3.47

3.45

9%

7%

8%

68%
3.89

65%
3.86

62%
3.83

N/A
79%
64%

3.68
78%
64%

3.69
78%
66%

3.58
45%

3.62
39%

3.61
41%

77%
73%
16%
95%

74%
68%
18%
94%

76%
66%
16%
95%

3.52

3.47

3.48

KF9. Using flexible working options
KF16. Receiving health and safety training in last 12
months
KF18. Suffering work related stress in last 12 months

N/A
71%

58%
70%

63%
80%

30%

33%

28%
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KF19. Saying hand washing materials are always
available
KF20. Witnessing potentially harmful errors, near misses
or incidents in the last month
KF.24 Experiencing physical violence from staff in last 12
months
KF25. Experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from
patients, relatives or public in last 12 months
KF26. Experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from
staff in last 12 months
KF28. Impact of health and well-being on ability to
perform work or daily activities
KF33. Staff intention to leave jobs
KF37. Believing the Trust provides equal opportunities for
career progression or promotion
KF38. Experiencing discrimination at work in last 12
months

52%

52%

67%

43%

42%

37%

N/A

3%

1%

N/A

17%

15%

N/A

21%

15%

1.58

1.66

1.57

2.69
85%

2.64
83%

2.53
90%

N/A

24%

13%

For KF 38 (experiencing discrimination at work in the last 12 months), the questions
now relate to discrimination experienced from patients, and public, as well as
discrimination experienced from other staff. In previous years this key finding has
only reported on discrimination from other staff, hence there has been an increase
both locally and on the national averages, due to the change in the question.
Significant Statistical Changes since 2009
The following chart highlights the key areas of improvement and deterioration since
the 2009 survey.
Improved
Deteriorated
• Trust commitment to work / life • Impact of health and well being on
balance
ability to perform work or daily
activities
• Work pressure felt by staff
• Quality of job design
• Staff job satisfaction
The areas of deterioration, when compared with other acute Trusts are mixed with
work pressure being above average and quality of job design being in the highest
20% of Trusts, however the impact of health and well being is in the lowest 20%
nationally and staff job satisfaction is worse than average.
Partnership working with staff side representatives
Our JCC meets monthly to enable Trust managers and staff representatives to review
employment policies and practices. The local British Medical Association (BMA)
representative has a seat at the JCC table but, in practice, specific matters relating to
medical and dental staff are discussed at the Local Negotiating Committee (LNC).
Trust managers and consultants meet at monthly Consultants’ Committee meetings to
ensure that close working relationships are maintained.
The Trust’s Staff Engagement Group meets on a quarterly basis and includes
members of the Executive Team, staff side representatives and the leads of the
Trust’s Equality Groups.
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The Staff Survey is conducted annually and action plans are devised and implemented
following the publication of the survey results. Along with this, the Trust’s junior
doctors responded to the annual GMC Survey and we have also undertaken an exit
questionnaire survey to address issues of recruitment and retention within the Trust.
King’s was awarded the Investors in People Gold Standard in 2010, one of the first
major acute NHS organisations to be awarded the standard at this level.
The Trust is committed to embedding ‘King’s Values’, which were defined by King’s
staff and stakeholders. Establishing King’s Values within the organisational culture
begins at recruitment, and throughout the ‘on-Boarding’ and induction of new staff.
King’s Values are further incorporated into training and development throughout the
employee lifecycle.
The Trust scored in the top 20% nationally in the 2010 Staff Survey for both staff
engagement and for communication between staff and senior management. However
we will continue to ensure that staff are encouraged to feedback their views and
opinions. We will monitor staff feedback via the annual staff survey and the GMC
survey, as well as through on-going discussions with staff side representatives and
through other staff forums. Following analysis of staff feedback, both Trust wide and
local action plans will be developed to ensure that issues raised by staff are addressed
and these plans will be objectively reviewed and monitored.
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SUSTAINABILITY/CLIMATE CHANGE REPORT
King’s continues to monitor its impact on the environment to ensure continued work
towards reducing this impact and the introduction of sustainable initiatives wherever
possible is maintained. In addition to this King’s was also required to register for the
Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) on 01 April 2011. The Trust Carbon Reduction
Officer administers the scheme on behalf of King’s. This will place further obligations,
both legal and financial, on the Trust to reduce its CO2 emissions. King's continues to
work towards the 25% reduction of CO2 emissions by 2014 as laid out in its Carbon
Management Plan. Baseline and project implementation is reviewed on an annual
basis and the plan revised accordingly. The implementation of the plan is monitored
and reviewed via the Environmental Committee (which reports directly to the Trust
Board). The Trust also has in place the Waste Project Group and Energy project
Group which are used to deliver operational projects relating to waste minimisation
and energy reduction throughout the organisation. In addition to this King’s also
continues to meet regularly with partner organisations in King’s Health Partners to
ensure that sustainable initiatives and best practise are adopted throughout the
academic health science centre partnership.
Summary of performance
Carbon Trust Standard Achieved
King’s was awarded the Carbon Trust Standard in February 2011 in recognition of its
achievements in reducing carbon emissions. The Carbon Trust Standard is only
awarded to companies and organisations that measure and reduce their carbon
emissions year on year and lasts for two years. King’s reduced its carbon emissions
by 7.4% and scored 73% for the systems it has in place to achieve this.
Carbon Targets and Successes
King’s continues to work towards its own set target of 25% reduction of CO2 emissions
from a new baseline set at 2008/9 of 23,988 tonnes CO2 (plus anticipated new builds).
In 2009/10 King’s carbon emissions remained almost unchanged at 24,003 tonnes.
At the end of March 2011 we reduced our carbon emissions by 2,927 tonnes which is
a 12% reduction. This dramatic reduction is largely the result of the Combined Heat
and Power Plant which became operational in March 2010 and enables King’s to
generate much of its own electricity and heating. King’s has a target to reduce its
carbon emissions by a further 1.8% by March 2012.
Future Investments
An investment in high efficiency LED lighting will be completed 2011. This project is
projected to save each year;
• 156 tonnes CO2,
• £27,670 in electricity and maintenance costs,
The ICT department will implement a PC Powerdown software solution in 2011. This
software detects when computers have been left on out of hours or are idle
throughout the day and powers the pc down to save energy. This will result in the
following savings each year:
• 592 tonnes CO2,
• £54,272 in electricity costs
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Waste minimisation
In 2010/11 King’s produced 1,498.7 tonnes of clinical waste, of which 565.9 tonnes
were incinerated at a waste to energy plant and the remaining 932.8 tonnes were
treated at an autoclave plant. We produced 1,117 tonnes of domestic waste which
was sent to landfill and managed to recycle 147.8 tonnes of co-mingled recycling,
212.4 tonnes of confidential waste and 199 tonnes of cardBoard. King’s produced
17.8 tonnes of electronic and electrical waste. This is a 23% increase on waste that
was produced in 2009/10.
As laid out in last year’s annual report:
•

King’s is currently trialling reusable sharps bin. If rolled out across the Trust
this will prevent 53.94 tonnes of clinical waste per annum.
• The introduction of the steamplicity patient feeding system has seen a diversion
of waste from landfill by recycling patient meal packaging by 32.7 tonnes. This
is included in the co-mingled recycling figures above. Recycling on site has
increased by 59%.
Water
Site surveys have been carried out to identify and fix water leaks. As a result the
Trust consumption has reduced by 66,500 cubic metres.
Area

Greenhouse gas
emissions*
(scope 1 & 2)
Waste
minimisation
and
management**

Absolute
values for
total amount
of waste
produced by
the Trust

Nonfinancial
data
(applicable
metric)

Nonfinancial
data
(applicable
metric)

Financial
data(£k)

Financial data
(£k)

2009/10

2010/11

2009/10

2010/11

24,003
tonnes of
CO2

20664 tonnes
of CO2

1192 tonnes
(clinical)

1498.7
tonnes
(clinical)

1032 tonnes
(domestic)
17.1 tonnes
(electrical)

Expenditure
on waste
disposal

1117.33
Tonnes
(domestic)
17.8 tonnes
(electrical)

351 tonnes
(recycling)
Finite resources

559.2 tonnes
(recycling)
405,904

•

Water

£370,646

£330,299

•

Water

477,089
cubic metres

•

Electricity

28,547,817
kWh

10,220,090

•

Electricity

£2,396,195

£967,761

•

Gas

47,814,923k
Wh

106,571,851

•

Gas

£1,077,033

£2,250,606

•

Other
energy
consumpti
on

•

Other
energy
consumpti
on

*Please note that fleet travel emissions are not included in the green house gasses section
** Construction waste figures are excluded from the waste figures
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Future priorities and targets
King’s will continue to work towards the plans laid out in its Carbon Management Plan.
In addition to this focus will be paid to the following areas over the forthcoming year.
1. Carbon reduction
King’s is currently working on projects for delivery in 2011/12 which include;
• LED lighting
• PC power down
• Enhancements to the Combined Heat & Power Plant.
These are forecasted to deliver annual savings of;
• 748 tonnes of CO2
• £81,942.
2. Waste minimisation
King’s is currently working on projects for delivery in 2011/12 which include;
•
•
•
•

Look to increase recycling
Introduction of re-usable sharps bins
Look to reduce waste by examining reduction in packaging and single use items
Include construction waste figures in 2011/12 report.

3. Water
King’s will continue to work with Thames Water to identify and fix any leaks by
carrying out regular site surveys.
4. Transport
A Trust-wide survey has been commissioned to understand what benefits staff get
from cycling, what encourages them to cycle, and what King’s can do to encourage
non-cyclists to start cycling to work, and cyclists to use the bike more frequently.
King’s will continue to promote active travel to staff via active King’s.
King’s will commit to measuring air, train, fleet and business mileage over the
forthcoming year and include scope 3 fleet emissions in next years report.
5. Sustainable Buildings
Kings will continue to review materials used within building and maintenance projects
to ensure that sustainable alternatives are used where possible.
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REGULATORY RATINGS REPORT
The Trust began 2010/11 with a Green governance risk rating. Following
breaches of the MRSA target, this rating shifted to Amber/ Green in Quarters 2
and 3 and then to Amber/ Red in Quarter 4. There are now a number of
measures in place to bring the number of cases of MRSA and other hospital
acquired infections down. This is one of the Trust’s top priorities for the coming
year.
Annual
plan
2009/10
4

Q1
2009/10

Q2
2009/10

Q3
2009/10

Q4
2009/10

4

3

3

3

Governance
risk rating

Green

Green

Amber

Amber

Green

Mandatory
services

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green

Annual
plan
2010/11
3

Q1
2010/11

Q2
2010/11

Q3
2010/11

Q4
2010/11

3

3

3

3

Green

Green

Amber/
Green

Amber/
Green

Amber/
Red

Financial
risk rating

Financial
risk rating
Governance
risk rating
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS
The Board of Governors comprises twelve public, six patient and six staff
representatives elected by membership constituencies, and nine representatives
nominated by stakeholder partners. In February 2009, the Board of Governors agreed
to the appointment of a stakeholder representative from GSST to the Board of
Governors and this new appointment came into effect in May 2010. As guardians of
the community interest, the Board of Governors ensures that the needs of members
are considered in the planning of future services. Governors also feed back
information to their members about the Trust, its vision and performance.
No Governor elections were held in 2010/11. There were six Governor resignations in
2010/11 and the Trust is following its election rules in relation to those vacancies.
The Board of Governors is responsible for the appointment, remuneration and removal
of the Chair and other non-executive directors. In July 2010, with Chairman Michael
Parker due to step down in November 2011, the appointment of a new Chair was
discussed by the Board of Governors and the Chair appointment process undertaken
by the Nominations Committee on behalf of the Governors. A recommendation will be
made by the Nominations Committee, to be agreed by the Board of Governors in May
2011. Governors also agreed the reappointment of non-executive director, Alan
McGregor, for a further period of one year (until October 2012), and the appointments
of Non-Executive Directors Marc Meryon and Prof Sir George Alberti. The
remuneration for the Chair and non-executive directors agreed in 2009/10 came into
effect on 1st April 2010 and will remain in place until 31st March 2012.
Other duties include appointment of the Trust’s auditors, and receipt and
consideration of the annual report, annual accounts and auditor’s report to the
accounts. A tender exercise has recently been undertaken to appoint the External
Auditors for the next contract period and the Board of Governors will decide on the
contract award at their meeting in May 2011.
Throughout the year, Governors received regular updates on the Trust’s business
planning process and their comments were incorporated into the Trust’s annual plan
submitted to Monitor in May 2010.
In order to fulfil their duties, Governors need to understand how the Trust operates
and the external factors that influence its development. During 2010/11, Governors
have been involved in a wide variety of activities, including membership of Governor
committees and working groups, sitting on Trust committees such as patient /carer
experience and participation in the staff awards scheme and in work which informed
the Governor commentary on the Trust for the Care Quality Commission. There is a
regular programme of ongoing induction for all Governors via ‘Directors’ Surgeries’.
The Trust’s growing alliance with nearby healthcare and research organisations,
notably the partners that make up KHP AHSC, and following formal accreditation of
our AHSC by the Department of Health in March 2009, offers an opportunity to create
truly world-class services bringing the best of research and clinical advances to our
local population and patients.
Governors have been involved in discussions about the AHSC throughout, and fully
support its development. Member events were again held at King’s to hear at first
hand the views of members on these developments and to provide information about
King’s strategy and future service plans to Trust members. These events were well
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attended, and they also gave Governors and directors an opportunity to come
together and communicate King’s vision and future plans.
Directors’ surgeries for Governors are held on issues of interest, such as the AHSC,
performance, finance and the annual report and accounts. These are timed to link with
the Governors’ work programme. There is also, a ‘Governor-only’ area on the Trust’s
website for sharing information electronically and for online discussion. Many
Governors have also attended external events hosted by the Foundation Trust
Governor’s Association, the Foundation Trust Network and the Audit Commission
during 2009/10.
Constituency

Attendance at meetings
(Actual/Possible)

PUBLIC
Mr Rashmi Agrawal

Lambeth Central

4/4

Mr Andy Alatise

Southwark Central

3/4

Ms Hedi Argent

Southwark Central

3/4

Ms Cherry Forster

Lambeth Central

2/4

Mr Tom Hoffman

Southwark North

2/4

Ms Saleha Jaffer

Lambeth South

4/4

Mr Timothy Mason

Lambeth South

4/4

Mr Michael Mitchell

Southwark South

3/4

Mrs Ann Mullins

Lambeth North

4/4

Mrs Christiana Okoli

Lambeth North

2/4

Ms Michelle Pearce

Southwark South

4/4

vacancy

Southwark North

PATIENT
Mr Paul Corben

Patient

4/4

Mr Tom Duffy

Patient

3/4

Mr Andy Glyn

Patient

4/4

Ms Pida Ripley

Patient

3/4

Mrs Jan Thomas

Patient

3/4

Ms Lisa Hayles
(from June 2010)

Patient

1/3
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STAFF
Mr Anthony Agosu

Nurses and Midwives

3/4

Prof Bruce Hendry
(resigned March 2011)
Mrs Rowenna Hughes

Medical & Dentistry

3/4

Support Staff

4/4

Mrs Fiona Hunter
(resigned May 2010)
Ms Nicky Hayes
(from May 2010)
Prof Mark Monaghan

Nurses and Midwives

0/1

Nurses and Midwives

3/3

Allied Health Professionals

4/4

Mr Brady Pohle

Administration, Clerical and
Managerial

3/4

Lambeth Primary Care
Trust
Southwark Primary Care
Trust
Southwark Council

3/4

Southwark Council

0/3

Lambeth Council

1/1

Lambeth Council

1/3

KCL

4/4

South London and
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Guy’s and St Thomas’
Hospital NHS FT

1/4

Guy’s and St Thomas’
Hospital NHS FT
London South Bank
University

2/2

Joint Staff Committee

4/4

NOMINATED
Ms Caroline Hewitt
Ms Mee Ling Ng
(resigned March 2011)
Mr David Noakes
(resigned May 2010)
Cllr Dora Dixon-Fyle
(from July 2010)
Cllr Marcia Cameron
(resigned May 2010)
Cllr Jane Edbrooke
(from July 2010)
Mr Chris Mottershead
Mr Stuart Bell
Ms Patricia Moberly
(from May 2010; resigned
October 2010)
Ms Diane Summers
(from Oct 2010)
Ms Anne Garvey
Mr Frank Wood

1/4
0/1

1/1

4/4

To view the register of interests for our Board of Governors, please contact the Trust
Secretary 020 3299 4939.
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GOVERNOR GROUPS AND COMMITTEES
Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee of the Board of Governors was established in 2007 and
comprises:
Michael Parker
Ann Mullins
Prof Mark Monaghan
Tom Hoffman
Tom Duffy (from January 2011)
Brady Pohle (from January 2011)
Tim Smart (status changed from
member to attendee January 2011)
Angela Huxham (status changed
from member to attendee January
2011)

Trust Chair (and Chair of the
Committee)
Public Governor (and Vice Chair of
the Committee)
Staff Governor
Public Governor
Patient Governor
Staff Governor
Chief Executive
Executive Director of Workforce
Development

The Committee met six times in 2010/11. The work of the Committee this year has
included the following:
•
•

•
•

The appointment of non-executive directors Marc Meryon in August and Prof Sir
George Alberti in October 2010.
Review of the Trust’s constitution relating to the membership of the
Nominations Committee and propose a change to include two further
Governors. This change was approved by the Board of Governors in November
2010.
Recommendation of reappointment of non-executive director, Prof Alan
McGregor, for a further term of one year to October 2012.
The undertaking of the Chair appointment process, including open advertising
and the use of an external search consultancy.

Governors contribute to a variety of issues through working groups and committees.
These include:
Transport Working Group, which assesses local transport issues and is developing a
lobbying strategy to influence key decision-makers and help improve access to King’s.
The group has helped to speed up the redevelopment project for Denmark Hill railway
station and to press for the continuation of rail services for patients and staff.
Patient Experience and Safety Committee, which acts as an expert reference
group for the Trust’s planned activity around patient experience and safety and as a
focal point for the Governors’ commentary to the Care Quality Commission
Membership Committee, which reviews the membership development strategy
ensuring that membership continues to be representative; identifies ways in which the
membership can be more actively involved and facilitates communication between
Governors and the membership.
Strategy Committee, which reviews the Trust’s strategy and annual plan, and feeds
back to the Board of Governors.
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MEMBERSHIP REPORT
The Membership Development Strategy outlines our approach to maintaining and
developing an active and involved membership of King’s College Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust.
This strategy is based on the following principles:
•
•
•
•
•
•

To make King’s College Hospital a successful membership organisation.
Our membership is as representative as possible in terms of disability, age,
gender, sexuality, ethnic background and faith, reflecting the local community
which King’s serves.
Our membership is involved in the work of King’s and has a real say in how the
organisation develops.
The Board of Governors has a key role in overseeing the development of the
membership and reviewing progress against targets.
King’s is committed to achieving our objectives but recognises that the process
of building an active membership requires long term commitment, resources,
and investment.
King’s aims to promote understanding of how membership links local people to
King’s

The current strategy laid out the following objectives for membership development
over a three year period (2008-2011):
•
•
•
•

to develop a membership that is representative and reflective of the
communities served by King’s
to develop an informed membership by providing appropriate, accurate and
timely information to our members to assist them in making informed
contributions
to develop an involved membership where as many members as possible are
actively engaged in the development of King’s and its activities
to maintain an efficient and cost-effective structure for managing and
developing our membership systems.

Strategy objectives are supported by a Membership Development Action Plan which is
reviewed by the Membership Committee of the Board of Governors who report
progress annually to the Board of Governors and the Board of Directors.
The current strategy covered the period 2008-2011. A new strategy and action plan
will be developed for 2011-2014 and will form part of a wider PPI and Membership
Strategy. Once again, it will be key to the Trust’s approach of placing patients and the
public at the heart of what we do.
Our membership is split into three constituencies: public, patient and staff.
Public membership - anyone who is 16 years old or over and lives within the
Boroughs of Lambeth or Southwark is entitled to become a public member.
Patient membership - anyone who is 16 years old or over and lives outside of
Lambeth and Southwark and has been a patient of King’s in the last six years or has
been a carer of a patient of King’s in the last six years can become a member.
Staff membership - all staff of the Trust who have contracts of at least 12 months
are automatically members unless they choose to opt out. Staff membership also
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includes employees of other companies based at King’s who provide services for the
Trust.
At 31st March 2011 the Trust had 14,897 members, comprising:
•
•
•

4,022 - Public
4,246 – Patient
6,629 - Staff

A Representative Membership
We continue to work hard to ensure that our membership is representative of our
local community, and to take steps to ensure that membership is accessible to all who
are eligible, irrespective of age, gender, race or social background. Our membership
database allows us to monitor the demographics of the membership and to address
any gaps with targeted recruitment. King’s has proportionally fewer members in the
16-35 age category. King’s has been trying to address this by collaborative working
with local universities, further education colleges and schools including KCL, London
South Bank University, Lambeth College and The Charter School to promote
membership and involvement to younger people. The Trust also set a target over the
last three years to recruit 1,000 new members from this group.
Membership Recruitment
Given the continuing difficult financial climate for the NHS as a whole, the Governors’
Membership Committee agreed that the Trust should continue to employ low-cost
recruitment methods over the last year. However, recruitment for the period has been
encouraging with 945 new members recruited in 2010/2011, compared to 328 in the
previous year. A total of 728 members left during the year so there was an overall
net increase of 217 members, i.e. an increase of 2.6% of total membership.
We have continued to use the following low-cost methods to recruit members and will
build on this next year.
•
•
•

•
•

Mailings to local voluntary sector groups in Lambeth and Southwark, attending
local community group meetings and AGMs
Promoting membership via Lambeth and Southwark’s Patient and Public
Involvement email alerts and newsletters
Promoting membership as part of King’s “How are we doing?” patient feedback
programme including:
o Giving out a membership application form with the How are we doing?
inpatient survey which is given to all inpatients before discharge – this is
proving a useful method of recruitment with an average monthly return
of between 50 – 70 memberships
o Membership application forms are also being given out with our quarterly
How are we doing? survey for Dental outpatients
o Information about membership is also being included on a new electronic
How are we doing? outpatient survey which is currently being rolled out
across all outpatient areas
Locating membership forms and drop-boxes in outpatient areas
Including membership information on Trust Comments and Suggestion Cards
which is continuing to prove a useful method
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An involved Membership
King’s undertakes a number of regular initiatives. These include:
•

A regular newsletter, which updates the membership on events at King’s and
highlights opportunities to get more involved in the Trust.

•

A programme of members’ seminars on public health and how services are
structured and delivered.

•

A digest of our annual report and notification of all Board of Governor meetings.

•

A members’ section on the website giving useful up-to-date information and
news. A new King’s website has been designed and launched this year.
Members have their own section which includes more information on how they
can get involved in the work of the Trust.

Members have also been asked to identify clinical areas of interest to them and King’s
has recorded this information on its database. By targeting those members who
already have an established interest in particular areas, King’s can gain greater user
involvement in the day-to-day running of different areas of the hospital.
Our annual programme of members’ seminars, now in its fourth year, has continued
to provide information about specific services and conditions. This year we began to
use the membership database to enable us to send information to specific groups of
our members. For example, we sent email invitations to male members over the age
of 40 to invite them to a talk on prostate disease. This has proved a successful
strategy and has increased the number of members attending the talks.
Members value the opportunity to interact with staff and to learn more about areas of
interest to them. Member evaluation continues to be very positive.
Community Events and the Annual Public Meeting
In 2010/11 the Trust held four community events for Foundation Trust members.
Events were held on the King’s site, Bromley and at Lambeth Accord. The events
were chaired by Trust Directors with Governors also in attendance to talk to members.
These were organised with a primary focus on:
• Engaging the membership and consulting with them about our plans for the
future
• Providing an opportunity for King’s members to meet Governors - their elected
representatives.
The number of members who attended events in 2010 were disappointing. We have
therefore carried out a review of the events and, with the Governor’s Membership
Committee, developed proposals for future events. These build on the success of the
2010 Annual Public Meeting which was very well attended by our membership.
This year, the aim was to make the Annual Public Meeting more engaging with a new
format, designed to increase interaction with Governors and members and ensure a
high turnout on the day.
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Annual Public Meeting
The meeting had three distinct sections:
•

Displays and health checks: We had a number of displays about services at
King’s and also health checks such as blood pressure, cholesterol testing and lung
function which proved very popular.

• Formal APM Business: The formal business of the APM included a welcome from
the Chair, the new King’s Values DVD, Highlights of the Year, the Annual Report
and Accounts and a Q&A session.
•

Break-out sessions: After the formal business of the APM members were split
into different break-out groups to discuss key issues.

The most recent Community Event held on 31 March 2011, which followed a similar format,
was well attended and a further engagement event was held in May.
Members can contact their Governors via the King’s website, or through the
Membership Office.
Membership Office
King’s College Hospital
FREEPOST NAT 7343
London SE5 9BR
Email: kch-tr.members@nhs.net
Tel: 020 3299 8888
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King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Accounts 2010/2011
FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS
King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

These accounts, for the year ending March 31 2011, have been prepared by King's College Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the National Health Service Act 2006.

Signed:

Date:

Timothy Smart
Chief Executive Officer
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Statement of Chief Executive's responsibilities as the accounting officer of King's College Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust
The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the Accounting Officer of the NHS Foundation Trust. The
relevant responsibilities of the Accounting Officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of
public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts
(“Monitor”).
Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust to prepare for each
financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts
are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of King's College
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows
for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the NHS
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to:
• observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements,
and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis
• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis

• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual
have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; and
• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis
The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation Trust and to enable him/her to ensure that the
accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. The Accounting officer is also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the NHS Foundation Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in Monitor's NHS
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Signed:

Date:

Timothy Smart
Chief Executive Officer
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Statement of Internal Control
Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the
achievement of the NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and
departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am
also responsible for ensuring that the NHS Foundation Trust is administered prudently and economically and that
resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation
Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.
The purpose of the system of internal control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure
to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks
to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently,
effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in King’s College Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2011 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.
Capacity to handle risk

The Board of Directors has overall accountability for the Trust’s Risk Management Strategy through the Trust’s Executive
Directors. The Trust’s Medical Director provides the lead, and is supported by a centralised Risk team. The Chief
Financial Officer has accountability for the development, implementation and testing of the Trust’s business continuity
plan. The Trust operates a unified approach covering both clinical and non-clinical risks which are recorded on a
computerised risk register. The Trust is committed to providing a learning environment for all levels of staff, to ensure
that good practice is developed and disseminated to all areas of the organisation. This is achieved by:
• A commitment to individual appraisal and personal development planning for all staff
• Policies to encourage the reporting and investigation of adverse incidents (inc. near misses)
• A commitment to root cause analysis of problems and incidents and the avoidance of blaming and ‘scape-goating’
• A range of problem resolution policies and procedures, including capability, raising concerns, harassment and
discipline, which are designed to identify and remedy problems at an early stage
• A range of individual support mechanisms to encourage individuals to raise concerns about the own performance in
ways which will not threaten their security or livelihood, e.g. appraisal, substance abuse policies, professional
counselling and occupational health services
• A range of clinical and non-clinical audit mechanisms
All staff are trained in these policies as part of the corporate and local induction policies. There are also regular staff
briefings and updates via the Trust intranet.
The risk and control framework

The Trust operates a cyclical mechanism for the identification, evaluation and control of risk, facilitated by means of a
central risk register. Local Risk Groups identify risks and potential hazards and formulate actions plans to deal with
them. Each risk is scored on a common basis across the Trust for likelihood and potential impact. If risks cannot be
satisfactorily resolved at a local level, they are considered by the relevant corporate risk management group. Unresolved
risks are passed to the Quality & Governance Committee for recommendation to the Board of Directors for either
acceptance or resolution. If additional resources are required to reduce the risk to an acceptable level, this is considered
by the Business Resource and Strategy Group and, if necessary by the Trust Finance and Performance Committee.
Risks that have an above average consequence and likelihood are given priority in the resource allocation process.
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Information Governance is reviewed by the Quality & Governance Committee, who are advised by the Caldicott
Guardian and the Senior Information Risk Owner. The Trust completes the annual Information Governance toolkit.
In the submission made in March 2011, the Trust achieved at least a Level 2 rating on all key requirements and
scored a total of 72% across all indicators. The Trust has made significant efforts to ensure the security of the
information it holds and that is transmitted to and from its systems. These include the enforcement of encryption for
any portable devices used on Trust systems, encryption for all Trust laptop computers and the implementation of
‘remote wipe’ functionality for smart phones in the event of their loss or theft. Key areas of risk remaining are to
ensure the pseudononymisation of all data being transferred and implementing a comprehensive records
management system for all Trust records.
All Trust policies, procedures and business cases include an Equality Impact Assessment so that their implications
can be considered by the Board of Directors. Major policy or strategic decisions are taken only after consultation with
the Board of Governors, Staff Side representatives and public and patient stakeholders. The Trust holds regular
community events to receive the views of Trust Members and the Annual Public meeting in September 2010 was
attended by over 200 people.
The Board of Directors reviews the Board Assurance Framework on a quarterly basis. Each risk is scored on a
likelihood and impact matrix and cross referenced to the Trust’s strategic aims. Following the most recent review the
two highest scoring risks were identified as:
a) Failure to maintain ongoing compliance with regulatory requirements.

This risk was scored highly due to the failure to meet the more stringent Hospital Acquired Infection target in
2010/11 and the further reduction in the target for 2011/12. A comprehensive action plan has been developed to
increase awareness of infection control amongst all staff and increased investment has been made in line
management for patients which has been identified as the predominant source of remaining risk.
The Trust commissioned KPMG to review the process of obtaining assurance on the ability of the Trust to meet
these targets. Their conclusion was:
“King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (‘the Trust’) self-certified its potential for meeting the 2010-11
MRSA target. In hindsight, this certification has proved to be optimistic. The Board of Directors considered
information available to demonstrate the stretch required and the degree of risk attached to the target, which is
particularly sensitive to non-compliance in light of its small volume measures and the significant reduction needed.
We have not found evidence of systematic failures in the operation of the Board or governance processes, but
we have noted a number of possible enhancements to governance arrangements in order to further refine the
self-certification process.”
The enhancements recommended were accepted by the Board of Directors and were implemented for the 2011
self certification process.
b) Failure to maintain financial sustainability due to reductions in tariffs and commissioning levels.

The reduced level of growth in NHS funding and commissioning decisions to reduce the level of activity, means
that the Trust needs to improve efficiency to remain financially sustainable. The Trust has adopted a Medium
Term Financial Strategy, which focuses on increased cost control and improvements in productivity to address
this risk. The first phase of the Strategy was successfully completed in 2010/11 but further delivery will remain
challenging in the foreseeable future and is regularly reviewed by the Board of Directors.
The Foundation Trust is fully compliant with the requirements of registration with the Care Quality Commission. This
was confirmed by an unannounced inspection by the CQC in December 2010.
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures are in place to
ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring
that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the
Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales
detailed in the Regulations.
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Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity and human
rights legislation are complied with.
The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans are in place in
accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather
projects, to ensure that this organisation’s obligations under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting
requirements are complied with. The Board considers regular reports regarding the Trust’s compliance with the Act
and projects to improve its environmental footprint.
Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources

The Board of Directors ensures that resources are used economically, efficiently and effectively by means of monthly
Finance and Performance reports. These are considered in detail by the Finance and Performance Committee which
is a committee of the Board, chaired by a Non-Executive Director. The Audit Committee receives regular reports
from the Trust’s Internal Auditors, KPMG, and its External Auditors, the Audit Commission.
The Board of Directors reviews the Finance and Performance reports each month and holds the Executive Directors
to account for the delivery of plans.
Annual Quality Report
The Board of Directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts)
Regulations 2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. Monitor has issued guidance to NHS
foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual Quality Reports which incorporate the above legal
requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.
The Board’s clinical plans and core quality priorities have been developed in consultation with a wide range of
internal and external stakeholders including senior clinical teams, Commissioners, Overview and Scrutiny
Committees, LINks and Governors and members. The Board receives regular reports on all aspects of quality
through monthly performance reports and scorecards, a monthly integrated patient experience report including
feedback from patient surveys, PALS and complaints. The Board also receives a separate quarterly Quality and
Governance Report which includes detailed analyses of all serious complaints and adverse incidents together with
actions taken and related service developments/improvements.

In year, we have strengthened the Trust’s Board Assurance Framework and linked this explicitly to the Board Self
Certification of the Annual Plan. In 2010/11, the Board of Directors introduced a new Quality Governance
Framework with the implementation of a new Board governance structure. At the heart of this is a new Quality &
Governance Committee which, on behalf of the Board, monitors the three dimensions of quality: Patient Safety,
Patient Outcomes and Patient Experience, through a series of management committees chaired by Executive
Directors. Geraldine Walters, Director of Nursing and Midwifery, is the designated Trust lead for Quality, and the
membership of the committees includes clinically qualified and experienced executive and non-executive directors.
This enables a strong Board focus on all aspects of quality and is the vehicle through which the Trust’s quality
priorities and Monitor’s Quality Governance Framework are monitored. The Trust is undertaking a self assessment of
the framework informed by an internal audit of current arrangements for quality governance.

In 2010/11 the Trust made good progress against most of its quality priorities with the exception of MRSA where the
target was not achieved. The Trust has a detailed action plan to secure improvement on an ongoing basis. Reducing
hospital acquired infection is one of the Trust’s core quality priorities for 2011/12 and beyond. The King’s ‘Quality
Philosophy’ outlined in the Quality Account makes it clear that the safety of patients is the Trust’s number one
priority and that there is zero tolerance of anything that puts patients in harm’s way.
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Review of effectiveness

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. My review
of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, and the executive
managers within the NHS Foundation Trust who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework. I have drawn on the content of the quality report attached to this annual report and other
performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in
their management letter and other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board, the Audit Committee and Quality and Governance
Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.

The action plans are set out in the Board Assurance Framework, together with timescales for implementation and the
responsible Directors. The BAF is linked to the Risk Register and the Trust’s Strategic Objectives, and it maps the
controls to the source of assurance. It is directly linked to the Trust’s Internal Audit Plan. The Board of Directors
reviews the proceedings of all its committees at every meeting and considers and approves the arrangements for risk
management in the Trust including the risk framework incorporated in the Trust’s Risk Management Strategy.
Committee Chairs draw the Board’s attention to any matters arising from the proceedings of their committees which
have risk implications at each Board meeting. The Board has reviewed and amended the Assurance framework to
ensure it is comprehensive in its coverage of risks and assurance The Board has amended the Trust’s Committee
structure within year to improve non-executive oversight and to allow greater focus on the risks identified in the
Boditional years of pensio
Conclusion
No significant internal control issues have been identified by either the Trust’s internal processes or by assurance
reviews undertaken by external bodies.

Signed:

Date:

Timothy Smart
Chief Executive Officer
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Independent auditor's report to the Board of Governors of King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

I have audited the financial statements of King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31
March 2011 under the National Health Service Act 2006. The financial statements comprise the Statement of
Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the
Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out in the Statement of Accounting Policies.
I have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit, being:
• the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers on page 194 and
• the table of pension benefits of senior managers on page 195.
This report is made solely to the Board of Governors of King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust in
accordance with paragraph 24(5) of Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006. My audit work has been
undertaken so that I might state to the Board of Governors those matters I am required to state to it in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, I do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Foundation Trust as a body, for my audit work, for this report or for the
opinions I have formed.
Respective responsibilities of the Accounting Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accounting Officer is
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view.
My responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with applicable law, the Audit Code for NHS
Foundation Trusts and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require me to
comply with the Auditing Practice’s Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust’s
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the Trust; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. I read all the
information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If I
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the implications for my
report.
Opinion on financial statements
In my opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s affairs as at 31
March 2011 and of its income and expenditure for the year then ended
• have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by Monitor as being relevant to
NHS Foundation Trusts.
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Opinion on other matters
In my opinion:
• the part of the Remuneration Report subject to audit has been properly prepared in accordance with the
accounting policies directed by Monitor as being relevant to NHS Foundation Trusts
• the information given in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
is consistent with the financial statements.
Matters on which I report by exception
I have nothing to report in respect of the Statement on Internal Control on which I report to you if, in my opinion
the Statement on Internal Control does not reflect compliance with Monitor’s requirements.
Certificate
I certify that I have completed the audit of the accounts of King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust NHS
Foundation Trust in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code
for NHS Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor.

Phil Johnstone
Officer of the Audit Commission
Millbank Tower
Millbank
London
SW1P 4HQ
06-Jun-11
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 March 2011

note

2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000

OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
Operating Income from continuing operations
Operating Expenses of continuing operations

2
3

OPERATING SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)
FINANCE COSTS
Finance income

5

Finance expense - financial liabilities

6.1

Finance expense - unwinding of discount on provisions

18

PDC Dividends payable
NET FINANCE COSTS

6.3

Share of loss of associate accounted for using the equity method
Corporation tax expense

585,967

566,013

(567,195)

(550,486)

18,772

15,527

107
(9,611)
(178)

(189)

(8,195)

(7,549)

(17,877)

(16,913)

(217)
0

Surplus/(Deficit) from continuing operations

(217)

Surplus/(deficit) of discontinued operations and the gain/(loss) on disposal of discontinued
operations
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR

0
678

Other comprehensive income
Impairments

(1,809)
8,170
1,332
0

Revaluations
Receipt of donated assets
Asset disposals

66
(9,241)

0
0
0

0
(1,386)

(16,595)
2,999
1,844
0

Share of comprehensive income from associates and joint ventures

0

0

Movements arising from classifying non current assets as Assets Held for Sale

0

0

Fair Value gains/(losses) on Available-for-sale financial investments

0

0

Recycling gains/(losses) on Available-for-sale financial investments

0

0

Other recognised gains and losses
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes

0

0

0

0

Other reserve movements
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (EXPENSE) FOR THE PERIOD
Prior period adjustments

0
7,693
0

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR

8,371

0
(11,752)
0
(13,138)

Allocation of Profits/(Losses) for the period:
(a) Surplus/(Deficit) for the period attributable to:
(i) minority interest, and

0

(ii) owners of the parent.
TOTAL

0

678

(1,386)

678

(1,386)

(b) total comprehensive income/ (expense) for the period attributable to:
(i) minority interest, and

0

(ii) owners of the parent.
TOTAL

The notes on pages 176 to 211 form part of these accounts.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT
31 March 2011

note
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

Other Investments
Trade and other receivables

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

7

1,471

1,620

8

344,231

337,246

0

0

9

894

0

0

0

7,582

4,774

Investment Property
Investments in associates (and joined controlled operations)

31 March
2011

11

Other Financial assets

0

0

Tax receivable

0

0

Other assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables

0

0

354,178

343,640

10

11,181

11,243

11

37,746

38,339

Other financial assets

0

0

Tax receivable

0

0

Non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal groups
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

0

0

22,696

12,838

71,623

62,420

12

(51,004)

(39,134)

14

(1,893)

(1,782)

20

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Other financial liabilities

0

0

Provisions

18

(2,213)

(939)

Tax payable

12

(7,364)

(6,892)

Other liabilities

13

(3,738)

(3,186)

Liabilities in disposal groups
Total current liabilities

0

Total assets less current liabilities

0

(66,212)

(51,933)

359,589

354,127

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables

12

Borrowings

14

(90,221)

18

(6,807)

Other financial liabilities
Provisions

0
(91,919)

0

Tax payable
Other liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

0

0
(8,068)

0
13

TOTAL ASSETS EMPLOYED

0

0

0

(97,028)

(99,987)

262,561

254,140

Financed by (taxpayers' equity)
Minority Interest
Public Dividend Capital
Revaluation reserve

19

Donated Asset Reserve
Available for sale investments reserve
Other reserves
Merger reserve
Income and expenditure reserve
TOTAL TAXPAYERS' EQUITY

0

0

135,578

135,528

86,297

81,114

18,175

17,378

0

0

0

0

0

0

22,511

20,120

262,561

254,140

The financial statements on pages 171 to 175 were approved by the Board on 02 June 2011 and signed on its behalf
by:

Signed: …………………………………(Chief Executive)

Date: 02 June 2011
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY

Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2010

Public
Dividend
Capital

Revaluation
Reserve

Donated
Assets
Reserve

Income and
Expenditure
Reserve

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

135,528

81,114

17,378

20,120

254,140

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2010-11
Surplus/(deficit) for the year

678

Impairments

(1,739)

(70)

Revaluations

8,276

(106)

Receipt of donated assets

0

8,170

1,332

Asset disposals

(1,354)

(359)

678
(1,809)
1,332

1,713

0

Share of comprehensive income from associates and joint ventures

0

0

0

0

Movements arising from classifying non current assets as Assets Held for Sale

0

0

0

0

Fair Value gains/(losses) on Available-for-sale financial investments

0

0

0

0

Recycling gains/(losses) on Available-for-sale financial investments

0

0

0

0

Other recognised gains and losses

0

0

0

0

Public Dividend Capital received

50

50

Public Dividend Capital repaid

0

0

Public Dividend Capital written off

0

0

Movements on other reserves

0

0

0

0

0

135,578

86,297

18,175

22,511

262,561

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2011
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY

Public
Dividend
Capital
Balance at 31 March 2009

Revaluation
Reserve

Donated
Assets
Reserve

Income and
Expenditure
Reserve

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£128,052

£91,776

£18,785

£8,817

£247,430

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2009-10
Surplus/(deficit) for the year

(1,386)

Impairments

(13,786)

Revaluations

3,441

Receipt of donated assets

(2,809)

0

(442)

(317)

(16,595)
2,999

1,844

Asset disposals

(1,386)

1,844

0

317

0

Share of comprehensive income from associates and joint ventures

0

0

0

0

Movements arising from classifying non current assets as Assets Held for Sale

0

0

0

0

Fair Value gains/(losses) on Available-for-sale financial investments

0

0

0

0

Recycling gains/(losses) on Available-for-sale financial investments

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Other recognised gains and losses
Public Dividend Capital received

0

7,476

7,476

Public Dividend Capital repaid

0

0

Public Dividend Capital written off

0

0

Movements on other reserves

0

0

0

12,372

12,372

135,528

81,114

17,378

20,120

254,140

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2010
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 March 2011
2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations

18,772

Operating surplus/(deficit) of discontinued operations

0

0

18,772

15,527

13,739

13,474

1,788

4,319

Operating surplus/(deficit)

15,527

Non-cash income and expense:
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments
Reversals of impairments

0

Transfer from the donated asset reserve

(545)

0
(553)

Amortisation of government grants

0

0

Amortisation of PFI credit

0

0

(Increase)/Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables

(2,215)

(Increase)/Decrease in Other Assets

0

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories
Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities

(1,810)

11,870

(8,011)

13

Tax (paid) / received

472

Movements in operating cash flow of discontinued operations

0

Other movements in operating cash flows

(2,079)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS

0

62
552

Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions

(116)

832
(1,140)
424
0
0

42,429

22,946

67

75

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of financial assets

(1,111)

Sales of financial assets

0

Purchase of intangible assets

(813)

Sales of intangible assets

(6)

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment
Sales of Property, Plant and Equipment

0
0
(1,273)
0

(18,238)

(42,289)

5,414

1,904

Cash flows attributable to investing activities of discontinued operations

0

0

Cash from acquisitions of business units and subsidiaries

0

0

0

0

Cash from (disposals) of business units and subsidiaries
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities

(14,687)

Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received

50

Public dividend capital repaid
Loans received
Loans repaid

(41,583)

7,476

0

0

201

10,373

(1,057)

(4,500)

Capital element of finance lease rental payments

(124)

(124)

Capital element of Private Finance Initiative Obligations

(608)

(554)

Interest paid

(685)

(592)

Interest element of finance lease

(43)

(43)

Interest element of Private Finance Initiative obligations

(8,903)

(8,616)

PDC Dividend paid

(8,065)

(7,615)

Cash flows attributable to financing activities of discontinued operations

0

0

1,350

1,784

(17,884)

(2,411)

9,858

(21,048)

Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 April

12,838

33,886

Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March

22,696

12,838

Cash flows from (used in) other financing activities
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
1. Accounting Policies

Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the accounting
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual which shall be agreed with HM Treasury.
Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the NHS Foundation
Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2010/11 issued by Monitor. The accounting policies contained in that manual
follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual to
the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts.
The accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to
the accounts.
1.1 Going concern
After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the NHS Foundation Trust has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the accounts.
1.2 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and
financial liabilities.
1.3 Acquisitions and discontinued operations
Activities are considered to be 'discontinued' where they meet all of the following conditions:
a) The sale (this may be at nil consideration for activities transferred to another public sector body) or
termination is completed either in the period or before the earlier of three months after the commencement of
the subsequent period and the date on which the financial statements are approved.
b) If a termination, the former activities have ceased permanently.
c) The sale or termination has a material effect on the nature and focus of the reporting NHS Foundation
Trust's operations and represents a material reduction in its operating facilities resulting either from its
withdrawal from a particular activity or from a material reduction in income in the NHS Foundation Trust's
continuing operations.
d) The assets, liabilities, results of operations and activities are clearly distinguishable, physically, operationally
and for financial reporting purposes.
Operations not satisfying all these conditions are classified as continuing.

Activities are considered to be 'acquired' whether or not they are acquired from outside the public sector.
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1.4 Consolidated Accounts
Subsidiaries

Subsidiary entities are those over which the Trust has the power to exercise control or a dominant influence so as to
gain economic or other benefits. The income, expenses, assets, liabilities, equity and reserves of subsidiaries are
consolidated in full into the appropriate financial statement lines. The capital and reserves attributable to minority
interests are included as a separate item in the Statement of Financial Position.

The amounts consolidated are drawn from the published financial statements of the subsidiaries for the year.
Where subsidiaries' accounting policies are not aligned with those of the Trust then amounts are adjusted during
consolidation where the differences are material.
The Trust has a wholly owned subsidiary company, KCH Commercial Services Ltd, who wholly own Agnentis Ltd
and KCH Management Ltd . The accounts for this company have been consolidated into the Foundation Trust
annual accounts. They are not shown separately in the segmental analysis note to the accounts (note 2) as the
figures were immaterial.
Associates
Associate entities are those over which the Trust has the power to exercise a significant influence.

Associate entities are recognised in the Trust’s financial statement using the equity method. The investment is
initially recognised at cost. It is increased or decreased subsequently to reflect the trust’s share of the entity’s profit
or loss or other gains and losses (e.g. revaluation gains on the entity’s property, plant and equipment) following
acquisition. It is also reduced when any distribution e.g. share dividends are received by the trust from the associate.
1.5 Income Recognition

Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the Trust is from
contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare services provided under the Department of Health's Payment
by Results rules-based system and local agreements for non-mandatory tariff activity.
Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in the following financial year, that income is
deferred.

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met,
and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.
The Foundation Trust accrues income for incomplete spells of patient activity as at 31st March. The work in
progress is derived from patients admitted before the year end but not discharged as at 31st March. The calculation
is based on the number of bed days and the average specialty bed day price. The value as at 31st March 2011 was
£2.850m, an increase of £345k from 31st March 2010.
The provision for irrecoverable debts is based on outstanding debts greater than 6 months which have not been
agreed with the respective debtor. Due to the complexities of Private Patient debt recovery the bad debt provision
for Private Patients is based on outstanding debts greater than 1 year which have not been agreed with the
respective debtor. The irrecoverable debt provision figure is disclosed in note 11 - Trade receivables and other
receivables.
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The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of
treating injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an
insurer. The Trust recognises the income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and
Pension's Compensation Recovery Unit that the individual has lodged a compensation claim. The income is
measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for
unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts.
1.6 Expenditure on Employee Benefits
i Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is
received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end
of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carryforward leave into the following period.
ii Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The Scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed
under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. It is not possible for the NHS Foundation
Trust to identify its share of the underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it
were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in the Scheme is taken as equal
to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period. The total employer contribution payable
in the year ended 31 March 2011 was £29,082,355 (31 March 2010: £27,213,101).

Employers pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the
retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating
expenses at the time the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
1.7 Expenditure on other goods and services

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is
measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses
except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.
1.8 Property, Plant and Equipment
i Recognition
Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where:
• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes
• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust
• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably
and
• individually have a cost of at least £5,000
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• collectively have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous
disposal dates and are under single managerial control
• form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit irrespective of their individual
or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset
lives e.g. plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their
own useful economic lives.
ii Measurement
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
All assets are measured subsequently at fair value.
All land and buildings are restated to fair value using professional valuations in accordance with FRS15 every five
years. A three year interim revaluation is also carried out.
Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual. The last asset valuations were undertaken in 2011 as at the
prospective valuation date of 31 March 2011.

The valuations are carried out primarily on the basis of Depreciated Replacement Cost for specialised operational
property (e.g. NHS patient treatement facilities) and Existing Use Value for non-specialised operational property.
The value of land for existing use purposes is assessed at Existing Use Value. For non-operational properties
including surplus land, the valuations are carried out at Market Value.
The Department of Health has agreed it will now adopt the Modern Equivalent Asset approach (MEA) for its DRC
valuations rather than continuing with identical replacement.

The MEA approach used to value the property will normally be based on the cost of a modern equivalent asset that
has the same service potential as the existing asset and then adjusted to take account of obsolescence. In the
past, functional obsolescence has not been reflected in asset valuations for the NHS.
Functional obsolescence examines a building’s design or specification and whether it may no longer fulfil the
function for which it was originally designed or whether it may be much more basic than the MEA. The asset will
still be capable of use but at a lower level of efficiency than the modern equivalent asset, or may be capable of
modification to bring it up to a current specification. Other common causes of functional obsolescence include
advances in technology or legislative change. The obsolescence adjustment will reflect either the cost of
upgrading, or if this is not possible, the financial consequences of the reduced efficiency compared with the
modern equivalent.
The MEA approach incorporates the Building Cost Information Service Index to determine an increase or decrease
in building costs which impact on the asset valuation.
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment in periods if events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. The costs arising from financing the
construction of the property, plant and equipment are not capitalised but are charged to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income in the year to which they relate.
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Additional alternative Open Market Value figures have only been supplied for operational assets scheduled for
imminent closure and subsequent disposal.
The revaluation resulted in an increase of £18k in the value of land owned by the Trust and an overall increase
to buildings and dwellings net book value of £4.549m.
A decrease in value of certain buildings resulted in an impairment of £1.788m being charged to the Statement
of Comprehensive Income (see Note 6.2). These buildings included Units 3 & 7 King's Business Park (£726k),
65/67 Coldharbour Lane (£542k), the Energy Centre (£117k), Hambeldon Wing (£140k) and Units1,2 & 6
King's Business Park (£263k).
All impairments resulting from price changes are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. If the
balance on the revaluation reserve is less than the impairment the difference is taken to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
Assets in the course of construction are valued at cost and are valued by professional valuers when brought
into use.
The valuation included the Trusts PFI scheme (note 16)
Operational equipment other than IT equipment, which is considered to have nil inflation, is valued at net
current replacement cost through annual uplift by the change in the value of the GDP deflator. Equipment
surplus to requirements is valued at net recoverable amount.
Subsequent Expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in
the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service
potential deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and
the cost of the item can be determined reliably.

Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria
for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is derecognised. Other expenditure that does
not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.
Depreciation
Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful economic lives in a
manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered
to have an infinite life and is not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated from the start of the month following
the month in which the asset first became available for use.
Property, Plant and Equipment which has been reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ ceases to be depreciated upon
the reclassification. Assets in the course of construction and residual interests in off-Statement of Financial
Position PFI contract assets are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use or reverts to the trust,
respectively.
Property, Plant and Equipment in the course of construction and residual interests in off-Statement of
Financial Position PFI contract assets are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use or reverts to the
Trust, respectively.

Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on their current value over the estimated remaining life of
the asset as advised by the District Valuer. Leaseholds are depreciated over the primary lease term.
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Equipment is depreciated on current cost evenly over the useful economic life of the asset. Standard useful
economic lives are estimated for each major category of equipment and individual lives will only be applied
where it is clear that the standard lives are materially inappropriate. The major categories and their useful
economic lives are:
• Short life engineering plant and equipment - 5 years
• Medium life engineering plant and equipment - 10 years
• Long life engineering plant and equipment - 15 years
• Vehicles - 7 years
• Furniture - 10 years
• Office and IT equipment - 5 years
• Soft furnishings - 7 years
• Short life medical and other equipment - 5 years
• Medium life medical equipment - 10 years
• Long life medical equipment - 15 years
• Mainframe-type IT installations - 8 years
Revaluation gains and losses
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse
a revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are
recognised in operating income.
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for
the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
Impairments
In accordance with the FT ARM, impairments that are due to a loss of economic benefits or service potential
in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve
to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to
operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the
impairment.

An impairment arising from a loss of economic benefit or service potential is reversed when, and to the extent
that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating income to
the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never
been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the
original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve,
an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as
revaluation gains.
iii De-recognition

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria are met:
• the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and
customary for such sales;
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• the sale must be highly probable i.e.:
• management are committed to a plan to sell the asset
• an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale
• the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price
• the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘Held for Sale’
• the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant
changes made to it.
Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair
value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale
contract conditions have been met.
Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘Held for
Sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s economic life is adjusted. The asset is derecognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.
iv Donated assets
Donated fixed assets are capitalised at their current value on receipt and this value is credited to the Donated
Asset Reserve. Donated fixed assets are valued and depreciated as described above for purchased assets.
Gains and losses on revaluations are also taken to the Donated Asset Reserve and, each year, an amount equal
to the depreciation charge on the asset is released from the Donated Asset Reserve to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. Similarly, any impairment on donated assets charged to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income is matched by a transfer from the Donated Asset Reserve. On sale of donated assets, the
net book value of the donated asset is transferred from the Donated Asset Reserve to the Income and Expenditure
Reserve.
v Government grants

Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from Primary Care Trusts or NHS
trusts for the provision of services. Grants from the Department of Health, including those for achieving three star
status, are accounted for as Government grants, as are grants from the Big Lottery Fund. Where the Government
grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match that
expenditure. Where the grant is used to fund capital expenditure the grant is held as deferred income and released
to operating income over the life of the asset on a basis consistent with the depreciation charge for that asset.
vi Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions
PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM Treasury’s
FReM, are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by the Trust. The underlying assets are
recognised as Property, Plant and Equipment at their fair value. An equivalent financial liability is recognised in
accordance with IAS 17.

The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost and the
charges for the services. The finance cost is calculated using the implicit interest rate for the scheme.
The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Phase 1 of the PFI scheme, the construction and management of a new clinical wing, was the 'Golden Jubilee
Wing', and this building was made available to the Trust in September 2002. Phase II of the PFI scheme was the
refurbishment of the Ruskin Wing, and this wing became operational on 1st May 2004.
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The total PFI scheme is subject to a finance lease and is deemed to be 'on-Statement of Financial Position'. The
capital element of the lease has been recorded as a tangible fixed asset for which depreciation will be charged to
the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the life of the asset. A payable was raised for the capitalised
amount representing the fair value of the asset at inception of the lease. The finance charge element of the lease
payments is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the period of the lease.
Lifecycle replacement
Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) are capitalised
where they meet the Trust’s criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the time they are provided by
the operator and are measured initially at their fair value.

The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for each year of
the contract from the operator’s planned programme of lifecycle replacement. Where the lifecycle component is
provided earlier or later than expected, a short-term finance lease liability or prepayment is recognised respectively.

Where the fair value of the lifecycle component is less than the amount determined in the contract, the difference
is recognised as an expense when the replacement is provided. If the fair value is greater than the amount
determined in the contract, the difference is treated as a ‘free’ asset and a deferred income balance is recognised.
The deferred income is released to the operating income over the shorter of the remaining contract period or the
useful economic life of the replacement component.
Assets contributed by the Trust to the operator for use in the scheme
Assets contributed for use in the scheme continue to be recognised as items of property, plant and equipment in
the Trust’s Statement of Financial Position.
Other assets contributed by the Trust to the operator
Assets contributed (e.g. cash payments, surplus property) by the trust to the operator before the asset is brought
into use, which are intended to defray the operator’s capital costs, are recognised initially as prepayments during
the construction phase of the contract. Subsequently, when the asset is made available to the Trust, the
prepayment is treated as an initial payment towards the finance lease liability and is set against the carrying value
of the liability.
1.9 Intangible fixed assets
i Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately
from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only
where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust and
where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, and where the cost is at least £5,000.
Internally generated intangible assets
Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not
capitalised as intangible assets.
Expenditure on research is not capitalised.
Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of the following can be demonstrated:
• the project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an intangible asset for sale or use
• the Trust intends to complete the asset and sell or use it
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• the Trust has the ability to sell or use the asset
• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service delivery benefits e.g. the
presence of a market for it or its output, or where it is to be used for internal use, the usefulness of the asset
• adequate financial, technical and other resources are available to the Trust to complete the development
and sell or use the asset
• the Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during development.
Software
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the
relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware
e.g. application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.
ii Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create,
produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Revaluations gains and losses and impairments
are treated in the same manner as for Property, Plant and Equipment.
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to
sell’.
iii Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.
1.10 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured
using the First In First Out (FIFO) method. This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to current
cost due to the high turnover of stocks.
1.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not
more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of
acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in
value. These balances exclude monies held in the NHS Foundation Trust's bank account belonging to
patients (see third party assets below). Account balances are only set off where a formal agreement has been
made with the bank to do so. In all other cases overdrafts are disclosed within payables. Interest earned on
bank accounts and interest charged on overdrafts is recorded as, respectively, interest receivable and interest
payable in the periods to which they relate. Bank charges are recorded as operating expenditure in the
periods to which they relate.
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1.12 Financial Instruments and Financial Liabilities
i Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial
items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase,
sale or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. when
receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are
recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described above.
All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.
ii De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cashflows from the assets have expired or
the Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
iii Classification and Measurement
Financial assets are categorised as Loans and receivables or ‘Available-for-sale financial assets’.
Financial liabilities are classified as 'Fair Value through Income and Expenditure' or as 'Other Financial
liabilities'.
iv Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments with are not
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets.
The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise: cash at bank and in hand, NHS debtors, accrued income and
‘other debtors’.

Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are measured
subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that
discounts exactly estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
v Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets which are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in long-term assets unless the
Trust intends to dispose of them within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
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Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, including transaction costs, and measured
subsequently at fair value, with gains or losses recognised in reserves and reported in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income as an item of 'other comprehensive income'. When items classified as ‘available-for-sale’
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in reserves are included in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income.
vi Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that
discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of
Financial Position date, which are classified as long-term liabilities.
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and
charged to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
vii Determination of fair value
For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value, the carrying amounts are determined using
discounted cash flow analysis.
viii Impairment of financial assets
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held
at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’ is impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are
recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cashflows of the
asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the
asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of a bad debt provision.
The carrying amount of the financial assets is reduced when the outstanding debt is greater than 6 months and
payment has not been agreed with the respective debtor. Due to the complexities of Private Patient debt recovery
the reduction in these debts is based on outstanding debts greater than 1 year where payment has not been
agreed with the respective debtor.
1.13 Leases
i Finance Leases

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the NHS Foundation Trust,
the asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at
which both are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease
payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.
The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset is accounted for an
item of property plant and equipment.
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The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a constant
rate of finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income. The lease liability, is de-recognised when the liability is discharged,
cancelled or expires.
ii Operating Leases
Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating expenses on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease
rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.
iii Leases of land and buildings
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and
the classification for each is assessed separately.
1.14 Provisions

The NHS Foundation Trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of
uncertain timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other
resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of
Financial Position is the best estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of
the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using HM
Treasury’s discount rate of 2.2% in real terms, except for early retirement provisions and injury benefit
provisions which both use the HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of 2.9% in real terms.
i Clinical negligence costs

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the NHS Trust pays an
annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the
NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the NHS
Foundation Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the
NHS Foundation Trust is disclosed at note 18 but is not recognised in the NHS Foundation Trust's accounts.
ii Non-clinical risk pooling
The NHS Foundation Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties
Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the NHS Foundation Trust pays an annual contribution
to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The
annual membership contributions, and any 'excesses' payable in respect of particular claims are charged to
operating expenses as and when the liability arises.
1.15 Contingencies
Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or
more future events not wholly within the entity's control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed in
Note 23 where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in Note 23, unless the probability of a transfer of
economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as:
• possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity's control
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• present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic
benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
1.16 Public Dividend Capital (PDC)
Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity based on the excess of assets over liabilities at
the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS Trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a
financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS Foundation Trust, is payable as public dividend
capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average
relevant net assets of the NHS Foundation Trust during the financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated
as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated assets, (ii) net cash balances
held with the Government Banking Services (GBS), excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate
to a short-term working capital facility, and (iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable. In
accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend
for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the ‘pre-audit’ version of the
annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a
result the audit of the annual accounts.
1.17 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the NHS Foundation Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax
does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant
expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is
charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.18 Corporation Tax

The Finance Act 2004 amended S519A Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 provided power to the
Treasury to make certain non-core activities of Foundation Trusts potentially subject to corporation tax. This
legislation is effective from September 12 2005. Any outstanding payments of corporation tax as at the end of
the financial year are provided for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
The Foundation Trust did not incur Corporation Tax in 2010/11.
1.19 Foreign Exchange
The Trust's functional currency and presentational currency is sterling.
A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the spot
exchange rate on the date of the transaction.
Where the Trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the Statement of Financial
Position date:
• monetary items (other than financial instruments measured at 'fair value through income and expenditure')
are translated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March
• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are translated using the spot exchange rate
at the date of the transaction; and
• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange rate at
the date the fair value was determined.
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Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-translation at
the Statement of Financial Position date) are recognised in income or expense in the period in which they
arise.
Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the same manner as other
gains and losses on these items.
1.20 Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the
accounts since the NHS Foundation Trust has no beneficial interest in them. However, third party assets are
disclosed in Note 26 to the accounts in accordance with the requirements of the HM Treasury Financial
Reporting Manual.
1.21 Losses and Special Payments

Losses and Special Payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds
for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They
are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are
divided into different categories, which govern the way each individual case is handled. Losses and Special
Payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in the expenditure on an accruals basis, including
losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS Foundation Trusts not been
bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations
register which reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.
1.22 Segmental Analysis

King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has only one business segment being the provision of
healthcare. The Trust does provide Research and Development and Training and Education services within
the healthcare sector. They do not have a material impact and therefore do not require separate reporting.
Note 2 entitled "Other Operating Income" includes the relevant income figures for these services.
The Trust also generated income from its King's subsidiary commercial company of £162k, against
expenditure of £303k, a net deficit of £141k.
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2. OPERATING INCOME
2.1 Income from Activities by classification

Elective income

2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000

90,906

86,459

105,869

103,451

Outpatient income

84,324

84,346

A & E income

12,574

11,575

195,844

187,080

12,548

14,529

502,065

487,440

9,060

5,386

46,763

47,108

1,015

1,094

Non elective income

Other NHS clinical income *
Private patient income
Total income from activities
Other operating income
Research and development
Education and training
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure
Transfer from donated asset reserve in respect of depreciation on donated
assets

545

553

Non-patient care services to other bodies

13,972

15,000

Other **

10,627

9,432

109

0

Profit on disposal of land and buildings

1,811

0

Total other operating income

Profit on disposal of other tangible fixed assets

83,902

78,573

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME

585,967

566,013

* Other NHS clinical income includes HIV/AIDS funding, NCG funding for Liver services, Bone Marrow Transplant funding,
Critical Care funding from PCTs including consortia PCT leads, Off-tariff drugs and devices, Renal Dialysis, Direct Access,
Community Midwifery, Community Dental services, National Screening programmes,
RTA funding and IVF services.

** Other income includes NHS Provider-to-provider Services, Clinical Excellence Awards, Staff Nursery, Car Parking,
Accommodation and Commercial Rents.
Income received for NHS seconded staff is included in Non-patient care serves to other bodies.

2.2 Private patient income
Private patient income
Total patient related income
Proportion (as percentage)

2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000

12,548

14,529

502,065

487,440

2.50%

3.19%

Section 44 of the 2006 Act requires that the proportion of private patient income to the total patient related income of the
NHS Foundation Trust should not exceed 3.5 per cent, its proportion when the organisation was an NHS Trust in 2002/03.
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2.3 Income from Activities by type

2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000

Income from activities
NHS Foundation Trusts

423

1,089

NHS Trusts

848

1,209

29,693

27,634

451,682

437,111

0

0

Strategic Health Authorities
Primary Care Trusts
Local Authorities
Department of Health - grants

0

0

Department of Health - other

0

1,009

2,924

2,995

12,548

14,529

720

411

NHS injury scheme *

1,654

1,120

Non NHS: Other **

1,573

333

502,065

487,440

NHS Other
Non NHS: Private patients
Non-NHS: Overseas patients (non-reciprocal)

Total income form activities

* NHS Injury Scheme income is subject to a provision for doubtful debts of 9.6% to reflect expected rates of
collection. The total outstanding claims against this scheme at 31 March 2011 were £4.117m, and a provision of
£395k was raised against this amount.
** Non-NHS other income includes patient care provided to devolved administrations, personal contributions for
IVF treatment and services to prisons.
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3. OPERATING EXPENSES
3.1 Operating Expenses comprise:

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts

2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000

1,197

616

Services from NHS Trusts

1,275

2,028

Services from other NHS Bodies

2,495

5,421

Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies
Employee Expenses - Executive directors
Employee Expenses - Non-executive directors
Employee Expenses - Staff

548

1,092

1,527

1,441

131

140

337,995

334,133

Drug costs

61,754

58,752

Supplies and services - clinical

63,082

50,590

Supplies and services - general

2,028

2,667

Establishment

4,159

4,570

Research and development

0

0

Transport

4,606

5,762

Premises

19,636

21,532

1,060

632

0

0

12,879

12,804

860

670

Increase / (decrease) in bad debt provision
Other impairment of financial assets
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation on intangible assets

1,788

4,319

Impairments of intangible assets

Impairments of property, plant and equipment

0

0

Reversal of impairments of property, plant and equipment

0

0

Reversal of impairments of intangible assets
Audit fees - Statutory Audit
Other auditors remuneration - other services
Clinical negligence
Loss on disposal of other property, plant and equiment
Redundancy costs

0

0

103

81

1

16

6,779

6,156

89

119

1,164

0

Other

42,039

36,945

TOTAL

567,195

550,486

* Other Auditors remuneration was the cost for the Trust's participation in National Fraud Initiative 2010/11.

* Other operating expenses includes expenditure on PFI service costs, leasing costs, training and legal
fees.
Research and Development costs have been included in the categories above.
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3.2 Operating Leases
3.2.1 Opreating expenses include:

2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000

Hire of plant and machinery

5,635

5,266

Operating lease rentals for land and buildings

2,007

2,859

TOTAL

7,642

8,125

3.2.2 Arrangements containing an operating lease:
Land and buildings
Future minimum lease payments due:

Other Leases

2010/2011

2009/2010

2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

- not later than one year;

0

0

1,838

261

- later than one year and not later than five years;

210

264

3,686

4,932

- later than five years.

239

237

69

1,131

449

501

5,593

6,324

TOTAL

3.3 Better Payment Practice Code - measure of compliance
2010/2011
Number
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total Non NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target

2009/2010

£'000

Number

£'000

111,853

235,489

123,610

259,304

67,255

185,436

68,824

183,052

60%

79%

56%

71%

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year

3,149

62,602

3,163

62,841

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target

1,250

49,762

1,174

45,109

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target

40%

79%

37%

72%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Foundation Trust to aim to pay all undisputed invoices by the due date or within 30 days of
receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later.

3.4 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

Interest Payable arising from claims made under this legislation
Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation

Page 193

2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000
0

0

10
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3.5 Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers
A) Remuneration

Salary
Name

2010/2011
Other
Remuneration

(bands of £5000) (bands of £5000)

Title

Benefits in Kind

Salary

2009/2010
Other
Remuneration

Benefits in Kind

Rounded to the

(bands of £5000)

(bands of £5000)

Rounded to the

£'000

£'000

nearest £100

£'000

£'000

nearest £100

Chariman and Non-Executive Directors
M. Parker

Chairman

55 - 60

0

0

55 - 60

0

0

M. James

Non-Executive Director

10 - 15

0

0

10 - 15

0

0

R. Foster

Non-Executive Director

10 - 15

0

0

10 - 15

0

0

A. McGregor

Non-Executive Director

10 - 15

110 - 115

0

10 - 15

95 - 100

0

G. Alberti

Non-Executive Director

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

0

M. West *

Non-Executive Director

15 - 20

0

0

10 - 15

0

0

M. Meryon **

Non-Executive Director

10 - 15

0

0

10 - 15

0

0

R. Donaghy

Non-Executive Director

0

0

0

5 - 10

0

0

Sir J. Michael

Non-Executive Director

0

0

0

5 - 10

0

0

Executive Directors
T. Smart

Chief Executive

220 - 225

0

0

225 - 230

0

0

R. Sinker

Executive Director of Operations

145 - 150

0

0

110 - 115

0

0

G. Walters

Executive Director of Nursing & Midwifery

135 -140

0

0

75 - 80

0

0

M. Marrinan

Executive Medical Director

55 - 60

150 - 155

0

35 - 40

0

0

S. Taylor

Director of Finance & ISD

160 - 165

5 - 10

0

165 - 170

10 - 15

0

A. Huxham

Executive Director of Workforce Development

115 - 120

0

0

105 - 110

0

0

J. Moxham

Director of Medicine

0

0

0

30 - 35

100 - 105

0

J. Watson***

Acting Director of Operations

0

0

0

25 - 30

0

0

M. Lorman***

Acting Director of Human Resources

0

0

0

5 - 10

0

0

P. Townsend***

Acting Director of Nursing

0

0

0

35 - 40

0

0

Co-opted members of the Trust's Board
A. Toumadj

Director of Facilities

145 - 150

0

0

140-145

0

0

J. Walters

Director of Corporate Affairs

95 - 100

0

0

100-105

0

0

J. West

Director of Strategy

125 - 130

0

0

20-25

0

0

Z. Lelliott***

Acting Director of Strategic Development

0

0

0

80 - 85

0

0

M. Meryon

Non-Executive Director

01 August 2010 - 31 March 2011

G. Alberti

Non-Executive Director

01 October 2010 - 31 March 2011

* M. West's role as Non-Executive Director is charged to the Trust through his employing organisation.
** M. Meryon has waived his fee.
*** See below for Acting Director dates
J. Watson

Acting Director of Operations

01 April 2009 - 05 July 2009

M. Lorman

Acting Director of Human Resources

01 April 2009 - 03 May 2009

P. Townsend

Acting Director of Nursing

01 April 2009 - 06 September 2009

Z. Lelliott

Acting Director of Strategic Development

01 April 2009 - 31 January 2010
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3.5 Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers
B) Pension Benefits
This pensions information is provided by the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division on an annual basis.

Name

Title

Real Increase in
pension at age 60
(bands of £2,500)

Real Increase in
pension lump
sum at age 60
(bands of £2,500)

Total accrued
pension at age 60
at 31 March 2011
(bands of £5,000)

Lump sum at age
60 at 31 March
2011 (bands of
£5,000)

Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value at
31 March 2011

Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value at
31 March 2010

Real increase in
Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

28
(15)
(8)
(25)
(73)
14

Executive Directors
T. Smart

Chief Executive

2.5 - 5.0

0.0

5 - 10

0.0

97

66

S. Taylor

Director of Finance & ISD

5.0 - 7.5

15.0 - 17.5

50 -55

150 - 155

822

805

A. Huxham

Executive Director of Workforce Development

0.0 - 2.5

5.0 - 7.5

35 - 40

115 - 120

892

865

G. Walters

Executive Director of Nursing & Midwifery

2.0 - 2.5

5.0 - 7.5

40 - 45

130 - 135

867

M. Marrinan

Executive Medical Director

(0.0) - (2.5)

(2.5) - (5.0)

20 - 25

60 - 65

877
437

R.Sinker

Executive Director of Operations

0.0 - 2.5

0.0

0-5

0.0

31

16

490

Co-opted members of the Trusts Board
A. Toumadj

Director of Facilities

J. Walters

Director of Corporate Affairs

J.West

Director of Strategy

2.5 - 5.0

7.5 - 10

50 - 55

155 - 160

0

0

(0.0) - (2.5)

(0.0) - (2.5)

30 - 35

100 - 105

793

809

0.0 - 2.5

0.0

0-5

0.0

14

0

0
(48)
14

R. Sinker, J. West and T. Smart are new pension scheme members and have no accrued lump sum.
As Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Non-Executive members.

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and
any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme,
not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has
transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are
calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
The real increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any
benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.

Page 195

King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Accounts 2010/2011
4 Employee Expenses
4.1 Staff Costs
Permanently
Employed
£'000
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employers contributions to NHS Pensions
Pension Cost - other contributions
Agency and contract staff
TOTAL

Other

2010/2011
Total

2009/2010
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

280,170

0

280,170

271,957

21,756

0

21,756

20,644

29,082

0

29,082

27,213

690

0

690

716
15,044

0

8,988

8,988

331,698

8,988

340,686

335,574

2010/2011
Total

2009/2010
Total

Number

Number

4.2 Average number of persons employed

Medical and dental

1,141

1,142

Administration and estates

1,400

1,518

Healthcare assistants and other support staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff

541

613

2,155

2,142

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners

10

6

1,168

1,328

Social care staff

7

3

Other

6

6

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff

TOTAL

4.3 Management costs

Management costs

6,428

6,758

2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000

28,680

Income

585,967

4.89%

Management costs as a percentage

26,309
566,009
4.65%

Management
costs
are
defined
as
those
on
the
management
costs
website
at
www.dh.gov.uk/PolicyAndGuidance/OrganisationPolicy/FinanceAndPlanning/NHSManagementCosts/fs/en.. The general rule is that if a
post falls within the Board or Corporate functions, the salary cost of all staff must be included. Only the most senior manager must be
included within clinical and operational or support functions. These costs are also applied to contracted out services and management
consultancy services.

4.4 Early retirements due to ill health
During the year to 31 March 2011 there were 3 (2009/10: 2) early retirements from the NHS Trust on the grounds of ill-health. The
estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be £227,302 (2009/10: £110,493). The cost of these ill-health
retirements will be borne by NHS Pensions.

These retirements represented 0.48 (2009/10: 0.31) per 1000 active scheme members.
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5. Finance income

2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000

Interest on loans and receivables
Interest on held-to-maturity financial assets
Available for sale financial assets and liabilities held at fair value
through income and expenditure account
- fair value gains
- fair value losses

36

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

71

66

107

66

2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000

Interest received on cash deposits

6. Finance Costs
6.1 Interest expense

Loans from the Foundation Trust Financing Facility

665

575

0

0

Commercial loans
Overdrafts

0

7

43

43

0

0

Main Finance Costs

7,637

7,691

Contingent Finance Costs

1,266

925

9,611

9,241

2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000

Finance leases
Other
Finance Costs in PFI obligations

6.2 Impairment of assets

Changes in market price

6.3 Share of operating loss in associate

GSTS Pathology LLP
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1,788

4,319

1,788

4,319

2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000

(217)

0

(217)

0
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7. Intangible assets

7.1 Intangible assets 2010/2011
Gross cost at 1 April 2010

Software
licences

Development
expenditure

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

3,040

670

3,710

Revaluation surpluses

0

17

17

Additions - purchased

813

0

813

Additions - donated

0

Reclassifications

0

(102)

Disposals

0

(400)

Gross cost at 31 March 2011

3,351

Amortisation at 1 April 2010
Provided during the year

4,038

1,558

532

2,090

720

140

860

Revaluation surpluses

(2)

0

(2)

0

13

13

0

(394)

(394)

Amortisation at 31 March 2011

(400)

687

Reclassifications
Disposals

0

0
(102)

1,882

685

2,567

1,469

2

1,471

0

0

0

1,469

2

1,471

Net book value
Purchased at 31 March 2011
Donated at 31 March 2011
Total at 31 March 2011

The implementation cost of the Activity Based Costing (ABC) project completed in 2006/07 was capitalised
under SSAP 13 as Research and Development costs. ABC was been introduced as a result of the
implementation of Payments by Results using the National Tariff.

7.2 Intangible assets 2009/2010
Gross cost at 1 April 2009

Software
licences

Development
expenditure

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

1,767

653

2,420

Revaluation surpluses

0

17

17

Additions - purchased

1,273

0

1,273

0

0

0

Gross cost at 31 March 2010

Additions - donated

3,040

670

3,710

Amortisation at 1 April 2009

1,025

385

1,410

533

137

670

Provided during the year
Revaluation surpluses
Amortisation at 31 March 2010

0

10

10

1,558

532

2,090

1,482

138

1,620

Net book value
Purchased at 31 March 2010
Donated at 31 March 2010
Total at 31 March 2010
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8. Property, plant and equipment
8.1 Property, plant and equipment at 31 March 2011 comprise the following elements:

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2010

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

Assets under
Construction

Plant &
Machinery

Information
Technology

Furniture &
Fittings

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

51,318

231,025

3,666

29,340

42,621

18,609

1,047

377,626

Additions - purchased

0

1,078

0

12,401

2,200

1,210

17

16,906

Additions - donated

0

0

450

862

0

22

1,332

0

0

0

0

(1,809)

102

0

0

102

1,052

0

26

(869)

Impairments charged to revaluation reserve

(2)

(155)

(1,415)

Reclassifications

300

22,389

0

Revaluation surpluses

173

(2,074)

(46)

Disposals
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2011

(743)

(986)

50,893

250,015

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2010

(239)

(22,689)
0

(713)

(18)

(2,759)

(198)

(1)

(5,418)

2,668

19,484

44,078

19,621

1,111

387,870

0

2,026

0

0

22,063

15,986

305

40,380

Provided during the year

0

8,506

130

0

3,318

824

101

12,879

Impairments recognised in operating expenses

0

1,788

0

0

0

0

0

1,788

Reclassifications

0

0

0

0

2

0

0

Revaluation surpluses

0

0

541

0

7

Disposals

(10,006)

(105)

(31)

0

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2011

(85)

(1)

2
(9,563)

(25)

0

(1,705)

0

2,283

0

0

24,219

16,725

412

43,639

(1,847)

247,196

Net book value
Owned at 31 March 2011

48,843

157,539

2,499

16,610

18,159

2,873

673

Finance Lease at 31 March 2011

0

0

0

0

105

0

0

105

PFI at 31 March 2011

0

78,575

0

180

0

0

0

78,755

Donated at 31 March 2011
Total at 31 March 2011

2,050

11,618

169

2,694

1,595

23

26

18,175

50,893

247,732

2,668

19,484

19,859

2,896

699

344,231

8.2 Analysis of property, plant and equipment

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

Assets under
Construction

Plant &
Machinery

Information
Technology

Furniture &
Fittings

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Net book value
Protected assets at 31 March 2011

50,893

243,715

2,668

0

4,017

0

19,484

19,859

2,896

699

46,955

50,893

247,732

2,668

19,484

19,859

2,896

699

344,231

Unprotected assets at 31 March 2011
Total at 31 March 2011

297,276

Of the totals at 31 March 2011, £nil (31 March 2010: £nil) related to dwellings valued at open market value.
8.3 Property, plant and equipment at 31 March 2010 comprise the following elements:

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2009
Additions - purchased
Additions - donated
Impairments charged to revaluation reserve
Reclassifications
Revaluation surpluses
Disposals
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2010
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2009

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

Assets under
Construction

Plant &
Machinery

Information
Technology

Furniture &
Fittings

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

48,390

243,629

3,536

12,245

38,539

17,286

688

364,313

2,909

1,495

0

27,776

6,562

1,361

342

40,445

0

303

0

1,220

321

0

0

1,844

0

0

0

0

(16,595)

(397)

(16,143)

(55)

358

11,224

319

58

(9,483)

(134)

(11,901)
0

0

0

0

948

0

18

(3,749)

(38)

(1)

0
(8,593)

0

0

0

0

51,318

231,025

3,666

29,340

42,621

18,609

1,047

377,626

(3,788)

0

1,727

0

0

20,061

15,143

86

37,017

Provided during the year

0

8,395

201

0

3,271

851

0

12,718

Impairments recognised in operating expenses

0

4,292

27

0

0

0

0

4,319

Reclassifications

0

0

0

0

0

0

5

Revaluation surpluses

0

0

488

0

0

Disposals
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2010

(12,388)

(228)

(8)

5
(12,128)

0

0

0

0

(1,757)

0

(1,765)

0

2,026

0

0

22,063

15,986

91

40,166

240,556

Net book value
Owned at 31 March 2010

49,185

139,307

3,114

26,944

18,684

2,583

739

Finance Lease at 31 March 2010

0

0

0

0

1,064

0

0

1,064

PFI at 31 March 2010

0

78,248

0

0

0

0

0

78,248

Donated at 31 March 2010
Total at 31 March 2010

2,133

11,444

552

2,396

810

40

3

17,378

51,318

228,999

3,666

29,340

20,558

2,623

742

337,246
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8. Property, plant and equipment 2009/2010
8.4 Analysis of property, plant and equipment

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

Assets under
Construction

Plant &
Machinery

Information
Technology

Furniture &
Fittings

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Net book value
Protected assets at 31 March 2010

51,318

225,016

3,666

0

3,983

0

29,340

20,558

2,623

742

57,246

51,318

228,999

3,666

29,340

20,558

2,623

742

337,246

Unprotected assets at 31 March 2010
Total at 31 March 2010

280,000

9. Investments in associates and joint ventures
The NHS Foundation Trust's principal subsidiary undertakings, associates and joint ventures as included in the consolidation at 31 March 2011 are set out below. The
accounting date of the financial statements for the subsidiaries is 31 March 2011 and for the associate, 31 December 2010. For the associate undertaking that has a different
accounting year end date, interim accounts to 31 March 2011 have been consolidated.
Country of
Incorporation

Beneficial
Interest

Principal
Activity

Subsidiary undertakings
KCH Commercial Services Ltd
Agnentis Ltd *
KCH Management Ltd *

UK
UK
UK

100%
100%
100%

Holding Company
Other software consultancy and supply
Healthcare Services

Associates
GSTS Pathology LLP *

UK

33.3%

Healthcare Services

* Not directly owned by the NHS Foundation Trust

9.1 Investment in associate - GSTS Pathology LLP

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

Carrying Value at 1 April
Acquisitions in year
Share of profit/(loss)
Carrying Value at 31 March

0

0

1,111

0

(217)
894

9.2 Amounts relating to associate - GSTS Pathology LLP

0
0

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

Non current assets

5,133

Current assets

8,813

0

Non current liabilities

(4,058)

0

Current Liabilities

(9,807)

0

Group share net assets/(liabilities)

0

81

Revenue
Expenditure
Group share net loss

0

7,070

0

(7,287)

0

(217)

0

As per accounting policy note 1.4, the group accounts for the associate above on an equity basis.

10. Inventories

Materials

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

11,181

11,243

Work in progress

0

0

Finished goods

0

0

11,181

11,243

TOTAL INVENTORIES
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11. Trade receivables and other receivables
31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

Current trade and other receivables
NHS Receivables
Other receivables with related parties
Provision for impaired receivables

17,736

16,058

2,229

100

(3,302)

(2,860)

Prepayments

3,046

3,194

Accrued income
PDC receivable

1,952

8,139

Other receivables
TOTAL CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

0

66

16,085

13,642

37,746

38,339

1,977

2,333

0

0

Non-Current trade and other receivables
NHS Receivables
Other receivables with related parties
Provision for impaired receivables

0

0

Prepayments

0

0

Accrued income

0

0

5,605

2,441

7,582

4,774

Other receivables
TOTAL NON CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The NHS Debtor falling due after more than one year (and £125,160 included NHS debtors falling due within
one year) reflect agreements with commissioners to cover creditors for early retirements and their related
unwinding of discount.
Non-current other receivables include an amount of £2.631m which relates to a loan to the associate - GSTS
Pathology LLP.

11.2 Provision for impairment of receivables

At 1 April
Increase in provision
Amounts utilised
Unused amounts reversed
At 31 March

2010/2011

2009/2010

£'000

£'000

2,860

2,533

2,174

921

(618)

(305)

(1,114)

(289)

3,302
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11.3 Analysis of impaired receivables

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

Ageing of impaired receivables
Up to three months

0

In three to six months
Over six months
Total

0

0

0

3,302

2,860

3,302

2,860

26,914

35,168

3,509

1,333

Ageing of non-impaired receivables past their due date
Up to three months
In three to six months
Over six months
Total

14,905

6,612

45,328

43,113

12. Trade and other payables
31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

Current trade and other payables
Receipts in advance

5,734

1,511

NHS payables

9,174

5,681

Amounts due to other related parties

0

0

1,454

1,448

13,236

7,929

Taxes payable

7,364

6,892

Other payables

6,670

6,112

14,672

16,453

64

0

58,368

46,026

0

0

Trade payables - capital
Other trade payables

Accruals
PDC payable
TOTAL CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

TOTAL NON-CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

13. Other liabilities

Current other liabilities
Deferred Income
Deferred Government Grant
TOTAL OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL OTHER NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
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2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

3,591

2,981

147

205

3,738

3,186

0

0
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14. Borrowings
31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

Current borrowings
Bank overdrafts

0

0

0

0

1,012

1,012

Drawdown in committed facility
Loans from Foundation Trust Financing Facility
Other Loans

89

38

Obligations under finance leases

124

124

Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts

668

608

1,893

1,782

12,877

13,888

TOTAL CURRENT BORROWINGS
Non-current borrowings
Loans from Foundation Trust Financing Facility
Other Loans

223

118

0

124

77,121

77,789

90,221

91,919

Obligations under finance leases
Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts
TOTAL OTHER NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

15. Finance lease obligations

Gross lease liabilities

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

167

334

of which liabilities are due
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.
Finance charges allocated to future periods
Net lease liabilities

167

167

0

167

0

0

(43)

(86)

124

248

of which liabilities are due
- not later than one year;

124

124

- later than one year and not later than five years;

0

124

- later than five years.

0

0
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16. PFI obligations on Statement of Financial Position

Gross PFI liabilities

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

222,630

230,875

8,246

8,246

of which liabilities are due
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.
Finance charges allocated to future periods
Net PFI liabilities

32,982

32,982

181,402

189,647

(144,841)

(152,478)

77,789

78,397

668

608

3,388

3,087

73,733

74,702

of which liabilities are due
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.

16.2 Commitments in respect of the service element of the PFI

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

Within one year

20,723

19,754

2nd to 5th years (inclusive)

93,992

89,861

Later than five years
Total

1,033,751

969,585

1,148,466

1,079,200

As part of the total scheme, HpC assumed responsibility for the provision of site-wide catering, domestic and portering
services from April 2000. These costs were included within the revenue operating expenses of the Trust. The
commitments above include an inflationary increase of 5.09% based on the rate used for 2011/12.
The project enables the centralisation of acute services in new and refurbished buildings on the Denmark Hill site
following the transfer of services from Dulwich Hospital and Mapother House. The construction and provision of sitewide catering, domestic and portering services will be undertaken by Hpc (King's College Hospital) Plc. The project is
being financed by means of a wrapped, index linked bond guaranteed by MBIA-AMBAC and debt and equity capital
provided by Costain, Skanska, Sodexho and Edison Capital. The contract period is 38 years including the construction
phase. Annual payments by the Trust will be dependent on availability and service quality standards being met by the
contract.
Phase 1 of the PFI scheme, the construction and management of a new clinical wing, was the 'Golden Jubilee Wing',
and this building was made available to the Trust in September 2002.
Phase II of the PFI scheme was the refurbishment of the existing Ruskin Wing.
£'000
Net book value of the PFI scheme

78,755
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17. Prudential borrowing limit
The NHS Foundation Trust is required to comply and remain within a prudential borrowing limit.
This is made up of two elements:
i the maximum cumulative amount of long-term borrowing that enables the NHSFT to remain within the limit set by
Monitor.
A Tier 1 Limit is set by Monitor for NHSFTs based on their annual plans and in accordance with the ratios below. This limit
applies for the whole year, subject only to material changes in the financial position of the NHSFT during the year.
A Tier 2 Limit is available, in appropriate circumstances, to accommodate affordable 'major investments' including PFI schemes.
When an NHSFT is planning a transaction that would exceed its Tier 1 Limit, it is required to submit a request to Monitor for a
Tier 2 Limit, which, if approved, will replace the Tier 1 Limit. The Tier 2 limit will be subject to a maximum cap, determined through
the ratio tests used in setting the Tier 1 limit, but with the thresholds shown below.
Tier 1 PBC Tier 2 Cap
Ratio
Ratio
Thresholds Thresholds

Actual Ratio
2010/11

Actual Ratio
2009/10

Minimum dividend cover

2.76

2.60

>1x

>1x

Minimum interest cover

3.23

3.02

>3x

>2x

Minimum debt service cover

2.74

2.57

>2x

>1.5x

2.00%

1.98%

<2.5%

<10%

Financial Ratio

Maximum debt service to revenue

ii the amount of any working capital facility approved by Monitor.
The limit on the Working Capital Facility is set annually by Monitor, although variations can be requested within the year by an
NHSFT or proposed by Monitor. The size of the facility will vary according to individual circumstances of each NHSFT. The
Working Capital Facility is available, up to its own limit, for for short-term cash flow management.

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

114,900

108,000

35,000

25,000

149,900

133,000

Long term borrowing at 1 April

93,701

100,741

Net actual borrowing/(repayment) in year - long term

(1,587)

(7,040)

92,114

93,701

Total long term borrowing limit set by Monitor
Working capital facility agreed by Monitor
TOTAL PRUDENTIAL BORROWING LIMIT

Long term borrowing at 31 March
Working capital borrowing at 1 April

0

0

Net actual borrowing/(repayment) in year - working capital

0

0

0

0

Working capital borrowing at 31 March

Further information on the NHS Foundation Trust Prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance Framework can be found on the
website of Monitor, the Independent Regulator of Foundation Trusts.
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18. Provisions for liabilities and charges
Pensions
relating to
other staff

Legal claims

Other

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

At 1 April 2010

8,784

Change in the discount rate

(764)

Arising during the year

0

Utilised during the year

(687)

Reversed unused

0

Unwinding of discount
At 31 March 2011

152

71

0

0

78

1,355

(26)

(71)

9,007
(764)
1,433
(784)

(50)

0

(50)

178

0

0

178

7,511

154

1,355

9,020

Expected timing of cashflows:
not later than one year

704

154

1,355

2,213

later than one year and not later than five years

2,816

0

0

2,816

later than five years

3,991

0

0

3,991

7,511

154

1,355

9,020

Total

Clinical Negligence
£54,060,670 is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority at 31 March 2011 in respect of clinical negligence
liabilities of the trust. The NHS Litigation Authority is carrying provisions with a value of £NIL in relation to ELS and £54,060,670 in
relation to CNST for King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. The ELS (Existing Liabilities Scheme) was superceded by the
CNST (Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts).
Pensions
The measure of the Trust's pension liability for early retired staff was recalculated in 2001/02. The NHS Pension Agency
capitalisation tables for the NHS Pension Scheme were used to determine the full liability rather than using the average retirement
age of the employees minus average current cost of these employees.
Legal Claims
The provision is based upon information provided by the NHS Litigation Authority and refers to non-clinical claims against the Trust
(e.g. Public and Employers Liability cases)
Other
The Foundation Trust has provided £1.355m for Staff Redundancy payments (£1.164m) and for retrospective remuneration for
Neurology consultants on-call (£191k).
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19. Revaluation reserve
31 March
2011

31 March
2010

Revaluation
Reserve intangibles

Revaluation
Reserve property, plant
and equipment

Total
Revaluation
Reserve

Total
Revaluation
Reserve

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Revaluation reserve at 1 April

44

81,070

81,114

91,776

Impairments

0

(1,739)

(1,739)

(13,786)

Revaluations

4

8,272

8,276

3,441

Asset disposals
Fair Value gains/(losses) on Available-for-sale financial
investments
Recycling gains/(losses) on Available-for-sale financial
investments

0

(1,354)

(1,354)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Other recognised gains and losses

0

0

0

0

Other reserve movements

0

0

0

0

48

86,249

86,297

81,114

Revaluation reserve at 31 March

(317)

20. Cash and cash equivalents
31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

At 1 April
Net change in year
At 31 March
Broken down into:
Cash at commercial banks and in hand
Cash with the Government Banking Service
TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

12,838

33,886

9,857

(21,048)

22,695

12,838

13,925

8,586

8,771

4,252

22,696

12,838

21. Contractual capital commitments
Commitments under capital expenditure contracts at 31 March 2011 were £3.551million (31 March 2010: £10.033m).
These contracts comprise the completion of the Clinical Research Facility Infill Block 3 (£2.880m),the New Energy Centre (£209k) and the Energy
Saving Scheme (£15k), Unit 6 Coldharbour Lane (£239k), Victoria and Albert Ward Drainage Works (£44k) and the Waddington Ward
Refurbishment (£164k).
It is anticipated that all these projects will be completed in the next financial year.

22. Events after the reporting period
There are no post Statement of Financial Position events having a material effect on the accounts. (31 March 2010: there were no post Statement of
Financial Position events having a material effect on the accounts.)
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23. Contingent (Liabilities) / Assets

Contingent liabilities

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

(76)

(63)

0

0

(76)

(63)

Amounts recoverable against contingent liabilities
Net value of contingent liabilities

The above contingencies refer to non-clinical legal claims, dealt with by the NHS Litigation Authority on behalf of the
Trust.

In common with many other Trusts, it is possible that other claims could arise in the future due to incidents which have
already occurred. The future expenditure which may arise from such incidents cannot be determined until such time as a
claim is formally made.

24. Related Party Transactions
King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of State for
Health.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year King's College Hospital NHS Trust has had a
significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for which the Department is
regarded as the parent Department.
The main local commissioners are Lambeth PCT, Southwark PCT and Lewisham PCT. Additionally the Trust has
transacted with a large number of other PCTs and NHS Trusts as well as the NHS Litigation Authority and NHS
Purchasing and Supply Agency. The Trust has also received revenue and capital payments from a number of charitable
funds, principally the King's College Hospital Charitable Trust.

Value of transactions/balances (other than salary) with
related parties in 2010/11

Income

Department of Health
Other NHS Bodies

£'000

Expenditure Receivables
£'000

£'000

Payables
£'000

3,017

1

48

0

553,564

29,256

20,128

12,871

Charitable Funds

3,510

17

411

0

GSTS Pathology LLP Associate

9,543

16,513

1,818

0

In addition, the Trust has had a number of material transactions with other Government Departments and other central
and local Government bodies. There were also many transactions with King's College London in respect of education,
training and research and development.
During the year none of the Board Members, the Foundation Trust's Governers, members of the key management staff
or parties related to them has undertaken any material transactions with King's College Hospital NHS Trust.
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25. Financial Instruments

IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in
undertaking its activities. The Trust does not have any complex financial instruments and does not hold or issue financial instruments for speculative
trading purposes. Because of the continuing service provider relationship that the NHS Foundation Trust has with Primary Care Trusts and the way
those Primary Care Trusts are financed, the NHS Foundation Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.

Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which these
standards mainly apply. The NHS Foundation Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are
generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the NHS Foundation Trust in undertaking its activities.
The Foundation Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the
Foundation Trust’s Standing Financial Instructions and policies agreed by the Board of Directors. Foundation Trust treasury activity is subject to
review by the Trust’s internal auditors.
Liquidity risk

The Foundation Trust’s net operating costs are incurred under annual service agreements with Primary Care Trusts, which are financed from
resources voted annually by Parliament. The Foundation Trust also largely finances its capital expenditure from funds made available from
Government under an agreed borrowing limit. King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
Interest-Rate Risk
62% of the Foundation Trust's financial assets and 100% of its financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest. King's College Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant interest-rate risk. The two tables belwo show the interest rate profiles of the Foundation
Trust's financial assets and liabilities.
Currency Risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and Sterling based. The
Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
Credit Risk
Because the majority of the Trust’s income comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust has low exposure to credit risk. The
maximum exposures as at 31 March 2011 are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the Trade receivables and other receivables note (Note
11).

25.1 Financial Assets
Fixed rate

Currency

Total

Floating rate

Fixed rate

Non-interest
bearing

Weighted
average
interest rate

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

%

Non-interest
Weighted
average
bearing
period for
weighted
which fixed average term
Years

Years

At 31 March 2011
Sterling

59,180

22,696

2,101

34,383

Gross financial assets

59,180

22,696

2,101

34,383

Sterling

47,466

12,838

2,451

32,177

Gross financial assets

47,466

12,838

2,451

32,177

0.6% unlimited

0

0.7% unlimited

0

At 31 March 2010

25.2 Financial Liabilities
Fixed rate

Currency

Total

Floating rate

Fixed rate

Non-interest
bearing

Weighted
average
interest rate

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

%

Weighted
Non-interest
average
bearing
weighted
period for
which fixed average term
Years

Years

At 31 March 2011
Sterling

146,404

0

101,134

45,270

Gross financial liabilities

146,404

0

101,134

45,270

4.8% unlimited

0

3.8% unlimited

0

At 31 March 2010
Sterling

140,331

0

102,708

37,623

Gross financial liabilities

140,331

0

102,708

37,623
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25.3 Foreign currency risk
The Trust has no/negligible foreign currency income or expenditure.
25.4 Financial instruments by category

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents)

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

£'000

£'000

59,180

47,466

0

0

59,180

47,466

146,404

140,331

0

0

146,404

140,331

Assets at fair value through the I&E

Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Liabilities at fair value through the I&E

25.5 Fair values of financial instruments at 31 March 2011

Financial assets
Non current trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets
Other Investments
Other
Total

Book Value

Fair value

£'000

£'000

2,101

2,101

0

0

25,327

25,327

27,428

27,428

Basis of fair
valuation

Note a

Financial Liabilities
Non current trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities

0

0

Note b

9,020

9,020

Note b

Loans

14,201

14,201

Other

77,913

21,430

101,134

44,651

Provisions under contract

Total

Notes
a. These recievables reflect agreements with commissioners to cover payables over 1 year for early retirements and provisions
under contract, and their related interest charge/unwinding of discount. In line with note b, below, fair value is not significantly
different from book value.
b. Fair value is not significantly different from book value since, in the calculation of book value, the expected cash flows have
been discounted by the Treasury discount rate of 2.2% in real terms.
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26. Third Party Assets
The Trust held £14,530 cash at bank and in hand at 31 March 2011 (£6,483 at 31 March 2010) which relates to monies held
by the NHS Trust on behalf of patients. This has been excluded from cash at bank and in hand figure reported in the
accounts.
27. Losses and Special Payments
There were 436 cases of losses and special payments (157 cases in 2009/10) totalling £653,661 (£388,164 in 2009/10) paid
during the year ending 31 March 2011.

28. Corporation Tax
31 March
2011
£'000
UK Corporation tax expense
Adjustments in respect of prior years
Total income tax expense in Statement of Comprehensive Income
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31 March
2010
£'000

0
0

0
0

0

0

